THE ROLE OF LIPOPROTEINS ON SELECTED FUNCTIONS RELEVANT TO ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE IN HUMAN BRAIN PERIVASCULAR CELLS

by

Sonja Kar Yee Soo

B.Sc., The University of British Columbia, 2014

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

(NEUROSCIENCE)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

June 2018

© Sonja Kar Yee Soo, 2018

The following individuals certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies for acceptance, a thesis/dissertation entitled:

The role of lipoproteins on selected functions relevant to Alzheimer's Disease in human brain

perivascular cells

submitted by	Sonja Kar Yee Soo	in partial fulfillment of the requirements for
the degree of	Master of Science	
in	Neuroscience	

Examining Committee:

Cheryl Wellington, Pathology and Laboratory Medicine

Supervisor (Dr. Cheryl Wellington)

Haakon Nygaard, Neurology

Supervisory Committee Member

Weihong Song, Psychiatry

Additional Examiner (Dr. Weihong Song)

Abstract

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease that affects millions of people world-wide. It is characterized by amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles in the brain. Many AD patients also show loss of cerebrovascular integrity, which is thought to lead to decreased capillary flow, neuronal injury and impaired clearance of amyloid beta. Since apolipoprotein E (apoE) and high density lipoprotein (HDL) show many beneficial effects in the vasculature in the body, we aimed to test the effects of these lipoproteins on primary human perivascular cells in the brain. We found that pharmacologically increasing apoE levels with GW3965 in a scratch-wound assay was not associated with changes in pericyte migration. Interestingly, we found that Axl inhibitor A1 slowed pericyte migration without showing changes in secreted apoE levels, suggesting an apoE-independent pathway for pericyte migration. We also tested whether HDL can attenuate the CypA-NFkB-MMP9 inflammatory pathway associated with apoE4 pericytes, but failed to observe the activation of this inflammatory pathway in our pericytes. Lastly, we found that when macrophages were treated with HDL, A β phagocytosis was not changed. Moreover, there were donor differences in the inflammatory response of macrophages to $A\beta$, making consistent observations difficult. Taken together, we did not show beneficial effects of lipoproteins on perivascular cell function in the context of AD.

Lay Summary

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) is a neurodegenerative disorder that is characterized by build-up of a protein called amyloid beta in the brain, which is thought to cause damage. We aim to test the beneficial effects of lipoproteins apolipoprotein E (apoE) and high density lipoprotein (HDL) on cells that surround the blood vessels in the brain since they are shown to be beneficial to blood vessels in the body. This is especially important because in AD, inflammation in these blood vessels cause damage to the protective barrier in the brain. Moreover, migration of these cells away from this barrier makes it vulnerable to damage. We found that increasing apoE levels do not affect migration of cells that surround the barrier, and that HDL does not increase clearance of amyloid beta by immune cells. These results suggest that these lipoproteins do not provide beneficial effects for these specific cells and their functions.

Preface

All experiments were conceived by Sonja Soo, Jerome Robert, and Cheryl Wellington. All data collection and analysis was performed by Sonja Soo, under the guidance of Dr. Jerome Robert, with the exception of Figures 2.2 and 2.3, which were collected and analyzed by Dr. Jianjia Fan; and Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2, which were collected and analyzed with the help of Guilaine Boyce.

All apoE-modulating compounds in Chapter 2 were provided by AstraZeneca.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iii
Lay Summ	naryiv
Preface	v
Table of C	ontents vi
List of Fig	ures xi
List of Abl	breviations xiii
Acknowled	lgementsxviii
Dedication	ı xix
Chapter 1:	: Introduction1
1.1 A	Alzheimer's Disease (AD) 1
1.1.1	AD: Symptoms, progression, epidemiology1
1.1.2	Mild Cognitive Impairment
1.1.3	Brain changes associated with AD
1.1.4	Treatment for AD
1.1.5	The Amyloid Hypothesis
1.1.6	Clearance of $A\beta$
1.2 C	Cerebrovascular contributions to AD
1.2.1	The Two-Hit Hypothesis7
1.3 T	The Blood Brain Barrier (BBB)
1.3.1	Clearance of Aβ across the BBB9
1.3.2	BBB changes in AD
	V1

1.4 Pericytes	10
1.4.1 Pericytes and immune function	11
1.4.2 Pericytes in the brain and contributions to the BBB	11
1.4.3 Pericytes and AD	12
1.5 Brain resident myeloid cells	13
1.5.1 Perivascular macrophages	14
1.5.2 Macrophages and AD	16
1.6 Apolipoprotein E (ApoE)	17
1.6.1 Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) as a risk factor for AD	18
1.6.2 ApoE and Aβ metabolism in AD pathology	18
1.6.3 Other effects of apoE on AD pathology	21
1.7 High Density Lipoprotein (HDL)	22
1.7.1 HDL functions	22
1.7.2 HDL and the vasculature	23
1.7.3 Association between HDL and AD dementia	24
1.8 TREM2	25
1.8.1 TREM2 and AD pathology	26
1.8.2 TREM2 and lipoproteins	28
1.9 Objective	29
1.10 Aims	29
1.11 Hypothesis	29
Chapter 2: ApoE-modulating drugs on pericyte function	31
2.1 Introduction	31
	vii

2.2	Methods
2.2.	1 Cell culture
2.2.	2 Scratch-Wound Assay
2.2.	3 ApoE ELISA
2.2.	4 Statistical Analysis
2.3	Results
2.3.	Pericytes from all 3 donors produce apoE
2.3.	2 HP2 pericytes respond to apoE-modulating compounds
2.3.	3 HP1 pericytes show slower migration with A1 treatment
2.3.	4 HP2 pericyte migration is not affected by GW3965, P1, P2 or A1 treatment
2.3.	5 HP3 pericytes show slower migration with A1 treatment, but not with GW3965, P1,
or P	2 treatment
2.3.	6 ApoE secretion is not increased in pericytes treated with A1 after scratch-wound
assa	y 45
2.3.	7 Pericytes treated with apoE-modulating compounds do not show increased apoE
secr	etion at start of scratch-wound assay
2.3.	8 Pericytes from the 3 different donors have different baseline migration
2.4	Discussion
Chapter	3: ApoE4-associated inflammation in pericytes
3.1	Introduction
3.2	Methods
3.2.	1 Cell Culture
3.2.	2 Gelatin Zymography
	viii

3.2.3	mRNA extraction and quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)
	58
3.2.4	Protein extraction and Immunoblotting
3.2.5	Immunocytochemistry
3.2.6	Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)
3.2.7	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMC) isolation
3.3 R	esults
3.3.1	MMP9 protein activity or mRNA were not detected in primary human pericytes 61
3.3.2	Cyclophilin A (CypA) mRNA levels are not changed with TNF α stimulation 64
3.3.3	HP1 shows upregulation of inflammatory markers ICAM and VCAM-1 with $\text{TNF}\alpha$
stimul	ation
3.3.4	Pericytes were validated for pericyte marker PDGFRB
3.4 D	Discussion
Chapter 4:	The role of HDL in TREM2-mediated functions in macrophages71
4.1 Iı	ntroduction
4.2 N	1ethods
4.2.1	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell (PBMC) Isolation
4.2.2	Monocyte enrichment and macrophage differentiation
4.2.3	Phagocytosis assay and flow cytometry
4.2.4	Immunocytochemistry (ICC)
4.2.5	Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR)
4.3 R	esults
4.3.1	Monocyte-derived macrophages are characteristic of macrophages
	ix

4.3.2	Monocyte-derived macrophages take up FITC-Aβ42	77
4.3.3	HDL has no effect on monocyte-derived macrophage uptake of FITC-Aβ42	79
4.3.4	Aβ-induced inflammation varies between donors	80
4.4 D	Piscussion	81
Chapter 5:	Conclusion	85
5.1 L	imitations	92
Bibliograp	hy	94

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 The two-hit vascular hypothesis for AD	8
Figure 1.2 Perivascular macrophages in the perivascular space14	4
Figure 1.3 TREM2 signaling pathways	б
Figure 2.1 Pericytes from each pericyte donor produce apoE	5
Figure 2.2 HP2 pericytes respond to apoE-modulating drugs	б
Figure 2.3 Pericytes from all donors show trend towards increasing ApoE secretion with	
treatment with apoE-modulating compounds	7
Figure 2.4 HP1 pericytes show slower migration with A1 treatment but not with GW3965, P1 or	
P2 treatment	9
Figure 2.5 HP1 pericytes treated with A1 requires more time to reach 50% relative wound	
density	0
Figure 2.6 HP2 pericyte migration is not changed with GW3965, P1, P2 or A1 treatment	1
Figure 2.7 HP2 pericyte migration is similar between treatment groups in their time to reach 50%	ó
relative wound density and maximum relative wound density42	2
Figure 2.8 HP3 pericyte migration is not changed with treatment with apoE-modulating drugs 4.	3
Figure 2.9 Four Parameter Logisitic Curve Fitting of HP3 pericyte migration curves	4
Figure 2.10 Pericytes treated with A1 do not show an increase in apoE secretion after scratch-	
wound assay	5
Figure 2.11 ApoE levels are not changed with GW3965, P1, P2 or A1 treatment	б
Figure 2.12 Baseline migration rates differ between HP2 and HP3 44	8
Figure 2.13 HP2 pericytes require more time to reach 50% relative wound density compared to	
HP3 pericytes 44	9

Figure 3.1 MMP9 activity was not detected in HP1 pericytes with TNF α or apoE4 stimulation 61
Figure 3.2 MMP9 activity was not detected in HP2 or HP3 pericytes with TNF α or apoE4
stimulation
Figure 3.3 Pericytes from all donors do not express MMP9 mRNA
Figure 3.4 Pericytes from all donors do not upregulate CypA levels with TNFa stimulation 64
Figure 3.5 HP1 pericytes show upregulation of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 with TNF α stimulation
Figure 3.6 Pericytes from all 3 donors express PDGFRβ
Figure 4.1 Monocyte-derived macrophages were morphologically characteristic of macrophages
Figure 4.2 Monocyte-derived macrophages stain positive for macrophage markers CD14, CD11b
and TREM2
Figure 4.3 Monocyte-derived macrophages uptake FITC-Aβ42
Figure 4.4 FITC-A β 42 taken up by monocyte-derived macrophages are localized within cells . 78
Figure 4.5 HDL pre-treatment of monocyte-derived macrophages has no effect on uptake of
FITC-Aβ42
Figure 4.6 Both HDL treatment and A β 42 stimulation of monocyte-derived macrophages showed
inconsistent effects amongst donors

List of Abbreviations

Αβ	Amyloid beta
ABCA1	ATP-binding cassette protein 1
AD	Alzheimer's Disease
AJ	adherens junctions
ANOVA	analysis of variance
apoA-I	apolipoprotein A-I
apoE	apolipoprotein E
APP	Amyloid Precursor Protein
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BBB	blood brain barrier
BCA	bicinchoninic acid
BLI	bio layer interferometry
BM	basement membrane
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CAA	cerebral amyloid angiopathy
CCR2	C-C chemokine receptor type 2
CETP	cholesteryl ester transfer protein
CBF	cerebral blood flow
cDNA	complimentary deoxynucleic acid
CNS	central nervous system
CSF	cerebral spinal fluid
СурА	cyclophilin A

DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
ECM	extracellular matrix
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMT	epithelial mesenchymal transition
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FDG	fluorodeoxyglucose
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
fMRI	Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
G-CSF	granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
GFP	green fluorescent protein
GLUT1	glucose transporter 1
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
HDL	high density lipoprotein
HDL-C	high density lipoprotein cholesterol
Iba-1	ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1
ICAM-1	intracellular adhesion molecule 1
IDL	intermediate density lipoprotein
IgG	immunoglobin G
IL-1β	interleukin 1β
IL-6	interleukin 6
IL-9	interleukin 9

IL-10	interleukin 10
IL-12	interleukin 12
ISF	interstitial fluid
ITAM	immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
LRP1	lipoprotein-related protein 1
LTP	long-term potentiation
LXR	liver X receptor
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCI	Mild Cognitive Impairment
M-CSF	macrophage colony stimulating factor
MGM	meningeal macrophages
MMP-2	matrix metalloproteinase 2
MMP-9	matrix metalloproteinase 9
MMSE	Mini Mental State Examination
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NFT	Neurofibrillary tangles
NO	nitric oxide
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBMC	peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PDGFRβ	platelet derived growth factor beta
PET	positron emission tomography

PFA	paraformaldehyde
PI3K	phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PiB	Pittsburgh Compound B
PICALM	phosphatidylinositol binding clathrin assembly
PVM	perivascular macrophages
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride
RAGE	receptor for advanced glycation end products
RCF	relative centrifugal force
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RXR	retinoid X receptor
sAXL	soluble AXL
SD	standard deviation
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel
SREPB-11	sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1
SR-B1	scavenger receptor class B member 1
sLRP	soluble LRP1
TBI	traumatic brain injury
TEER	trans-endothelial cell electrical resistance
TIMP	tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases
ΤΝFα	tumor necrosis factor α
TLR	toll-like receptors
TLR-4	toll-like receptor 4
TJ	tight junctions

TR	targeted replacement
TREM2	triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2
VaD	vascular dementia
VCAM-1	vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
VLDL	very low density lipoproteins
VLDLR	very low density lipoprotein receptor
WGA	wheat germ agglutinin

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Cheryl Wellington. Your passion for science and your rigorous approach to research will always inspire me to be a better scientist. Thank you for always challenging me to grow, for giving me all the support I need, and for giving me every opportunity to explore my ideas.

Thank you also to my committee members Dr. Haakon Nygaard and Dr. Jacqueline Quandt. I am grateful for your guidance and feedback as I worked through my projects.

This work could not have been possible without public funding from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada, the Alzheimer's Society of Canada, and the Canadian Consortium on Neurodegeneration in Aging.

My sincerest thanks to all members of the Wellington Lab, especially Dr. Jerome Robert. I am very lucky for your guidance, patience, and optimism all throughout my time here. I would also like to thank my HDL family Emily Button, Guilaine Boyce and Megan Gilmour for their technical support as well as their moral support; and my desk mate Dr. Tom Cheng, for always listening to my problems, and always having answers to my endless questions.

To Dr. Fergil Mills – thank you for your mentorship when I first started this adventure and for showing me what it means to be an extraordinary scientist and person. I will always strive to be more like you.

To my friends – my fellow scientists, housemates, runners, climbers – thank you for the support throughout my studies. I could not have done this without you.

Lastly, to my family – Mom, Dad, Kevin, Shana – thank you for your unconditional love and support. I love you.

Dedication

To my family.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Alzheimer's Disease (AD)

1.1.1 AD: Symptoms, progression, epidemiology

As we age, we experience changes not only to our bodies, but also to our brains. We may notice our cognitive abilities declining; faces, names and places become harder to remember and recall. This age-related cognitive decline occurs as part of the normal aging process. However, for a certain population of aging adults, learning and memory is more severely impaired than normal, such that everyday functions are impaired. The umbrella term "dementia" is used to describe the set of symptoms that relate to severe cognitive decline, which can be due to many diseases and disorders. The symptoms of dementia are difficulties with memory, language, problem-solving and other cognitive functions that impair daily living. The most common form of dementia is Alzheimer's Disease (AD), named after the German psychiatrist Dr. Alois Alzheimer who was the first to characterize the distinct aggregations of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles that together comprise the neuropathological hallmarks of AD in the early 1900's.

Today, AD is the most common neurodegenerative disorder and affects over 47 million people worldwide. AD is believed to account for 60 - 80% of overall dementia cases¹. Early symptoms of AD are often memory loss, which includes difficulty remembering names, events and conversations. Planning and solving problems become more difficult as well; AD patients may have difficulty with keep track of finances, counting change and concentrating on tasks. Problems also arise with words when speaking and writing. AD patients often exhibit decreased or poor judgment. These changes are believed to be due to neuronal death in the brain areas

involved in cognition. Mood and personality changes can also occur; a person with AD may have confusion, suspicion, anxiety and depression. Finally, when neurons from other parts of the brain start to degenerate, late-stage symptoms appear, which include difficulty speaking, swallowing and walking. In this stage of the disease, constant care and assistance with daily basic tasks are required. Moreover, since these patients have difficulty with mobility, they become more vulnerable to infections like pneumonia, and since they have difficulty swallowing, they are more prone to dehydration and malnutrition. AD is thus a fatal disease that has caused many deaths worldwide. In Canada from 2004 to 2011, there were over 80,000 AD-related deaths, which made up 4.3% of deaths during that period².

As a fatal, irreversible disease that progresses in its degeneration, AD affects a significant proportion of the population and has no effective cure. There is thus a tremendous emotional and economic burden on society. It is thus important to understand the etiology and pathogenesis of this disease, in order to find ways to prevent and treat the disease.

1.1.2 Mild Cognitive Impairment

The path leading up to AD symptoms is preceded by a stage called Mild Cognitive Impairment $(MCI)^3$. In this stage, the individual has mild cognitive deficits as seen in AD, but these deficits do not interfere with daily living. Individuals with MCI may not necessarily develop AD, but are more likely to develop AD or other dementias⁴. Studies report a progression rate from MCI to dementia to be 20 - 40%⁵.

1.1.3 Brain changes associated with AD

Neuroimaging tools such as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) have shown that brain matter atrophy in AD happens first in medial temporal lobe⁶, starting from the entorhinal cortex and eventually spreading to the hippocampus, amygdala and parahippocampus^{7,8}, which are areas of the brain that are involved in memory and cognition. More specifically, atrophy is seen predominately in grey matter, which consists of cell bodies of the neurons and glial cells, as well as synapses and dendrites. As the disease progresses, degeneration spreads to the parietal lobe as well as the frontal lobe⁹, areas involved in visuospatial abilities and executive functions, respectively. Early studies using functional MRI (fMRI) to study AD patients find consistently decreased hippocampal activity during memory encoding tasks^{10,11}. Some studies also report increased activity in the prefrontal cortex^{12–14}, suggesting a compensatory mechanism for deficits in hippocampal functions.

1.1.4 Treatment for AD

Despite decades of research on AD, there is no effective cure. Currently, there are 6 drugs approved by the U. S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of AD, though these pharmacological agents are only able to temporarily improve symptoms but do not slow down or stop the disease. There are also non-pharmacological treatments available such as memory training programs, music therapy, exercise, and sleep-targeted therapies. These therapies aim to maintain and improve cognition and quality of life, and may also serve to decrease behavioural symptoms such as depression and apathy. Of the numerous nonpharmacological approaches evaluated, aerobic exercise and a combination of aerobic and nonaerobic exercise seem to be associated with slower rate of cognitive decline and improvement of

symptoms¹⁵. Interventions focusing on cognitive stimulation have also been reported to be effective¹⁶. These cognitive stimulation therapies include Reality Orientation, which presents orienting information such as time, place and people.

1.1.5 The Amyloid Hypothesis

How AD starts and progresses and how it relates to the accumulation of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) remain unanswered to this day. The first clue into AD pathology started with Dr. Alois Alzheimer's examination of a brain afflicted with AD. His histological description of what is now known as amyloid plaques was believed for a long time to contribute to the development of AD. Amyloid plaques are formed from aggregations of amyloid beta (A β) peptides. A β is not a product made specifically during AD pathogenesis, but is produced constitutively in brains of healthy subjects. A β is produced under normal physiological circumstances through successive cleavage of the transmembrane protein amyloid precursor protein (APP) by β - and γ - secretases¹⁷. Aggregation of A β results in formation of dimers, trimers and oligomers. Eventually fibrils and plaques form, which give AD brains their characteristic neuropathological hallmarks.

Several interesting observations suggest that A β accumulation contributes to the pathology of the disease. Firstly, patients with a mutation in the APP gene, which influences the production of A β , are more likely to develop familial AD¹⁸. Secondly, genetic variants in the APP gene that reduces A β production protects against AD pathogenesis and reduces risk of developing AD¹⁹. Lastly, A β oligomers are shown to be toxic to neuronal cultures, and inhibited hippocampal long-term potentiation²⁰. Taken together, these findings support the "amyloid

hypothesis", which posits that $A\beta$ accumulation triggers a sequence of events that eventually lead to AD dementia.

However, despite long-held beliefs that amyloid plaques were the main culprit in AD pathogenesis, it was shown that they did not correlate well with synaptic loss, neuronal death or cognitive dysfunction in AD patients²¹. Amyloid plaques can also be present in individuals with normal cognitive abilities²². Rather, evidence points towards the soluble, oligomeric form of A β as the more detrimental characteristic of this disease²³. Indeed, early studies found that soluble A β oligomers are toxic to neuronal cultures, inhibit hippocampal long-term potentiation (LTP)²⁰, contribute to memory impairments²⁴ and correlate with severity of neurodegeneration in brains of AD patients²⁵.

Only a relatively small number of AD patients (< 2%) are familial, early-onset cases, in which there is an overproduction of A β in the brain due to mutations in the APP gene or presenilin genes ^{26,27}. Rather, most cases are sporadic and late-onset, marked by disruptions in A β clearance rather than overproduction, which was demonstrated through metabolic labeling of AD patients²⁸.

1.1.6 Clearance of Aβ

Several distinct mechanisms mediate $A\beta$ clearance. One such clearance mechanism is through enzyme-mediated degradation^{29,30}. Many $A\beta$ -degrading enzymes have been identified, belonging to various protein classes such as zinc metalloendopeptidase, serine proteases, cysteine proteases³¹. $A\beta$ is also cleared from the brain through phagocytotic uptake and degradation by microglia^{32,33}. Another clearance pathway is transport across the blood brain barrier (BBB) ^{34–36}. Scavenger receptors such as lipoprotein-related protein 1 (LRP1) and

scavenger receptor class B member 1 (SR-B1) expressed on astrocytes and endothelial cells are found to bind and internalize A β to be transported into the blood ³⁷.

1.2 Cerebrovascular contributions to AD

Many epidemiological studies find the association between risk factors for cardiovascular diseases and late-onset AD^{38,39}. Vascular conditions such as cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, obesity, and stroke have been observed to be comorbid in AD patients^{40–42}. Indeed, most AD cases exhibit vascular pathologies⁴³, and it is believed vascular diseases play a role in AD pathogenesis^{44,45}.

Post-mortem studies also show vascular abnormalities such as tortuous vessels and reduced microvascular density in AD brain tissues⁴⁶. BBB breakdown is also observed, in which blood-derived proteins accumulate in the hippocampus and cortex, which is coupled with degeneration of pericytes, muscular cells that are highly abundant in brain capillaries^{47–50}. Microbleeds and iron accumulation are also observed⁵¹. AD patients also exhibit degenerating pericytes that are characterized by their abnormal mitochondria, large lipid granules, and pinocytic vessels⁴⁶.

Other studies have found reduced glucose utilization in the cerebrovasculature of AD patients. Glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) is decreased in cerebral microvessels in AD brains⁵². Moreover, individuals that later develop AD already show reduced glucose utilization in the hippocampus as measured by fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-Positron Emission Tomography (PET)⁵³.

Clinical studies also show reduced cerebral blood flow (CBF) in AD patients, with the severity of CBF reduction correlating with AD severity^{54–56}. These CBF changes have been

detected before symptoms of cognitive decline, neuronal degeneration and amyloid accumulation appear ^{57–59}.

Deposition of $A\beta$ in the walls of the cerebrovasculature may be driving the degeneration of vessels seen in AD. Indeed, cerebral amyloid angiopathy (CAA), which is characterized by amyloid deposits in the brain vessels, is prevalent in 80 – 90% of AD cases^{60,61}. CAA leads to vascular injuries such ischemic lesions, hemorrhages, and impaired CBF⁶². Vascular dementia (VaD) also causes vascular injuries such as hemorrhagic injuries and hypoperfusion which directly leads to cognitive impairment⁶³. VaD and AD share many overlapping features in terms of their risk factors⁶⁴ and clinical presentation⁶⁵. It is thus possible that vascular dysfunction interacts with other neurodegenerative pathways to promote dementia.

1.2.1 The Two-Hit Hypothesis

The association between cerebral vascular pathology and AD led to the idea that vascular damage may be contributing to the AD pathogenesis. According to the "Two Hit Hypothesis", vascular changes combined with accumulating A β contribute to the development of AD⁶⁶. In this paradigm, Hit 1 consists of vascular damage involving brain hypoperfusion and/or blood brain barrier dysfunction. This can be due to cerebrovascular disorders (such as ischemia and stroke) and/or vascular risk factors (such as hypertension, diabetes). These vascular changes leads to increased A β levels (Hit 2), which may be due to faulty clearance across the BBB and/or increased A β production by APP. Elevated A β levels are neurotoxic and cause subsequent damage such as neuronal dysfunction and neuronal loss, culminating in dementia.



Figure 1.1 The two-hit vascular hypothesis for AD

The two-hit vascular hypothesis for AD posits that cerebrovascular damage (Hit 1) initiates neuronal injury and neurodegeneration, but can also promote A β accumulation in the brain (Hit 2). Figure reprinted with permission⁶⁶.

1.3 The Blood Brain Barrier (BBB)

The BBB is a specialized endothelial cell membrane that line the cerebrovasculature and functions to regulate entry of blood plasma components into the brain parenchyma and export waste from the brain to the blood⁶⁷. Moreover, the BBB allows for delivery of crucial energy metabolites and nutrients to the brain. The endothelial barrier is enriched in tight junctions (TJ) and adherens junctions (AJ) that aid in reducing the permeability of the intracellular space⁶⁸. TJs of the brain endothelial consists of integral membrane proteins such as occludin, claudin and

junctional adhesion molecules⁶⁹. These TJs are not only involved in intercellular contacts but are also in contact with scaffolding proteins in the cytoplasm such as zonula occludens proteins and actin cytoskeleton⁶⁹.

1.3.1 Clearance of Aβ across the BBB

Transvascular clearance through the BBB accounts for 70 – 85% of A β cleared from the brain^{70–72}. LRP1 is the primary receptor that mediates transcytosis of A β across the BBB, and is mostly found on the abluminal side of the BBB^{70,72,73}. A β binds to LRP1 on the endothelial cells and is internalized by phosphatidylinositol binding clathrin assembly (PICALM)⁷⁴. PICALM mediates PICALM/clathrin-dependent endocytosis and guides trafficking of the endocytic vesicle containing A β towards exocytosis⁷⁴. Soluble LRP1 (sLRP1) is also known to bind and sequester free A β 40 and A β 42 and transport them via the blood to the liver and kidney⁷⁵.

1.3.2 BBB changes in AD

Various post-mortem studies find BBB breakdown in AD patients. In early studies, BBB breakdown in AD was histologically observed by the accumulation of blood-derived proteins such as immunoglobin G (IgG), fibrinogen, thrombin and plasminogen in the hippocampus and cortex^{47,48,76}. More modern neuroimaging studies also detect microbleeds through MRI^{51,77}, which can even be observed in the preclinical AD stage⁷⁸.

Leakage of serum proteins into the brain due to BBB dysfunction can have detrimental effects. Presence of immunoglobin and albumin in the brain parenchyma can cause brain edema and decreased blood capillary flow, while thrombin can lead to neurotoxicity and memory impairment⁷⁹. Elevated fibrin levels can accelerate neurovascular damage⁸⁰, and plasmin can

accelerate degradation of laminin and subsequently cause neuronal death⁸¹. This leakage in the BBB is believed to lead to decreased capillary blood flow, neuronal injury, and impaired A β clearance, ultimately contributing to AD pathology⁶⁶.

Changes to BBB receptors and function are also observed. In aging and in AD, LRP1 is decreased in the brain endothelial cells⁸² as well as in cerebral vascular smooth muscle cells⁸³. This decrease in LRP1 expression is associated with increased A β in the brain, since there are fewer receptors to aid its clearance⁸². Moreover, oxidation of cell surface LRP1 and soluble LRP1 prevents its binding of A β and subsequently decreases A β clearance from the brain⁸⁴. Receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE), in contrast, is a receptor that mediates A β influx from the blood to the brain⁸⁵. Normally, RAGE is expressed in low levels at the BBB, but its expression increases in aging and in AD brains, which ultimately increases accumulation of A β in the brain^{85–87}.

1.4 Pericytes

Pericytes are mesenchymal cells that surround blood vessel at the capillaries and venules. They are characterized by their small nucleus, small cytoplasm and elongated processes that wrap around endothelial cells⁸⁸. Generally, pericytes are separated from the endothelial cells by the basement membrane, but at certain points, they make direct contact with endothelial cells, which is thought to play an anchoring role. One such interaction is through peg-and-socket connections in which the cytoplasmic processes of the pericytes (pegs) are inserted into the endothelial invaginations (sockets)⁸⁸. Other close contacts between pericytes and endothelial cells have been described, such as through adhesion plaques and gap junction-like connections, which is thought to facilitate exchange of ions and molecules⁸⁹. Thus, pericytes not only

structurally support endothelial cells, they also communicate with them through important physical contact and paracrine signaling.

1.4.1 Pericytes and immune function

Pericytes may also play an underappreciated role in immunity. A study with primary mouse brain capillary pericytes finds that pericytes secrete interleukins, cytokines and chemokines both under basal conditions and also when challenged with inflammatory stimuli⁹⁰. Basally, pericytes were found to secrete interleukins such as interleukin 9 (IL-9), interleukin 10 (IL-10), and interleukin 12 (IL-12), as well as tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) and granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF)⁹⁰. When challenged with a pro-inflammatory stimuli, pericytes can upregulate their expression of interleukin 6 (IL-6), interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), TNF α , reactive oxygen species (ROS), nitric oxide (NO), and matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9), contributing to their detachment and migration^{90,91}. Pericytes can also express vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) and intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), which are important for recruiting immune cells such as monocytes and leukocytes from the blood and across the vessel walls^{92,93}, initiating an inflammatory process. More recent studies with human brain pericytes confirmed the expression of various chemokines and cytokines, and reported the expression of toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4) in response to pro-inflammatory stimuli^{94,95}.

1.4.2 Pericytes in the brain and contributions to the BBB

Pericytes are very abundant in the brain. The central nervous system (CNS) has a higher density of pericytes in the vasculature compared to the periphery; an early study estimates a 1:1 - 1:3 pericyte-to-endothelial ratio in the CNS versus a 1:10 - 1:100 ratio in striated muscles⁹⁶. In

the CNS, approximately 70 - 80% of the capillary network is covered with pericyte processes^{49,97,98}.

Animal studies have demonstrated that pericytes are crucial in forming and maintaining the BBB. During embryogenesis, pericytes are found to be recruited to nascent vessels when the barrier is being formed⁹⁷. Mice completely lacking in pericytes (Pdgfrb-/-) are embryonically lethal as they have a leaky BBB⁹⁷, while mice that are deficient in pericytes (Pdgfrb+/-) show increased BBB permeability⁹⁹. Moreover, endothelial tight junction barriers are tighter when pericytes are present, as measured by trans-endothelial cell electrical resistance (TEER)⁹⁷. Although pericytes do not induce the expression of genes specific to the BBB in endothelial cells, they inhibit the expression of molecules that increase vascular permeability, such as Angiopoetin-2 (Angpt2)⁹⁷, thus contributing to the BBB integrity. Pericytes also induce polarization of astrocytic endfeet, which is important since astrocytic endfeet carry channels and transporters to control homeostasis at the vessels⁹⁹.

1.4.3 Pericytes and AD

Post-mortem studies show pericyte loss and degeneration in AD patients, especially in the hippocampus and the $cortex^{46,49}$. Pericyte loss is accompanied by capillary reductions and tortuous vessels⁴⁶. Other notable changes to pericytes include large lipid granules, large pinocytotic vessels and abnormalities in the mitochondria⁴⁶. In studies with AD patients, decreased pericyte coverage in the brain is correlated with BBB leakage, as seen by increased deposits of IgG and fibrin into the brain⁴⁹. How pericyte loss in AD occurs is unclear, though Aβ may be a contributing factor. It is observed that in AD patients, Aβ accumulates around pericytes and capillaries during later stages of $AD^{100,101}$. Another study found that Aβ load in the hippocampus was correlated with less pericyte coverage⁴⁹. Some *in vitro* studies support the causal link between A β and pericyte death. For example, at high concentrations, A β can induce pericyte death¹⁰².

The contributions of pericyte degeneration to AD pathology have also been studied in experimental models. Pericyte-deficient mice ($Pdgfrb^{+/-}$) show increased BBB permeability, which is thought to be due to upregulated endothelial transcytosis⁹⁹. This increased vascular permeability is thought to lead to accumulation of blood-derived toxins in the brain. Chronic leakage of the BBB due to pericyte loss or degeneration is thought to damage the neurons, decrease CBF, and ultimately cause tissue hypoxia, neuronal dysfunction and degeneration⁹⁸. Another study showed that in mice overexpressing APP (APPS^{w/0}), pericyte loss increased levels of soluble Aβ40 and Aβ42 in the brain¹⁰³. This study further delineated the role of pericytes in clearing Aβ from the brain interstitial fluid (ISF)¹⁰³. These *APPS^{w/0};Pdgfrb^{+/-}* mice also showed exacerbated neuronal loss and behavioural impairment such as burrowing, nest construction and novel object location tasks¹⁰³.

1.5 Brain resident myeloid cells

Microglia cells are the most prominent immune cells in the brain. As immune cells, they are involved in responding to tissue damage and presence of pathogens. Studies have also implicated other roles for microglia in the CNS such as interacting with neurons at the level of the synapse¹⁰⁴, aiding in the development of neural circuits in development¹⁰⁵, and mediating synapse loss during neurodegeneration¹⁰⁶. Other macrophages that reside in the brain include perivascular macrophages (PVM), meningeal macrophages and macrophages in the choroid plexus¹⁰⁷.

1.5.1 Perivascular macrophages

PVM are macrophages that are located in the perivascular space and line the walls of blood vessels. The perivascular space is the space between the vascular basement membrane on the abluminal side of the vessel and the glial basement membrane on the parenchymal side (**Fig 1.2**).



Figure 1.2 Perivascular macrophages in the perivascular space.

PVM are located in the perivascular space, which surrounds arteries and veins that penetrate into the brain parenchyma. The perivascular space consists of the space between vascular basement membrane (Vascular BM) on the abluminal side of the vessel and the glial limitans basement membrane (Glial BM) on the parenchymal side. The location of meningeal macrophages (MGM) is also shown. Figure adapted with permission¹⁰⁸.

PVM are more similar to blood-derived macrophages than microglia in terms of their immunophenotype and morphology¹⁰⁹, though recent studies suggest that they are more transcriptionally related to microglia¹⁰⁷. PVM were previously thought to be replenished by circulating monocytes rather than being self-renewed in the brain, which largely comes from older studies using cell transplantation experiments^{110,111}. Another study replaced the bone marrow cells of adult mice with green-fluorescent-protein (GFP)-transfected bone marrow cells and found that 2 weeks after the transplant, GFP-positive cells were found in the perivascular space, suggesting that PVM may come from monocytes¹¹². However, irradiation was used to generate bone-marrow chimeras, a technique that damages the BBB and allows serum proteins to infiltrate the brain parenchyma¹¹³. A recent study using a fate-mapping approach found that CNS macrophages are derived from yolk sac precursors during development, suggesting their selfrenewing abilities within the CNS¹⁰⁷. Currently, it is believed that macrophage migration across the BBB, especially at the level of the post-capillary venules, only occurs during inflammatory conditions¹¹⁴.

PVM express scavenger receptors, and are known to survey their environment and sample debris and dying cells¹¹⁵. Both microglia and macrophages can be polarized into M1 or M2 phenotype, though the classifications of which are ambiguous due to the overlapping classical markers and functional characteristics¹¹⁶. Broadly, M1 macrophages are involved in infections by microbes and viruses, and produce high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines as well as nitrogen and oxygen intermediates; M2 macrophages are involved in parasite containment and tissue remodeling¹¹⁷. However, it is important to note that these phenotypes represent a spectrum, along which M1 and M2 states are but two points. Lastly, there is also

research showing that PVM are associated with capillaries as well, to the same frequency as pericytes, and may promote capillary stability and contribute to BBB integrity^{115,118}.

1.5.2 Macrophages and AD

PVM are believed to remove aggregates of A β through phagocytosis, and aid in the clearance of A β effluxed from the parenchyma into circulation since they are located near the vessels. PVM are believed to contribute to the clearance of waste products from the brain parenchyma since they express type I and type II scavenger receptors¹¹⁹. In one study with AD mice, depletion of PVM resulted in an increased deposition of amyloid plaques in the cerebral vessels while stimulation of PVM turnover showed decreased plaque accumulation¹²⁰. In a recent study, C-C chemokine receptor type 2 (CCR2)- expressing myeloid cell population were preferentially recruited to amyloid deposits in three different AD mice models, and it was found that when PVM were deficient in CCR2, A β clearance was impaired and vascular A β showed increase deposition¹²¹. This suggests that PVM remove A β from the brain, and require CCR2 to do so.

Macrophages express various surface receptors that are known to bind to A β , such as scavenger receptors and Toll-like receptors (TLRs)¹²². Scavenger receptor class B type I (SRB1), which in particular, is known to be involved in A β clearance; deletion of SR-B1 in AD mice results in increased parenchymal and vascular A β deposition as well as associated cognitive deficits¹²³. Histological analysis revealed co-localization of scavenger receptors and perivascular macrophages¹²³. However, even though there was an increase in accumulation of PVM in the brain vessels, A β phagocytosis by macrophages was unchanged¹²³, suggesting that SR-B1 may be involved in migration but not phagocytic activity of macrophages. Similar observations were

shown in studies with TLRs, a family of pattern recognition receptors involved in innate immune function. Studies with AD mice with TLR-4 mutations showed increased A β accumulation and exacerbated cognitive deficits, suggesting a role for TLRs in A β uptake and clearance^{124,125}.

Interestingly, there is also evidence that PVM are detrimental in AD pathology; a recent study suggests that PVM may contribute the negative effects of A β on regulation of CBF¹²⁶. More specifically, depletion of PVM abolished the vascular oxidative stress and neurovascular abnormalities with A β in AD mice¹²⁶.

1.6 Apolipoprotein E (ApoE)

Aside from the metabolic risk factors that contribute to the development of AD, genetic risk factors also play a role. Amongst them is apolipoprotein E (apoE), a class of apolipoproteins that is expressed highly in the liver. In the CNS, apoE is synthesized in the brain primarily by astrocytes¹²⁷. ApoE is involved in lipid metabolism by transporting and delivering lipids through apoE receptors^{128,129}. ApoE is present in both the plasma and in the brain, where it is synthesized primarily by hepatocytes and astrocytes, respectively, and the two apoE pools do not mix. In plasma, apoE is associated with many lipoproteins, whereas in the brain, apoE is on high density-like lipoprotein particles^{130,131}. In contrast to plasma high-density lipoproteins (HDL), which has apoA-I as its primary apolipoprotein, brain "HDL" has apoE as its primary apolipoprotein¹³⁰.

In humans, apoE exists in 3 polymorphic allelelic states ($\varepsilon 2$, $\varepsilon 3$, and $\varepsilon 4$) that subsequently encode different isoforms with varying structural and functional properties^{129,132}. More specifically, the isoforms differ at amino acid residues 112 and 158: apoE3 has a cysteine at residue 112 and arginine residue at 158; apoE4 has arginine at both residues; and apoE2 has
cysteine at both sites¹³³. The arginine residue at site 112 in the apoE4 isoform reduces the stability of the protein¹³⁴.

1.6.1 Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) as a risk factor for AD

The efforts of early researchers demonstrated that the apoE4 variant is a major risk variant for late-onset $AD^{135,136}$, with odds ratios increasing with more copies of the gene¹³⁷. Indeed, accumulating evidence from early post-mortem studies to recent PET imaging studies find that AD patients with the *APOE4* allele, compared to patients with *APOE2* or *APOE3*, had increased vascular and amyloid plaque deposits^{138–140}, greater rates of volume decrease in the entorhinal cortex and hippocampus^{57,141} and altered dendritic arborisation patterns¹⁴². The *APOE2* allele decreases AD^{143} and slows the rate of cognitive decline¹⁴⁴ and hippocampal volume atrophy compared to carriers of the other *APOE* alleles¹⁴⁵. More recently, a new study using PDAPP mice (a mouse model of amyloidosis) and APP.PS1/TRE4 mice (a mouse model that develops *APOE4*-dependent amyloid deposition), found that viral delivery of apoE2 reduced both soluble and insoluble $A\beta^{146}$. Taken together, these genetic studies highlight the integral role for apoE in the onset and progression of AD, though the mechanisms through which these isoform-dependent effects occur are unclear.

1.6.2 ApoE and Aβ metabolism in AD pathology

ApoE is associated with $A\beta$ in amyloid plaques, suggesting their interaction¹⁴⁷. Subsequent *in vitro* studies find that synthetic $A\beta$ peptides and apoE directly associate^{148–150}, although, in these older studies, both the structural integrity of both the $A\beta$ and apoE components are suspect, and the ratios of their interactions vary widely and often bear no relationship to physiological levels. Older studies that investigate isoform-dependent effects on plaque density are also conflicting, with some studies finding a positive association between APOE4 allele dose and increased plaque density^{138,151}, while other studies finding no association^{152–154}. A more recent study with a larger sample size confirms a positive association between APOE4 allelic dose and increased neuritic plaques in AD¹⁵⁵. Further support comes from a study in cognitively normal adults in which APOE4 allele dose is associated with lower A β 42 in the cerebral spinal fluid (CSF)¹⁵⁶, which is an indicator of increased brain amyloid deposition¹⁵⁷. A more recent study using Pittsburgh Compound B (PiB) PET imaging found an E4 allele dose-dependent increase in fibrillar A β burden in the brain in cognitively normal individuals¹⁵⁸. Overall, this suggests that there may be an isoform-specific effect on A β deposition, and that apoE4 may be accelerating this deposition.

Early *in vitro* studies using unlipidated apoE particles demonstrated that apoE4 binds more rapidly to A β than apoE3^{150,159}, while later studies with lipidated apoE particles demonstrate that apoE2 and apoE3 formed more stable complexes with A β than apoE4^{148,160,161}. A recent study comparing unlipidated versus lipidated apoE particles found that unlipidated apoE particles bind to A β with less affinity than lipidated apoE¹⁶². Moreover, lipidated binding of apoE to A β is highest for apoE2 > apoE3 >> apoE4¹⁶².

ApoE may also be involved in A β fibrillization. One study found that apoE promoted A β fibrillization, in which the effect is strongest with the apoE4 isoform and the least with the apoE2 isoform¹⁶³. Some studies find that apoE4 is more efficient than apoE3 at increasing A β 40 aggregation^{164,165}, though later studies find that all isoforms are equipotent at inhibiting A β fibrillization *in vitro* through interfering with A β nucleation^{166,167}. These conflicting results may

be due to differences in preparation of apoE (lipidated versus unlipidated) and A β (A β 40 versus A β 42), and differences in aggregation conditions (concentrations of apoE and A β)¹²⁷.

In terms of the effect of apoE on A β production, the studies have also been conflicting. Several studies suggest that apoE4 increases A β production through LRP1 and apoER2-mediated APP endocytosis^{168,169} while other studies find no effect of apoE isoform on APP processing¹⁷⁰⁻¹⁷². Studies also suggest that apoE may be involved in A β clearance. Various *in vitro* studies find that apoE aids in the binding and internalization of soluble A β by neurons, microglia and astrocytes¹⁷³⁻¹⁷⁵, though overall no isoform-specific effect was found. ApoE has also been found to facilitate cellular degradation of A β ^{176,177}.

Studies performed *in vivo* to address the effect on A β metabolism have been interesting, and suggests a more detrimental role of apoE on AD pathology. For example, early studies find that apoE deficiency leads to decrease in amyloid load^{178–180}. Interestingly, the lack of apoE increases the levels of soluble A β prior to A β deposition¹⁸¹. A subsequent study using *in vivo* microdialysis to monitor A β levels in brain ISF confirms the role of apoE in A β metabolism prior to A β deposition¹⁸².

There is also evidence that apoE is involved in A β clearance in an isoform-dependent manner. Accumulating evidence shows that, in mice, A β complexed with apoE is cleared from the brain at a slower rate than that of free A $\beta^{183-185}$. While A β 40 and A β 42 was cleared rapidly from the brain through LRP1, A β binding to apoE4 redirected the clearance to VLDLR, which internalized the complex at a slower pace¹⁸⁵. In contrast, A β binding to apoE2 or apoE3 was cleared by the brain by both LRP1 and VLDLR at a faster rate than A β -apoE4 complexes¹⁸⁵. A more recent study using *in vivo* microdialysis showed that AD mice expressing human apoE4 cleared A β at a slower rate compared to AD mice expressing human apoE3¹⁸⁶. A very recent

study using a novel *in vitro* model of human bioengineered blood vessels supports an isoformdependent role of apoE in A β clearance across the vessel¹⁸⁷.

1.6.3 Other effects of apoE on AD pathology

Other than the role of apoE on Aβ metabolism, apoE may also be involved in additional processes that contribute to AD pathology. Synaptic dysfunction and loss are observed in AD patients^{188,189}. In one study, AD mice expressing human apoE4 showed worsened synaptic and cholinergic deficits compared to those expressing apoE3 prior to amyloid plaque deposition¹⁹⁰. A recent study found that apoE4 impairs synaptic plasticity such that long term potentiation (LTP), a neural correlate of learning and memory, is disrupted¹⁹¹. Other studies have found isoform-specific effects on dendritic spine density, which is also associated with learning and memory. In APOE targeted replacement (TR) mice, apoE4-TR mice have lower dendritic spine complexity compared to apoE3-TR mice^{192,193}.

AD is also characterized by neuroinflammation, which includes release of cytokines and chemokines, activation of the complement cascade, and reactive astrogliosis and microgliosis near amyloid plaques¹⁹⁴. ApoE-deficient mice have an increased inflammatory response to A β , suggesting the role of apoE in neuroinflammatory regulation in AD^{195,196}. Interestingly, apoE isoforms differentially regulate the inflammatory response¹⁹⁷. In one study, apoE4-TR mice showed a greater inflammatory response to LPS stimulation in comparison to apoE3-TR mice¹⁹⁸. Similarly in humans, apoE4 carriers showed increased inflammatory response that may relate to AD risk¹⁹⁹.

1.7 High Density Lipoprotein (HDL)

As lipids are water-insoluble, they must be transported with proteins. Lipoproteins play an important role in absorbing and transporting lipids in the small intestine, and transporting lipids between the liver and the peripheral tissues. Lipoproteins have a central hydrophobic core surrounded by a coat of phospholipids, free cholesterols and apolipoproteins. There are seven classes of lipoproteins sorted based on size, lipid composition and apolipoproteins: chylomicrons, chylomicron remnants, very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), intermediate density lipoproteins (IDL), low density lipoproteins (LDL), high density lipoproteins (HDL), and Lipoprotein (a)²⁰⁰.

Characteristically, HDL is the smallest and densest of the circulating lipoproteins, owing to a proportionally higher protein:lipid ratio compared to other lipoprotein subclasses. One of the key proteins found in almost all HDL particles is apoA-I, which makes up 70% of protein content in HDL²⁰¹. The lipid composition of HDL includes of a variety of lipids such as glycerophospholipids, cholesteryl esters, sphingomyelins, and triacylglycerols²⁰². Overall, HDL particles consist of over 80 types of proteins and hundreds of types of lipids²⁰³. These constituents play important roles in the function of HDL such as lipid metabolism, anti-oxidation, and innate immune system²⁰⁴.

1.7.1 HDL functions

HDL travels between organs, tissues and cells. One of its well-known functions is reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), a process by which cholesterol and phospholipids are collected from cells of peripheral tissues and transported to the liver for excretion²⁰⁵. This is an important function because most cells cannot catabolize cholesterol, and thus need a mechanism by which

to decrease their cholesterol content. ATP-binding cassette protein 1 (ABCA1) mediates the transport of lipids from the cells to lipid-poor HDL particles²⁰⁶. The cholesterol taken up by the HDL particle can be transferred to the liver in several ways. Cholesterol can be directly transferred to hepatic cells via HDL binding to the scavenger receptor class B, type I (SR-BI)^{207,208}. Alternatively, cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) can transfer the cholesterol from the HDL to apolipoprotein B-containing particles that are ultimately taken up by the liver²⁰⁹.

HDL also demonstrates vasoprotective functions that are well-characterized in peripheral vessels. Studies find the HDL can inhibit VCAM-1 expression^{210,211} as well as ICAM-1 and E-selectin in endothelial cells²¹², suggesting its role in attenuating inflammation. HDL has also been shown to repair damaged endothelial cells and inhibit apoptosis²¹³, reduce lipid oxidation, and inhibit thrombotic activation²¹⁴.

1.7.2 HDL and the vasculature

The link between low HDL cholesterol (HDL-C) levels and cardiovascular disease was established in a seminal paper by Miller and Miller²¹⁵ and since then, a multitude of clinical and pre-clinical studies have confirmed this link^{216,217}. Many animal studies support this association ^{218,219}. However, Mendelian randomization studies failed to show a causal relationship between HDL-C levels and cardiovascular disease^{220–222}. Individuals with genetic deficiencies of *APOA-I* or *ABCA1* are shown to have low levels of HDL-C and an increased risk of coronary artery disease²²³. Interestingly, individuals with a specific mutation in the *APOA-I* gene which results in the apoA-I Milano version of the protein, have low levels of HDL-C but similar risks of atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease compared to individuals with normal HDL-C

levels²²⁴. Moreover, individuals with mutations in the gene encoding SR-BI (*SCARB1*) have high levels of HDL-C, but are at an increased risk for coronary heart disease²²⁵. Taken together, these studies suggest a more complex relationship between HDL-C and cardiovascular conditions.

1.7.3 Association between HDL and AD dementia

Various prospective studies were conducted to investigate whether there is an association between HDL levels and risk of dementia. For example, one study demonstrates a link between higher levels of HDL-C and lower risk of AD^{226} . Similarly, decreased HDL-C and serum apoA-I concentrations are correlated with severity of AD, as measured by the Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE)²²⁷. A prospective cohort study consisting of Medicare recipients in the United States also found an association between higher levels of HDL-C and lower risk of AD^{226} .

However, some prospective studies fail to find this association. In one study that followed women in their 70's for 9 years, HDL-C was not found to be associated with dementia or AD²²⁸. Moreover, twin studies in which one twin developed dementia did not find a difference in HDL-C levels between the twin pairs²²⁹. Interestingly, a recent study found that in men without vascular pathologies, lower HDL-C levels were associated with dementia, while no association was found for women participants²³⁰. Several cross-sectional studies were conducted to address this possible link but were similarly met with conflicting results. One study found lower HDL-C levels in patients with AD compared to healthy controls²³¹, while another study only found this link specifically in late-onset AD patients²³². Interestingly, one study found that AD patients with comorbid cardiovascular conditions and risk factors had lower HDL-C levels in comparison to healthy non-AD controls, but not AD patients without cardiovascular conditions and risk factors²³³. However, other small-scale studies find no difference in HDL-C levels between AD participants and healthy controls^{234–236}.

Various factors could contribute to the controversy in these epidemiological studies²³⁷. First, there may be subjectivity and misclassification in the diagnosis of AD, which makes comparison between participants across the group difficult. Moreover, the different types of dementias may be co-morbid, and many dementias have mixed vascular and AD pathologies²³⁸. Participants of some of these studies are sampled from registered patients in health care systems, which may not be representative of the population of interest. More importantly, HDL-C levels may not be the correct clinical measure, as HDL-C quantifies only the average cholesterol content of circulating HDL particles, and this value may not necessarily correlate to HDL functions such as cholesterol efflux capacity^{239–241}. Thus, HDL-C levels *per se* may not be as informative as evaluating HDL function in A β clearance.

1.8 TREM2

Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells 2 (TREM2) is a cell surface receptor on microglia and macrophages. The extracellular region of TREM2 consists of a single immunoglobulin superfamily domain that binds to various ligands polyanionic ligands^{242,243}. After ligand binding, TREM2 signals through an adaptor protein DAP12, which recruits protein tyrosine kinase SYK through its immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs)²⁴⁴ (Fig. 1.3). A cascade of signaling events occur such as protein tyrosine phosphorylation, phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) activation, calcium mobilization and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) activation²⁴⁴. TREM2 can also transmit intracellular signaling through another

adaptor protein DAP10, which recruits PI3K²⁴⁵. Altogether, TREM2 signaling is involved in promoting survival²⁴⁶, proliferation²⁴⁷, phagocytosis²⁴⁸, and immune signaling²⁴⁹.



Figure 1.3 TREM2 signaling pathways

TREM2 signals through adaptor proteins DAP12 or DAP10, which initiates a cascade of signaling events. Reprinted with permission²⁴⁴.

1.8.1 TREM2 and AD pathology

Recent whole-genome sequencing studies find variants in the TREM2 to be associated with AD risk^{250,251}. The TREM2 R47H variant, which is an Arginine to Histidine change at amino acid 47, has an odds ratio of ~2.9 - 4.5 of developing AD, and seems to decrease age of AD onset by ~ 3 years^{250,251}. Other variants such as R62H and D87N have also been found to be linked to AD²⁵¹.

Early studies to delineate the role of TREM2 in AD pathology found that knockdown of TREM2 in microglia inhibits phagocytosis of apoptotic neurons and increased the inflammatory

response, whereas overexpression of TREM2 increases phagocytosis and decreases the inflammatory response²⁴⁸. The idea that TREM2 is involved in phagocytosis is supported by another study in macrophages that finds that TREM2 is involved in phagocytosis of bacteria²⁵². Other studies have found that overexpressing TREM2 in microglia also increases its capacity for A β phagocytosis^{253,254}. TREM2 may be involved in regulating inflammation. Studies find that knocking down TREM2 results in an increased cytokine production in response to TLR ligands, suggesting that TREM2 may be mediating detrimental inflammation^{248,255,256}.

Studies investigating the role of TREM2 on A β accumulation show conflicting results. In one study using the 5XFAD mouse model of AD, TREM2-deficient microglia underwent apoptosis in response to A β deposition rather than becoming activated²⁴⁶. The study further demonstrated that TREM2 binds to various anionic and zwitterionic phospholipids, which are known to associate with fibrillar A β and be exposed on damaged neurons²⁴⁶. In contrast, microglia with the R47H variant of TREM2 have a reduced capacity to bind to phospholipids, suggesting that TREM2 may be detecting changes in the lipid microenvironment²⁴⁶. Another study knocking down and overexpressing TREM2 in APPswe/PS1de9 mouse model of AD suggests that TREM2 facilitates A β 42 phagocytosis and inhibits A β 42-triggered proinflammatory responses²⁵⁴. Moreover, overexpression of TREM2 ameliorated AD-related pathology including A β deposition, neuroinflammation, neuronal and synaptic loss, and cognitive deficits²⁵⁴.

However, another study looking at TREM2 on infiltrating macrophages delineates the detrimental role of TREM2 in AD pathology. In the APPPS1-21 mouse model of AD, TREM2 is upregulated on myeloid cells surrounding amyloid plaques²⁵⁷. Moreover, lack of TREM2 resulted in reduced accumulation of A β and reduced inflammation²⁵⁷, suggesting that TREM2

may be contributing to the inflammation. In a study using the same AD mouse model, loss of one copy of TREM2 did not affect A β pathology, but altered the morphology of plaque-associated microglia²⁵⁸.

Taken together, these studies agree on the role of TREM2 in microgliosis, though its role in A β accumulation is controversial. Since the studies vary in its AD mouse model and age of the mice, it is possible that microglial response to A β occurs during a specific phase during the disease. Indeed, a recent study demonstrated that TREM2 deficiency ameliorates amyloid pathology during early stages of the disease, while later in the disease progression its deficiency exacerbates amyloid pathology²⁵⁹. More specifically, in the early disease progression, loss of TREM2 results in a decrease of number of amyloid plaques but an increase in plaque size later in pathology²⁵⁹. In late stages of the disease, TREM2 deficiency reduces inflammatory gene expression²⁵⁹. Interestingly, in all time points, TREM2 deficiency reduces myeloid cell internalization of amyloid²⁵⁹. The dynamic role of TREM2 during disease progression may be reflective of the dynamic role of myeloid cells in disease, such that they play a protective role early on with the clearance of A β , but become detrimental when they exacerbate inflammatory responses and lose their phagocytic abilities²⁶⁰.

1.8.2 TREM2 and lipoproteins

Various studies suggest the interaction between TREM2 and lipoproteins. A study using TREM2-Fc fusion pull-down from cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and serum identified apoE, apoA-I and apoA-II as TREM2 ligands²⁶¹. Another study using a dot blot assay confirmed that apoE, apoA-I and apoB interact with TREM2. Interestingly, all isoforms of apoE, both unlipidated and lipidated, bind to TREM2 and this interaction is disrupted in the TREM2 R47H variant^{261,262}. An

independent study found that TREM2 also interacts with lipoproteins such as HDL as well as LDL²⁶³. A study using bio-layer interferometry (BLI) found that TREM2 binds to apoE and Clusterin, as well as HDL, LDL, VLDL²⁶⁴. Moreover, they found that Aβ complexed with lipoprotein ligands of TREM2 such as Clusterin and LDL facilitated its uptake by microglia²⁶⁴. Another study also suggests the phagocytic role of lipoprotein binding to TREM2; apoptotic neurons that were covered in apoE increased microglial phagocytosis in a TREM2-dependent way²⁶². Interestingly, a new study finds that the APOE-TREM2 pathway mediated the switch in microglia from a homeostatic phenotype to a neurodegenerative phenotype, suggesting that this pathway regulates microglial functional phenotype²⁶⁵.

1.9 Objective

To investigate the beneficial effects of lipoproteins high density lipoprotein (HDL) and Apolipoprotein E (apoE) on perivascular cells in the cerebrovasculature.

1.10 Aims

<u>Aim I</u>: Investigate the effects of apoE-modulating compounds on pericyte migration <u>Aim II</u>: Investigate the effects of high density lipoprotein (HDL) on apoE4-associated pericyte inflammation

<u>Aim III</u>: Investigate the effects of high density lipoprotein (HDL) on A β -induced inflammation and A β phagocytosis in macrophage

1.11 Hypothesis

I hypothesize that:

- I: ApoE-modulating compounds decrease pericyte migration
- II: HDL decreases apoE4-associated pericyte inflammation
- III: HDL decreases A β -induced inflammation and increases A β phagocytosis in macrophages

Chapter 2: ApoE-modulating drugs on pericyte function

2.1 Introduction

Pericytes are cells that surround endothelial cells in the vasculature, and play an important role in maintaining blood brain barrier (BBB) integrity^{99,266}. Pericyte death as well as pericyte migration away from the vasculature may cause the BBB to become leaky²⁶⁷, which can leave the brain vulnerable to damage by serum-derived toxins. In AD brains, reduction of pericyte coverage of microvessels correlates with BBB disruption⁴⁹. Pericyte-deficient mice show age-dependent BBB disruption and subsequent neurodegeneration⁹⁸. Pericytes also contribute to clearance of A β , as pericyte-deficiency is associated with accelerated amyloid deposits in the brain and impaired amyloid clearance in AD mice¹⁰³. Taken together, reduced pericyte coverage may further aggravate amyloid accumulation and contribute to AD pathology. Pericyte coverage is thus crucial to cerebrovascular health.

Pericytes produce apolipoprotein E (apoE), a major lipoprotein expressed in the brain that acts as a lipid carrier in the CNS. Humans have three APOE isoforms, which confer different risks for AD; the *APOE2* variant is associated with decreased AD risk¹⁴³, while the *APOE4* variant increases risk for late-onset AD, compared to the normal *APOE3* variant^{135,136}. A recent study found that knocking down apoE in pericytes increases their migration, which can be rescued by addition of exogenous apoE3 but not apoE4²⁶⁸. This study found that apoE mediates pericyte migration through low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1)²⁶⁸, which is a major apoE receptor in the brain. Since pericytes are crucial to BBB integrity, which contributes to cerebrovascular health, increasing apoE levels may decrease pericyte migration, and ultimately protect the BBB.

Several compounds have been shown to increase apoE levels such as GW3965 and T0901317. These compounds have also been shown to increase ABCA1, which lipidates apoE. However, these compounds are agonists of liver-X-receptor (LXR), which promotes hepatotoxicity in humans and thus cannot be further developed as AD therapeutics.

We recently used high-throughput screens to identify several small molecule compounds that promote secretion of lipidated apoE from human astrocytoma cells. Importantly, the screen was designed with a counter-screen to exclude LXR agonists. The first class of compounds, which consists of P1 and P2, are antagonists of the P2X7 receptor. The P2X7 receptor is a purinergic receptor that is an ATP-gated cation-selective channel that plays a role in neurodegeneration and chronic inflammation²⁶⁹. P1 and P2 are structurally similar to AZD9056 (PubChem CID 10161381), which is a well-tolerated drug developed for rheumatoid arthritis, osteroarthritis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and Crohn's Disease^{270,271}. The second class of compounds is A1, which is an inhibitor of AXL receptor tyrosine kinase. Axl receptors have roles in the phagocytosis of apoptotic cells, as well as in inflammation^{272,273}. Interestingly, there is evidence suggesting that Axl is involved in AD pathology. For example, microglia associated with AD plaques have upregulated AXL mRNA as well as other genes associated with immune response, overall contributing to neuroinflammation related to AD pathology²⁷⁴. Moreover, soluble Axl (sAXL) in plasma may be a potential biomarker of brain amyloid burden²⁷⁵. Increased baseline sAXL levels also correlate with A β 42 in the CSF and potentially serve as a biomarker for brain amyloid pathology in AD^{276} .

The cerebrovasculature is important in AD. Firstly, most of the A β is cleared across the BBB^{70–72}. Secondly, cerebrovascular damage such as BBB breakdown^{47–50}, loss of pericytes⁴⁶, reduced glucose utilization⁵² and reduced CBF^{54–56} are observed in AD patients. Lastly,

cardiovascular risk factors such as type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension and low physical activity increase the risk of AD, which is believed to be through damage to endothelial cells and the BBB^{238,277,278}. Importantly, HDL, which is associated with improved endothelial cell function and reduced cardiovascular risk, cooperates with brain apoE to decrease Aβ-mediated endothelial cell inflammation and promote Aβ transport across a 3D human model of the cerebrovasculature^{187,279}. Taken together, this suggests that the cerebrovasculature is an important target for repair in the development of AD therapeutics.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Cell culture

Primary fetal human brain vascular pericytes were commercially obtained from ScienCell. Three pericyte donors were available, with the following genotypes: Pericyte donor #1 (apoE4/E4); Pericyte donor #2 (apoE3/E3); and Pericyte donor #3 (apoE3/E4). Cells were maintained in Pericyte Media with 2% FBS and 1% penicillin and streptomycin. Media was changed every 2 - 3 days. Pericytes were utilized up to passage 9. Pericytes were subsequently sub-cultured when reaching 80 - 90% confluency.

2.2.2 Scratch-Wound Assay

A monolayer scratch assay was performed using the IncuCyte ZOOM live cell imaging system (Essen Biosciences). Pericytes were seeded at 10,000 cells/well on a gridded 96-well IncuCyte ImageLock Plate. Cells were treated with apoE-modulating compounds GW3965 (1uM), P1 (10uM), P2 (10uM), A1 (1uM) in Pericyte Media for 24 hours before the scratch-wound assay. Cells were treated with 10ug/mL mitomycin C (Sigma) in Pericyte Media for 2 hours before the

scratch-wound assay to prevent cell proliferation. Cells were scratched with a 96-pin mechanical wound-making device "WoundMaker" and washed with Pericyte Media once to remove cells from the scratch area. Media with drugs were added back into the wells after the wound was created. The plate was placed into the IncuCyte ZOOM device and images were collected every 2 hours for a total of 48 hours.

2.2.3 ApoE ELISA

Human apoE was quantified using commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits (MABTech 3712-1H-6) following manufacturer's instructions.

2.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Data for pericyte migration were analyzed by Two Way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Sidak's multiple comparisons test. Data for apoE ELISA and Four Parameter Logistic curve fitting were analyzed by One Way ANOVA followed by a Tukey's multiple comparisons test for parametric data, and Kruskal-Wallis test followed by a Dunn's multiple comparisons test for nonparametric data. All statistical analyses were performed by GraphPad Prism v7. Data are displayed as mean ± standard error of mean (SEM). Since standard deviation (SD) is a measure of variability around mean of sample population, and SEM is a measure of precision of an estimated population mean, we chose to display the data with SEM because it represents how precisely we have determined the mean.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Pericytes from all 3 donors produce apoE

The pericytes used in this study were obtained commercially (ScienCell) and derived from human fetal brain sources. The pericytes were from 3 separate donors, with varying *APOE* genotypes. Human pericyte donor #1 ("HP1") has an *APOE* genotype of E4/E4; human pericyte donor #2 ("HP2") has an *APOE* genotype of E3/E3; and human pericyte donor #3 ("HP3") has an *APOE* genotype of E3/E4. We confirmed that the pericytes used for this study secreted apoE after 24 hours in culture (**Fig. 2.1**). We find that all pericytes secrete apoE, and the levels of apoE secreted did not differ significantly between donors (**Fig. 2.1**).





Media from each pericyte donor was measured for apoE levels with ELISA. No significant differences in secreted apoE levels are found when analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Graph represents mean \pm SEM, with N = 3 independent trials.

2.3.2 HP2 pericytes respond to apoE-modulating compounds

We tested whether the pericytes upregulate apoE secretion upon the treatment of apoEmodulating compounds P1, P2 and A1 for 72 hours. We used HP2 pericytes to test the drug effect because of its apoE3/E3 genotype. We found that HP2 pericytes respond to all apoEmodulating compounds with significant increase in apoE secretion (**Fig. 2.2**). We found that pericytes secreted 14.20 ± 7.33 ng/mL of apoE in the DMSO condition, 125.70 ± 37.48 ng/mL in the GW3965 condition, 210.2 ± 66.45 ng/mL in the P1 condition, 49.71 ± 19.02 ng/mL in the P2 condition, and 47.11 ± 11.74 ng/mL in the A1 condition. We also tested the drug effect on pericytes from different donors, and we see a trend towards increasing apoE secretion with drug treatment (**Fig. 2.3**).



Figure 2.2 HP2 pericytes respond to apoE-modulating drugs

HP2 pericytes (apoE3/E3) were treated with apoE-modulating compounds GW3965, P1, P2 and A1 for 72 hours and measured for apoE secretion with ELISA. * p < 0.05 between DMSO and GW3965, P1, P2 and A1 as analyzed by blocked Two-Way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. Graph represents mean ± SEM, with N = 4 independent trials.



Figure 2.3 Pericytes from all donors show trend towards increasing apoE secretion with treatment with apoE-modulating compounds

Pericytes were measured for apoE secretion after treatment with apoE-modulating compounds for 72 hours. Pericytes from all donors showed an increase in apoE secretion with treatment with GW3965, P1, P2 and A1. Graph represents mean \pm SEM, with data collected from N = 2 independent trials.

2.3.3 HP1 pericytes show slower migration with A1 treatment

Cell migration can be assessed with a scratch-wound assay, also known as the wound healing assay. The scratch-wound assay is an *in vitro* technique for measuring cell migration, in which the cells in a monolayer are scratched in a middle of the well and observed for migration across the wound over time. Historically, scratch-wound assays lacked standardization since there are variations in the wound, the imaging equipment and acquisition, and the analysis²⁸⁰. New platforms such as IncuCyte ZOOMTM real-time live imaging systems emerged to address the reproducibility of scratch-wound assays. Migration is quantified by "relative wound density", which is a ratio of the cell density in the wound area relative to the cell density outside the wound. Since the proportion of cells that migrate into the wound increases over time, so does the relative wound density.

In our study, we wanted to observe the effects of increasing apoE in pericytes on migration. Pericytes were treated with apoE-modulating compounds for 24 hours before they were imaged in the scratch-wound assay for 48 hours, which was the time required for the scratch-wound to close. Thus, the pericytes were treated with the apoE-modulating compounds for a total time of 72 hours, which was the time in which we observed an increase in apoE secretion (**Fig. 2.3**). Compared to addition of DMSO, the addition of GW3965, P1 or P2 did not affect pericyte migration, as measured by percentage relative wound density (**Fig. 2.4**). However, pericytes treated with Axl inhibitor A1 showed significantly slower migration in the 14 - 20 hour time point (p < 0.05) (**Fig. 2.4**).

We were also interested in extracting certain parameters from the curve for comparison. We used Four Parameter Logistic curve fitting in order to estimate the time to 50% relative wound density, as well as the maximum relative wound density, in all treatment groups. Four

Parameter Logistic curve fitting is a method commonly used as a curve fitting analysis for sigmoidal curves generated from assays such as ELISA and dose-response curves. For our purposes, we chose a functional form to yield meaningful and useful summaries for the curve. The four parameters that are extracted from this curve fitting method are: (1) minimum asymptote, which is typically the bottom of the curve; (2) maximum asymptote which is typically the top plateau of the curve; (3) the steepness of the curve, which is known as "Hill's Slope"; and (4) the inflection point, which is the point on the curve where the curvature changes direction or sign. In a dose-response curve, for example, the inflection point would be considered the "EC50", or the half maximal effective concentration. For our curve, the inflection point is the "time to 50% relative wound density" parameter.

Compared to HP1 pericytes treated with DMSO, in which the time to reach 50% relative wound density is 11.43 ± 2.39 hours, pericytes treated with A1 required 17.20 ± 4.21 hours to reach 50% relative wound density (p < 0.05) (**Fig. 2.5a**). However, pericytes in all treatment groups reach the same maximum relative wound density (**Fig. 2.5b**).





HP1 (apoE4/E4) was treated with apoE-modulating compounds GW3965, P1, P2, and A1 for 24 hours before the scratch-wound assay as imaged and analyzed by IncuCyte. HP1 pericytes show a decrease in migration with A1 pre-treatment during hours 14 - 20 of the scratch-wound assay. * p < 0.05 between DMSO control and A1-treated pericytes as analyzed by Two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM, with data collected from N = 7 independent trials.



Figure 2.5 HP1 pericytes treated with A1 requires more time to reach 50% relative wound density

HP1 pericytes treated with A1, but not GW3965, P1, or P2, required more time needed to reach 50% relative wound density in a scratch-wound assay. HP1 pericytes treated with GW3965, P1, P2 and A1 did not show any differences in maximum relative wound density in a scratch-wound assay. *p < 0.05 as analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM, with data collected from N = 7 independent trials.

2.3.4 HP2 pericyte migration is not affected by GW3965, P1, P2 or A1 treatment

When HP2 pericytes (apoE3/E3) were treated with apoE-modulating drugs GW3965, P1, P2 or A1, pericyte migration did not change (**Fig 2.6**). Similarly, the time to reach 50% relative wound density as well as maximum relative wound density did not differ between treatment groups (**Fig 2.7**).



Fig 2.6. HP2 pericyte migration is not changed with GW3965, P1, P2 or A1 treatment HP2 was treated with apoE-modulating compounds GW3965, P1, P2, and A1 for 24 hours before the scratch-wound assay as imaged and analyzed by IncuCyte. Data are not significant as analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM, with data collected from N = 7 independent trials.





HP2 pericytes treated with GW3965, P1, P2 and A1 show no difference in time to 50% relative wound density or maximum relative wound density in a scratch-wound assay as analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM, with data collected from N = 7 independent trials.

2.3.5 HP3 pericytes show slower migration with A1 treatment, but not with GW3965, P1, or P2 treatment.

HP3 pericytes (apoE3/E4) were treated with GW3965, P1, P2 or A1 for 24 hours before migration was observed in a scratch-wound assay. Pericytes treated with A1 showed slower migration (p < 0.05) at 8 to 22 hours into the assay, but not pericytes treated with P1 or P2 (**Fig. 2.8**). However, Four Parameter Logistic curve fitting showed no difference between treatment groups in their time to 50% relative wound density and maximum relative wound density (**Fig 2.9**).



Figure 2.8 HP3 pericyte migration is not changed with treatment with apoE-modulating drugs

HP3 was treated with apoE-modulating compounds GW3965, P1, P2, and A1 for 24 hours before the scratch-wound assay as imaged and analyzed by IncuCyte. HP3 pericytes show a decrease in migration with A1 pretreatment during hours 8 - 22 of the scratch-wound assay. * p < 0.05 between DMSO control and A1-treated pericytes as analyzed by Two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM, and collected from N = 7 independent trials.



Figure 2.9 Four Parameter Logisitic Curve Fitting of HP3 pericyte migration curves HP3 pericytes treated with GW3965, P1, P2 and A1 show no difference in time to reach 50% relative wound density or maximum relative wound density in a scratch-wound assay as analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Data are collected from N = 7 independent trials.

2.3.6 ApoE secretion is not increased in pericytes treated with A1 after scratch-wound assay

Media was collected from the wells after the scratch-wound assay in all treatment conditions to test for differences in secreted apoE with the addition of apoE-modulating drugs. However, only GW3965-treated pericytes in HP2 and HP3 showed increased apoE secretion after the scratch-wound assay (**Fig 2.10**). HP1 pericytes showed no changes in apoE secretion after the scratch-wound assay with any drug treatment (**Fig. 2.10a**). HP2 pericytes treated with GW3965 showed significantly increased apoE secretion of 177.8 ± 141.4 ng/mL compared to pericytes treated with DMSO, which had an apoE secretion of 50.42 ± 46.84 ng/mL (p < 0.05) (Fig 2.10b). However, we observed no changes in apoE secretion in pericytes treated with A1 compared to the DMSO condition (Fig. 2.10b). Similarly, HP3 pericytes treated with GW3965 showed significantly increased apoE secretion of 122.2 ± 42.37 ng/mL compared to pericytes treated with DMSO, which had an apoE secretion of 23.46 ± 10.27 ng/mL (p < 0.05) (Fig 2.10c). No changes in apoE secretion were found in HP3 pericytes treated with A1 compared to the DMSO condition (Fig. 2.10c). Overall, this suggests that A1 is affecting pericyte migration in a way that does not depend on apoE levels.



Figure 2.10 Pericytes treated with A1 do not show an increase in apoE secretion after scratch-wound assay

HP2 and HP3 but not HP1 showed increased apoE secretion with GW3965 treatment, while pericytes from all donors did not show a difference in apoE secretion with treatment with P1, P2 or A1 as collected from media after the scratch-wound assay. * p < 0.05 as analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM, with data collected from N = 7 independent trials.

2.3.7 Pericytes treated with apoE-modulating compounds do not show increased apoE secretion at start of scratch-wound assay

As media for the apoE ELISA was collected from the wells after the scratch-wound assay, it is difficult to assess whether the increase in apoE levels in the GW3965 treatment condition was present before the scratch wound, and whether it would be affecting pericyte migration. Pericytes were thus seeded similarly on a 96-well plate and treated with apoE-modulating drugs for 24 hours, and media was collected to quantify apoE levels by ELISA. We found that apoE levels were not changed in any of the treatment groups, in any of the pericytes from different donors (**Fig. 2.11**).





HP1, HP2 and HP3 pericytes showed no differences in apoE secretion with 24 hour treatment with apoE-modulating compounds before the scratch wound, as analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM, with data collected from N = 3 independent trials.

2.3.8 Pericytes from the 3 different donors have different baseline migration

Thus far, we have observed differences in pericyte response to apoE-modulating drugs between donors in terms of their migration (Fig. 2.4, Fig. 2.6, Fig. 2.8). This could possibly be due to the inherent differences in migration between pericytes from different donors. Pericytes were thus analyzed on their baseline migration in the DMSO condition to compare migration rates for pericytes from all donors (Fig 2.12a). We found that there were no differences in migration at any time points when comparing HP1 (apoE4/E4) to HP2 (apoE3/E3) or HP3 (apoE3/E4) (Fig. 2.12b, 2.12c). However, when comparing HP2 (apoE3/E3) and HP3 (apoE3/E4), there were differences in migration in hours 8 to 24 (p < 0.05) (Fig. 2.12d). When Four Parameter Logistic curve fitting was performed, HP1 (apoE4/E4) vs. HP2 (apoE3/E3) and HP1 (apoE4/E4) vs. HP3 (apoE3/E4) did not differ in their time to reach 50% relative wound density (Fig. 2.13a). However, HP2 (apoE3/E3) required more time to reach 50% relative wound density $(14.22 \pm 5.91 \text{ hours})$ compared to HP3 (apoE3/E4) $(9.74 \pm 1.92 \text{ hours})$ (p < 0.05), suggesting a slower migration rate (Fig. 2.13a). Maximum relative wound density did not differ between any of the pericyte donors (Fig 2.13b), suggesting pericytes from all donors reach similar levels of cell density at the end of the scratch-wound assay.



Figure 2.12 Baseline migration rates differ between HP2 and HP3

Pericytes were compared on their baseline migration in the DMSO condition. A) Differences in relative wound density over time in all pericyte donors. B) HP1 (apoE4/E4) and HP2 (apoE3/E3) did not show any differences in migration rates. C) HP1 (apoE4/E4) and HP3 (apoE3/E4) did not show any differences in migration rates. D) HP2 (apoE3/E3) and HP3 (apoE3/E4) differed in migration rates at time points 8 - 24 hours. * p < 0.05 as analyzed by Two-Way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM, collected from N = 7 independent trials.





The time needed to reach 50% relative wound density was not different when comparing HP1 vs. HP2, or HP1 vs HP3. HP3 showed a slower time to 50% relative wound density compared to HP2 (* p < 0.05) as analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Comparing all pericyte donors, there were no differences in Maximum RWD as analyzed by One-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM, with data collected from N = 7 independent trials.

2.4 Discussion

Here, we sought to increase apoE levels in pericytes with known apoE-modulating compounds. Previously, we tested these compounds on their apoE-modulating effects on pericytes in another experimental set-up in a 12-well plate (**Fig 2.3**), and we found increased apoE secretion after 72 hours. However, after the scratch-wound assay, we only observed an

increase in GW3965-treated HP2 and HP3 pericytes, but did not see an increase in GW3965treated HP1 after 72 hours (**Fig. 2.10**). Moreover, we did not see increased apoE when the pericytes were treated with P1, P2 or A1 (**Fig. 2.10**). Though the pericytes in each of the different assays were treated similarly for 72 hours and with the same concentrations of apoEmodulating compounds, the differences in results we see may be due to the different conditions of the experimental set-up; the scratch-wound assay was conducted in a 96-well plate, whereas the previous experiment was conducted with a 12-well plate with a far higher number of cells per well. Moreover, the scratch-wound assay requires the removal of cells to make the wound, and this further reduction in the number of cells may be contributing to the lack of increase in apoE secretion. Importantly, the apoE secreted from these cells were not normalized to total protein, and thus were not standardized, making it difficult to compare between assays as well as between experimental conditions. For future experiments, protein levels in each well can be determined and subsequently the levels of apoE secreted from the pericytes can be expressed as a ratio of cell density.

Previous research found that knocking down apoE in pericytes increased their migration²⁶⁸. We thus hypothesized that increasing apoE levels may decrease their migration. We found that at the end of the scratch-wound assay, HP2 and HP3 pericytes treated with GW3965 had a significant increase in secreted apoE levels (**Fig 2.10**), but did not show a difference in migration despite the increase in apoE over the scratch-wound assay (**Fig 2.4**, **Fig 2.6**, **Fig 2.8**). This suggests that the increase in apoE levels over the 72 hours of the scratch-wound assay did not affect pericyte migration. Since the Casey et al. study showed that apoE mediates pericyte migration through receptor LRP1²⁶⁸, it is possible that a ceiling effect was reached, and that the LRP1 receptors were already saturated with apoE. If this is true, pharmacologically increasing

apoE levels would not decrease pericyte migration. This can be verified by probing changes in LRP1 protein levels when the pericytes are treated with the different apoE-modulating compounds. If no changes in LRP1 levels are observed, this may explain the lack of differences seen in pericyte migration with the addition of GW3965, despite the overall increase in apoE levels over the assay. This can be also confirmed by increasing the number of LRP1 receptors, for example through virally overexpressing LRP1, and observing changes in migration.

However, since we collected the media from the pericytes after the scratch-wound assay, we cannot conclude that any changes in apoE levels we observed is directly affecting pericyte migration. To address this issue, we conducted another experiment in which we collected media from pericytes treated with the various apoE-modulating compounds for 24 hours (mimicking the time at which the pericytes would be scratched in a scratch-wound assay). We found that there was no increase in apoE levels in all conditions, with pericytes from all donors (Fig. 2.11). Since there is no change in apoE levels before the scratch-wound was implemented, we still cannot conclude that apoE levels observed during the course of the scratch-wound assay is necessarily affecting pericyte migration. Rather, if there is an increase in apoE levels right at the start of the scratch-wound, any changes in migration may be attributed to this change in apoE levels. Our experimental design thus did not adequately answer the question we proposedwhether an increase in apoE levels would affect pericyte migration - since we did not significantly increase the levels of apoE before the scratch wound was made. In retrospect, our experimental design should not have relied on the results of the apoE-modulating compounds in a 12-well assay, rather we should have tested these compounds and their effect on pericyte secretion of apoE in a 96-well, similar to a scratch-wound assay. Despite the same concentrations of the apoE-modulating compounds used in the different assays, it is possible that the different

cell densities and the different cell confluency between each experimental set-up are may affect apoE increase and secretion. Indeed, studies in macrophages find that apoE can be regulated in various ways; transcriptional regulation can be induced by exposure to cytokines, hormones and lipids in its microenvironment^{281,282} while apoE secretion can also be stimulated by various apolipoprotein, and even apoE itself, which is observed to be isoform-dependent²⁸³. For future experiments, different concentrations of the apoE-modulating compounds can be added to the pericytes in a 96-well experimental set-up to validate the increase in apoE secretion by pericytes, such as a dose-response experiment. Subsequent testing of pericyte migration after treatment with these compounds with the determined conditions and concentrations can then be performed. If, from these experiments, we determine an effective dose of these compounds to observe an increase in apoE secretion by these pericytes, we can then use this to determine whether pericyte migration is affected in a scratch-wound assay. Further experiments can be done to test whether these compounds can be effective at decreasing permeability of the blood-brain barrier through an *in vitro* model with transwells.

Interestingly, we found that although A1 did not increase apoE levels, as measured at the end of the assay (**Fig 2.10**), A1 seemed to slow migration in HP1 and HP3 pericytes in the scratch-wound assay (**Fig. 2.4**, **Fig 2.8**). Whether this is an isoform-dependent effect is unclear, since there is only one sample for each apoE genotype. The decrease in pericyte migration seen with the addition of A1 without an increase in apoE levels suggests that A1 may be decreasing migration through an apoE-independent pathway. A1 is an inhibitor of Ax1, which is an important receptor tyrosine kinase that plays a role in various cellular processes including proliferation, survival and migration²⁸⁴. The role of Ax1 in cellular migration has been delineated in many cancer studies, in which cell migration and metastasis occurs. In studies using colorectal
and cervical cancer cell lines, knockdown of Axl results in decreased migration^{285,286}. Similarly, we see decreased migration in pericytes treated with our A1 compound (**Fig. 2.4**, **Fig 2.8**). Axl activity correlates with migratory phenotype in cells that includes increase in activated (GTP-bound) GTPase proteins Rho and Rac, decrease in epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT)-associated transcription factors, and a decrease in matrix metalloproteinase MMP9 expression²⁸⁷.

Studies in other cell types have shown that apoE mediates cell migration in both directions. For example, extensive studies have shown that apoE inhibits cell migration in smooth muscle cells through binding to LRP1 and subsequent induction of cyclic AMP and protein kinase A²⁸⁸. Interestingly, an isoform-dependent effect was seen as well, similar with apoE-mediated inhibition of pericyte migration, whereby apoE4 is less effective than apoE3 in inhibiting migration²⁸⁸. Another study showed that apoE is required for migration when stimulated with C5a and ATP, which was also found to be isoform-dependent whereby microglia expressing apoE4 or apoE2 were less effective in migrating to the stimuli²⁸⁹. ApoE has also been found to promote cell migration in lung carcinoma²⁹⁰. The curiously dual role for apoE in promoting and inhibiting migration may be due to the different cell types and possibly the different receptors to which it is binding.

In my study, I find that inhibition of the Axl receptor decreased pericyte migration in cells derived from 2 of 3 human donors (**Fig 2.4**, **Fig 2.8**). Whether apoE binds to Axl, and whether there is physiological significance to their binding, has not yet been studied. It is possible that apoE can be a ligand for Axl, since Axl plays a role in cell migration. A recent study that investigates the phenotypic switch from homeostatic microglia to neurodegenerative microglia finds a cluster of genes that are upregulated in neurodegenerative microglia, which includes *APOE* and *AXL* in the same cluster²⁶⁵. This could possibly hint at a transcriptional and

functional link, which may be salient in the dysfunctional microglia phenotype, since the TREM2-APOE pathway drives this phenotype²⁶⁵. Moreover, Axl is a receptor involved in phagocytosis²⁹¹, and apoE has been shown to also mediate phagocytosis²⁹², further supporting the plausible role for their interaction. Since the Axl receptor promotes migration, it is possible that apoE acts as a positive ligand for Axl, and thereby promotes migration as well. If this is true in pericytes, apoE may be mediating migration through the ratio of receptors that promote migration versus receptors that inhibit migration, such as through the ratio or balance of Axl receptors versus LRP1 receptors.

Many studies demonstrate the importance of pericytes at the vasculature^{49,99,103,267}. Pericyte migration away from the vasculature can be thus detrimental, especially in cases in which vascular health is important, such as in AD. For example, in traumatic brain injury (TBI), pericytes detach from the basal lamina and migrate through the extracellular matrix to the site of injury²⁹³. Pericyte death after TBI has also been shown²⁹⁴. In diabetic retinopathy, pericyte migration and death leads to the loss of protection to the endothelial cells in the blood-retinal barrier²⁹⁵, which leads to microaneurysms and changes in vascular permeability in the retina. However, pericyte migration is also beneficial in some cases. For example, pericyte migration is required for angiogenesis during development, specifically in early stages of capillary sprouting where they guide the outgrowth of endothelial cells²⁹⁶. Importantly, during injury, pericytes migrate to the site of the wound and contribute to the various stages of wound healing such as angiogenesis, inflammation, and tissue regeneration²⁹⁷. Thus, targeting pericyte migration specifically in the cerebrovasculature will be an important consideration for the therapeutic development of these compounds.

Chapter 3: ApoE4-associated inflammation in pericytes

3.1 Introduction

Pericytes contribute to the maintenance of blood brain barrier (BBB) integrity, which prevents toxins carried from the blood from entering the brain while still allowing the entry of nutrients and the exit of waste products. Rodent studies show that pericytes maintain a functional BBB^{99,266}. In Alzheimer's Disease (AD), pericyte loss and degeneration are documented in postmortem studies⁴⁶, and are accompanied by abnormal brain capillaries with tortuous vessels and fusiform dilations. Many studies demonstrate vascular changes such as a loss of cerebrovascular and BBB integrity in patients with $AD^{47,48,298}$, which is believed to lead to decreased capillary blood flow, neuronal injury, and impaired A β clearance⁶⁶. According to the "Two Hit Hypothesis", when these vascular changes are combined with increased A β presence, subsequent neuronal injury, cognitive decline and neurodegeneration are observed, which ultimately presents as dementia⁶⁶.

The apoE4 genotype has been known to be associated with increased AD risk^{135,136}. However, the specific mechanisms through which apoE4 contribute to the pathology of AD are unclear. Clinical studies suggest that the apoE4 genotype may accelerate vascular damage and BBB leakage in AD. In one study, advanced AD patients with apoE4 allele were more likely to have plasma proteins within microvessel walls, suggesting BBB leakage ⁴⁷. Similarly, a more recent study found that AD apoE4 carriers were more likely to show extravasation of immunoglobin G and fibrin, as well as pericyte degeneration⁵⁰. Mice expressing human apoE4 show a leaky BBB compared to intact BBB seen in mice expressing human apoE3 or apoE2^{266,299}. A model is suggested by which apoE4 is associated with upregulation of the CypA-NFκB-MMP9 inflammation pathway, leading to secretion of the gelatinase MMP9, and ultimately enzymatic degradation of endothelial tight junctions of the BBB²⁶⁶. Interestingly, human apoE2 and apoE3 are not associated with upregulation of this pathway, pointing towards a genotype-specific inflammation in pericytes²⁶⁶. A recent study in humans lends support to this study, as cognitively normal apoE4 carriers were found to have increased evidence of BBB and increased levels of CypA and active MMP9 in the CSF³⁰⁰. However, further studies in human brain pericytes are necessary to understand the mechanisms by which apoE and other lipoproteins affect pericyte and cerebrovascular function.

We are particularly interested in the role of circulating high density lipoproteins (HDL) since HDL demonstrates vasoprotective functions that are well-characterized in peripheral vessels such as increasing NO production to dilate vessels, repairing damaged endothelial cells and inhibiting apoptosis²¹³, reducing lipid oxidation, and inhibiting thrombotic activation ²¹⁴. More relevantly, HDL has been shown to reduce inflammation in endothelial cells ^{210–212}.

Whether HDL plays an anti-inflammatory role for brain vessels is unknown. Importantly, epidemiological studies correlate HDL levels with Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) and Cognitive Ability Screening Instrument (CASI) scores^{227,301}, and high HDL levels are associated with reduced AD risk²²⁶. Importantly, these vasoprotective functions of HDL are compromised in metabolic conditions such as type II diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease^{213,302,303}, which are also well-established risk factors for AD^{304–306}.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Cell Culture

Primary fetal human brain vascular pericytes were commercially obtained from ScienCell. Three pericyte donors were available, with the following genotypes: Pericyte donor #1 (apoE4/E4);

Pericyte donor #2 (apoE3/E3); and Pericyte donor #3 (apoE3/E4). Cells were maintained in Pericyte Media with 2% FBS and 1% penicillin and streptomycin. Media was changed every 2 – 3 days. Pericytes were utilized up to passage 9. Pericytes were subsequently sub-cultured when reaching 80 - 90% confluency. Pericytes were stimulated with human TNF α (Cedarlane, Cat. #300-01A) at concentrations of 10ng, 30ng and 100ng, as well as with human recombinant apoE4 (Abcam, ab50243) at concentrations of 1.6ug/mL and 8ug/mL for 24 hours in Basal Pericyte Media + 0.2% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA).

3.2.2 Gelatin Zymography

Pericyte conditioned media was collected and separated on a 7.5% acrylamide gel containing 0.1% gelatin. Gels were washed twice for 30 minutes with washing buffer (2.5% Triton X-100, 50nM Tris HCl, 5mM CaCl2, 1uM ZnCl2) at room temperature with agitation. Gels were incubated with incubation buffer (1% Triton X-100, 50nM Tris HCl) for 48 hours at 37°C, stained with staining solution (40% methanol, 10% acetic acid, Coomassie Blue).

3.2.3 mRNA extraction and quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)

Cells were treated with Trizol (Invitrogen) to extract RNA. Nucleic acid levels were quantified using a nanodrop spectrometer at 260nm and nucleic acid purity was measured through absorbance at 230nm and 280nm. RNA was subsequently treated with DNAseI (Invitrogen). TaqMan Reverse Transcriptase Reagents Kit (Life Technologies) was used to reverse transcribe 1ug of RNA into complementary deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA). Real-time quantitative PCR was performed with SYBR Green reagents (Applied Biosystems) with primers against MMP9 (Forward 5'-TTCAGGGAGACGCCCATTTC-3', Reverse: 5'-

AACCGAGTTGGAACCACGAC-3'), CypA (Forward: 5'-GCCGAGGAAAACCGTGTACT-3', Reverse: 5'-GTCTGCAAACAGCTCAAAGGA-3'), and GAPDH (Forward: 5'-CCTGCACCAACTGCTTA-3', Reverse: 5'-CATGAGTCCTTCCACGATACCA-3'). Cycling conditions for MMP9 and CypA are: 95°C for 10 minutes, then 40 cycles at 95°C for 10 seconds, 60°C for 10 seconds and 72°C for 10 seconds, followed by melting at 95°C for 10 seconds, 65°C for 60 seconds, and 97°C for 1 second. Each sample was assayed in duplicate and normalized to GAPDH.

3.2.4 Protein extraction and Immunoblotting

Pericytes were lysed in RIPA buffer containing cOmplete protease inhibitor (Roche Applied Sciences) for 10 minutes and mechanically scraped. Lysed cells were spun at 12000 relative centrifugal force (RCF) for 10 minutes at 4°C. Protein concentrations were determined by a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay (Pierce). Cell lysates were subsequently heat-denatured at 95°C for 5 minutes. Equal amounts of total protein were electrophoresed through 10% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)- polyacrylamide gel (PAGE) before being transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Millipore). Membranes were blocked with 5% skim milk powder in PBST or 5% BSA in TBST for 1 hour and then incubated with antibodies VCAM-1 (EPR5047, ABCAM, 1:200) and ICAM-1 (EPY1442Y, ABCAM, 1:200) in blocking buffer at 4°C overnight. Membranes were washed with PBST or TBST and incubated with secondary antibody anti-rabbit or anti-mouse (1:10,000) for 1 hour. Membranes were washed and developed using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL, Amersham). ChemiDoc MP Imager

(BioRad) was used to image the immunoblots. Densitometric images were captured with ImageJ and band densities were normalized to GAPDH as a loading control.

3.2.5 Immunocytochemistry

Coverslips were coated with poly-D-lysine (Sigma, Cat. #P6407-5MG). Primary human pericytes and primary human astrocytes were cultured on the coverslips for 2 days. Cells were fixed with 4% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS for 15 minutes and washed with 0.5M Tris HCl. Cells were washed 3 times with PBS before being permeabilized with 0.2% Triton X-100 in PBS for 7 minutes. Cells were washed 3 times in PBS and blocked with 5% BSA in PBS for 1 hour in room temperature. Cells were incubated with primary antibody PDGFRβ (Abcam, 1:100) in 1% BSA overnight at 4°C. Cells were washed 3 times in PBS and incubated with Alexa Fluor 594conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary (Molecular Probes, 1:600) in 1% BSA for 1 hour in room temperature. Slides were mounted using DAPI (Invitrogen) and sealed after 30 minutes. Coverslips were imaged with fluorescence microscopy (Zeiss).

3.2.6 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Human apoE was quantified using commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits (MABTech, 3712-1H-6) following manufacturer's instructions.

3.2.7 Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMC) isolation

Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMC) was taken from healthy human donors. Blood was diluted in a 1:1 ratio with 1xPBS and added on top of Ficoll-Hypaque Lymphoprep (StemCell Technologies) in a SepMate Tube (StemCell Technologies). Diluted blood was spun at 1200g for

10 minutes at room temperature. After centrifugation, the bottom layer of erythrocytes and polymorophnuclear cells were discarded. The plasma layer, PBMC layer, and the lymophoprep solution were washed twice with 1xPBS and spun at 800g for 8 minutes. Supernatant was aspirated and the pellet as resuspended in 10mL of 1xPBS. Cells were counted with a hemocytometer and Trypan Blue was used as a viability stain. Cells were suspended in a concentration of 5 x 10^7 cells/mL in 1xPBS.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 MMP9 protein activity or mRNA were not detected in primary human pericytes

A previous study showed that mice expressing human apoE4 had a leaky BBB, which was due to the upregulation of the cyclophilin A (CypA) and increased MMP9 secretion from pericytes²⁶⁶. We thus sought to test the MMP9 upregulation and secretion from primary pericytes of different human donors and with different apoE genotypes. Stimulation of pericytes by TNF α was used as a positive control, since a previous study found that pericytes secrete MMP9 with TNF α stimulation³⁰⁷. Media from HP1 (apoE4/E4) was measured for MMP9 activity with TNF α and apoE4 stimulation in culture media by gelatin zymography (**Fig. 3.1**). However, MMP2 rather than MMP9 activity was observed (**Fig. 3.1**). Lysate from immortalized mouse microglia cell line (BV2 cells) were used as a positive control for MMP9 release as detected by gelatin zymography. MMP9 was also not detected in cells from HP2 (apoE3/E3) and HP3 (apoE3/E4) basally or stimulated with TNF α (10ng, 100ng) as well as apoE4 (**Fig. 3.2**).



Figure 3.1 MMP9 activity was not detected in HP1 pericytes with $TNF\alpha$ or apoE4

stimulation

HP1 (apoE4/apoE4) did not basally secrete MMP9 as measured by gelatin zymography.

Stimulation with TNF α or apoE4 did not induce MMP9 release. BV2 cell lysate was used as

positive control to show MMP2 and MMP9 expression. Data are representative gelatin

zymograms from N = 3 independent trials.



Figure 3.2 MMP9 activity was not detected in HP2 or HP3 pericytes with $TNF\alpha$ or apoE4 stimulation.

HP2 (apoE3/apoE3) and HP3 (apoE3/apoE4) did not secrete MMP9 with TNF α (10ng/mL, 100ng/mL) stimulation or apoE4 (1.6ug/mL) stimulation as measured by gelatin zymography. Data are representative gel zymogram shown N = 3 independent trials.

MMP9 mRNA levels were probed with qRT-PCR. Pericyte MMP9 mRNA levels are near the limit of detection, as seen by high Cq value (>30). Addition of TNFα in various concentrations (10ng/mL, 30ng/mL, 100ng/mL) or apoE4 in various concentrations (1.6ug/mL, 8ug/mL) did not change MMP9 expression in all pericytes (**Fig. 3.3**)





Addition of TNF α (10ng/mL, 30ng/mL, 100ng/mL) or apoE4 (1.6ug/mL, 8ug/mL) did not change MMP9 expression in all pericytes as measured by qPCR. Cq values for MMP9 are all pericyte conditions are >30. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were used as a positive control for MMP9 signal. Data are represented in mean ± SD, with data from N = 2 independent trials.

3.3.2 Cyclophilin A (CypA) mRNA levels are not changed with TNFα stimulation

In the pericyte inflammation pathway delineated by Bell et al., mice expressing apoE4 had higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokine cyclophilin A (CypA), which activates the NF-kB-MMP-9 pathway and causes BBB breakdown²⁶⁶. Since we previously did not see MMP9 expression or release in pericytes from all donors, we wanted to see whether CypA mRNA was upregulated in these pericytes. We wanted to trigger the inflammatory process in pericytes with TNF α to see whether CypA mRNA could be upregulated. We found that addition of TNF α or apoE4 in various concentrations did not change CypA mRNA levels in pericytes from all donors (**Fig. 3.4**).





3.3.3 HP1 shows upregulation of inflammatory markers ICAM and VCAM-1 with TNFα stimulation

Since the pericytes did not upregulate CypA or MMP9 mRNA in response to TNF α stimulation, we then tested whether these pericytes are valid models of inflammation. We stimulated HP1 pericytes with TNF α and probed cellular levels of vascular cellular adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) and intracellular cellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1). Both VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 are adhesion molecules that aid in the trafficking of immune cells across the vessel walls to allow the inflammation cascade to occur. Pericytes are known to express both VCAM-1 and ICAM-1⁹³. We found that both VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 were upregulated with TNF α stimulation, as shown by immunoblotting (**Fig. 3.5**). This suggests that these pericytes still respond to inflammatory stimuli.



Figure 3.5 HP1 pericytes show upregulation of VCAM-1 and ICAM-1 with $TNF\alpha$ stimulation

Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) were upregulated with TNF α stimulation in HP1 pericytes as shown by Western Blot. Data are shown mean \pm SEM, and with representative immunoblots from N = 3 independent trials.

3.3.4 Pericytes were validated for pericyte marker PDGFRB

We lastly wanted to confirm that these commercial pericytes were pericytes, since they did not express CypA or MMP9. We probed their expression of pericyte marker Platelet Derived Growth Factor Receptor Beta (PDGFR β) through immunocytochemistry. We found that pericytes from all three donors express PDGFR β (**Fig. 3.6**).



Figure 3.6 Pericytes from all 3 donors express PDGFRß

Pericytes from all donors were probed for expression of pericyte marker PDGFRβ through immunocytochemistry. Coverslips were counterstained with DAPI. Astrocytes were used as a negative control.

3.4 Discussion

In this study, we aimed to test the anti-inflammatory effects of HDL on apoE4-associated inflammation in human pericytes. However, despite evidence showing that pericyte inflammation occurs in mouse pericytes²⁶⁶, we did not reproduce these results using commercially obtained human primary pericytes. Specifically, we did not observe MMP-9 production (**Fig. 3.1, Fig. 3.2**) as well as mRNA expression (**Fig. 3.3**) in our primary human pericytes. Further, human pericytes also did not upregulate CypA with inflammatory stimuli, suggesting that the CypA-MMP9 inflammatory pathway may be unique to murine pericytes. As the quality control measures by which commercially-obtained pericytes are evaluated are not explicitly stated, we independently validated that these cells are indeed pericytes by confirming their PDGFR β expression, and validated that they could indeed respond to inflammatory stimuli by confirming that TNF- α induced upregulation of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 protein levels.

Several reasons could contribute to the lack of reproducibility of the CypA-MMP9 pathway in our hands. First, and most likely, this could be a difference in species that is contributing to the difference in activation of this inflammation pathway. For example, human and mouse brain pericytes differ in their cytokine and chemokine response to LPS stimulation⁹³. Important species differences exist in vascular cell immunological functions, in terms of their major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules, their co-stimulators, antigen presentation

and T-cell recruitment³⁰⁸. Studies are also conflicting whether gene-expression patterns of mouse models are similar to human inflammatory conditions^{309,310}. It is possible that human pericytes do not activate the CypA-NF κ B-MMP9 pathway that is observed in mouse pericytes. Thus, a species differences may explain why our primary human pericytes do not recapitulate what others have observed in mouse pericytes. Species differences could be tested by comparing human and murine pericytes in head-to-head assays.

Our in vitro culture conditions may also be contributing to the lack of MMP-9 expression and release in our pericytes. For example, there may be important factors with which to culture and grow pericytes in order to induce expression of certain proteins. Many studies using cancer cells find that MMP-9 expression can be upregulated in various cells when co-cultured with tumor and stromal cells^{311–314}. MMP9 release from human pericytes may require additional factors in its environment that allows it to be released, which may not found in our in vitro culture conditions, where our pericytes are grown in isolation and on plastic cell culture dishes. Indeed, cells grown in plastic or glass culture can exhibit altered cell proliferation, differentiation, morphology, and lifespan³¹⁵. In order to mimic *in vivo* conditions, cells can also be grown with extracellular matrix (ECM) components with which they are usually in contact, and this has been shown to improve culture conditions, with cells surviving longer in culture and more differentiated phenotype observed³¹⁵. The components of ECM include proteoglycan and fibrous proteins such as collagen, fibronectin and laminin, which structurally support the cells and facilitates cell-to-cell communication³¹⁶. Moreover, transmembrane proteins that link cells to the ECM such as integrins, are involved in signalling pathways that regulate a variety of cell phenotypes such as proliferation, morphology, survival, adhesion and differentiation³¹⁷. In future studies, pericytes can be grown in culture with ECM components, such as with the use of

Matrigel, which is a gelatinous mixture of proteins derived from mouse tumor cells that is commonly used as a basement membrane matrix³¹⁸. The use of matrix membranes in cell culture has been demonstrated to be conducive to *in vivo* cellular behaviour that is otherwise not observed in traditional cell culture; for example, endothelial cells will form capillary-like structures *in vitro* when grown on top of reconstituted basement membrane extracellular matrix such as Matrigel³¹⁹. It is possible that our pericytes may express the CypA-NFκB-MMP9 inflammation pathway if they were cultured in a more contextual manner with ECM components.

MMPs are also regulated by tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs), which are endogenous inhibitors of MMPs. MMP-9 secretion is tightly regulated this way, such that its endogenous inhibitor TIMP-1 is bound to and inhibits latent MMP-9 before secretion, thereby preventing its function³²⁰. It is possible that our culture conditions allow MMP9 inhibitors to inhibit MMP9 release and thus may not be conducive to its release. Interestingly, though, we did observe the release of MMP-2 in pericytes from all donors (**Fig. 3.1**, **Fig 3.2**, **Fig. 3.3**). Future experiments to test this hypothesis could be to probe the presence of TIMP-1 and other TIMPS, as well as testing their activity.

Mice expressing apoE4 were found to have higher levels of cytokine CypA²⁶⁶. In our study, we asked whether CypA would be upregulated with pro-inflammatory stimuli, but we did not compare CypA levels across pericytes of different genotypes. Future experiments should test whether pericytes with apoE4 (HP1, HP3) show CypA upregulation compared to non-apoE4 pericytes. Moreover, in the model of apoE4-associated pericyte inflammation, NF-kB is upregulated with apoE4 pericytes. We can thus probe whether NF-kB is also upregulated in apoE4 pericytes.

Our failure to observe the upregulation of this pathway led us to hypothesize that the cells we have at hand may not have been pericytes. However, we found that these pericytes can be activated by classic pro-inflammatory stimuli (**Fig. 3.5**), and express the pericyte marker PDGFR β (**Fig 3.6**). It is possible that although these pericytes express classic pericytes markers, they do not express the specific inflammatory pathway we are interested in studying. They are thus unable to address the question we initially posed, and thereby also raise questions about the potential of the murine CypA-NF κ B-MMP9 pathway to be translated to humans.

Chapter 4: The role of HDL in TREM2-mediated functions in macrophages

4.1 Introduction

TREM2 is a cell surface receptor on myeloid cells such as microglia and macrophages. Recent whole-genome sequencing studies find variants in the TREM2 receptor to be associated with AD risk^{250,251}, such as the TREM2 R47H variant, which has an odds ratio of $\sim 2.9 - 4.5$ of developing AD, and decreases age of AD onset by ~ 3 years 250,251 . Animal studies show that TREM2 seems to be important in AD pathology. In one study, TREM2-deficient 5XFAD mice model of AD had increased hippocampal A β burden and increased cortical neuron loss²⁴⁶. Meanwhile, TREM2-overexpressing APPswe/PS1de9 mouse model of AD had decreased AB deposition, neuroinflammation and neuronal and synaptic loss, which was accompanied by improved cognitive function²⁵⁴. However, it is important to note that other studies suggest a detrimental role of TREM2 in AD pathology. For example, in one study using APPPS1-21 mouse model of AD, loss of TREM2 resulted in reduced accumulation of AB and reduced inflammation²⁵⁷. A newer study tried to address this controversial role of TREM2 by looking at the effect of TREM2 deficiency in different stages of disease. The results of the study suggest that TREM2 may be detrimental to amyloid pathology in early stages of the disease while being beneficial in later stages²⁵⁹.

The specific mechanisms through which TREM2 lends its beneficial effects on AD pathology are unclear. Studies suggest that TREM2 may be involved in phagocytosis. One study finds that TREM2 facilitates A β 42 phagocytosis in microglia²⁵⁴, while other studies suggest its role in clearance of apoptotic neurons^{248,321}. TREM2 has also been found to be important for regulating inflammation; loss of TREM2 increased microglia production of pro-inflammatory

cytokines by LPS stimulation^{248,321}. Moreover, TREM2 has also been found to inhibit A β 42triggered pro-inflammatory responses in microglia²⁵⁴. However, much is still unknown about how TREM2 is involved in regulating inflammation and phagocytosis, and which ligands govern these functions.

Various studies suggest that lipoproteins bind to TREM2. Early studies find that apoE, apoA-I, and apoB are TREM2 ligands^{261,262}. Lipoproteins such as HDL and LDL have also been found to interact with TREM2²⁶³. The functional significance of these interactions are unclear, though a recent study found that lipoprotein binding to TREM2 facilitates A β uptake by microglia²⁶⁴. Moreover, apoE seemed to facilitate phagocytosis; apoptotic neurons covered in apoE increased microglial phagocytosis in a TREM2-dependent way²⁶². A new study also finds that the APOE-TREM2 pathway mediates the switch in microglia from a homeostatic phenotype to a neurodegenerative phenotype, suggesting that this pathway regulates microglial functional phenotype²⁶⁵.

Though most studies investigating the role of TREM2 on AD use microglia as a model, we hope to use perivascular macrophages (PVM), which are macrophages located in the perivascular space along the blood vessels. We are using monocyte-derived macrophages to model PVM since they are similar to blood-derived macrophages in terms of their immunophenotype and morphology¹⁰⁹. We are particularly interested in PVM because of their proximity to the vasculature and their ability to promote capillary stability and contribute to BBB integrity^{115,118}. Importantly, PVM are found to remove A β aggregates in the brain through phagocytosis, and aid in the clearance of A β effluxed from the brain parenchyma into the circulation^{119,120}.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell (PBMC) Isolation

Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells (PBMC) were taken from 6 healthy human donors (range 25 - 39, mean 30.67 ± 5.31 , 2 females and 4 males). Blood was diluted in a 1:1 ratio with 1xPBS and added on top of Ficoll-Hypaque Lymphoprep (StemCell Technologies) in a SepMate Tube (StemCell Technologies). Diluted blood was spun at 1200g for 10 minutes at room temperature. After centrifugation, the bottom layer of erythrocytes and polymorophnuclear cells were discarded. The plasma layer, PBMC layer, and the lymophoprep solution were washed twice with 1xPBS and spun at 800g for 8 minutes. Supernatant was aspirated and the pellet as resuspended in 10mL of 1xPBS. Cells were counted with a hemocytometer and Trypan Blue was used as a viability stain. Cells were suspended in a concentration of 5 x 10^7 cells/mL in 1xPBS.

4.2.2 Monocyte enrichment and macrophage differentiation

The EasySep Human Monocyte Enrichment Kit (Cat# 19059, StemCell Technologies) was used to isolate monocytes from PBMCs following manufacturer's instructions. Monocytes were plated at a density of 1 x 10⁶ cells/mL in a 12-well dish with RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% streptomycin and penicillin, and addition of 50ng/mL M-CSF (STEMCELL TECHNOLOGIES). Cells were fed on day 3 and day 6 with M-CSF (50ng/mL) and were used in experiments on day 7.

4.2.3 Phagocytosis assay and flow cytometry

Macrophages were pre-treated with 50ug HDL (Lee biosolution, Cat # 361-10) for 2 hours and then incubated with FITC-A β 42 (Bachem, Cat # M-2585.0500) for 3 hours at 37C in the dark.

Macrophages are harvested by mechanical dissociation as well as dissociation with enzyme-free, PBS-based cell dissociation buffer (Gibco, Cat# 13151014). Cells are suspended in ice-cold FACS buffer (1xPBS, 2% fetal bovine serum (FBS)) in polystyrene round bottom tubes. Cells are washed twice with FACS buffer and spun at 400g for 5 minutes. Cells are stained with primary-conjugated antibodies (anti-human CD14 PECy7, 1:400 dilution, clone 61D3 eBiosciences, Cat 25-0149-42; PE Rat anti-mouse CD11b, 1:200 dilution, clone M1/70, BD Biosciences, Cat #557397; anti-human/mouse TREM2 Alexa Fluor 647 conjugated, 1:100 dilution, clone 237920, R&D systems, Cat # FAB17291R) as well as a Fixable Viability Dye eFluor 506 (1:1000, eBiosciences, Cat 65-0866-14). Tubes are mixed gently and briefly vortexed before incubating for 20 minutes at 4C in the dark. After primary antibody staining, cells are washed twice with FACS buffer and mean fluorescence was analyzed with flow cytometry.

4.2.4 Immunocytochemistry (ICC)

Monocytes were cultured on the coverslips for 7 days with MCSF added on Day 3 and Day 6. On Day 7 when monocytes have differentiated into macrophages, cells incubated with 0.1uM FITC-Aβ42 for 3 hours. Cells were then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS for 15 minutes and washed with 0.5M Tris HCl. Cells were washed 3 times with PBS then blocked with 5% BSA in PBS for 1 hour in room temperature. Cells were incubated with primary antibody Wheat Germ Agglutinin (WGA), Alexa Fluor 488 Conjugate (1:1000, Invitrogen Cat #W11261) in 1% BSA overnight for 10 mins at room temperature. Cells were washed 3 times then mounted on slides with DAPI (Invitrogen) and sealed after 30 minutes. Coverslips were imaged with confocal microscopy (Leica).

4.2.5 Quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR)

Cells were treated with Trizol (Invitrogen) to extract RNA. Nucleic acid levels were quantified using a nanodrop spectrometer at 260nm and nucleic acid purity was measured through absorbance at 230nm and 280nm. RNA was subsequently treated with DNAseI (Invitrogen). TaqMan Reverse Transcriptase Reagents Kit (Life Technologies) was used to reverse transcribe lug of RNA into complementary deoxyribonucleic acid (cDNA). Real-time quantitative PCR was performed with SYBR Green reagents (Applied Biosystems) with primers against IL-1 β (Forward: 5'-AGAAGTACCTGAGCTCGCCA-3', Reverse: 5'-CTGGAAGGAGCACTTCATCTGT-3'), TNF α (Forward: 5'-TGCACTTTGGAGTGATCGGC-3', Reverse: 5'-GCTTGAGGGTTTGCTACAACA-3'), and GAPDH (Forward: 5'-CCTGCACCACCAACTGCTTA-3', Reverse: 5'-CATGAGTCCTTCCACGATACCA-3'). Cycling conditions for IL-1 β and TNF α are: 95°C for 10 minutes, then 40 cycles at 95°C for 10 seconds, 57°C for 10 seconds and 72°C for 10 seconds, followed by melting at 95°C for 10

seconds, 65°C for 60 seconds, and 97°C for 1 second. Each sample was assayed in duplicate and normalized to GAPDH.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Monocyte-derived macrophages are characteristic of macrophages

We first wanted to characterize the macrophages we differentiated from monocytes isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from healthy human donors. Monocytes were isolated from PBMCs with a monocyte enrichment kit and subsequently cultured for 7 days in macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) to allow differentiation into macrophages³²². We used M-CSF as a differentiation factor to avoid differentiating

monocytes into activated macrophages. We observed that the monocytes increased in size and increased adherence to the culture plates over the 7 days (**Fig. 4.1**), which is morphologically characteristic of macrophages. We also used flow cytometry to probe macrophage markers, and observed the presence of CD11b and CD14 in these monocyte-derived macrophages (**Fig. 4.2**). Moreover, we confirmed the presence of the TREM2 receptor in these macrophages (**Fig. 4.2**).



Figure 4.1 Monocyte-derived macrophages were morphologically characteristic of macrophages

Monocytes isolated from PBMCs were cultured with M-CSF for 7 days. Cells increased in size and increased adherence to the culture plates within the 7 days. Cells were imaged with light microscope at Day 1, Day 3, Day 5 and Day 7.



Figure 4.2 Monocyte-derived macrophages stain positive for macrophage markers CD14, CD11b and TREM2

Monocyte-derived macrophages were stained for CD14, CD11b, and TREM2 through flow cytometry. Data are represented as histograms of cell surface molecule expression, while expression levels are shown on log scale. Data are collected from N = 1 independent experiment.

4.3.2 Monocyte-derived macrophages take up FITC-Aβ42

Next, we wanted to test whether these monocyte-derived macrophages take up FITC-A β 42. We incubated the macrophages with different doses of FITC-A β 42 and observed a dose-dependent increase in mean fluorescence with increasing dose of FITC-A β 42, up until 1uM FITC-A β 42 (**Fig. 4.3**). Interestingly, we observed that macrophages take up 5uM FITC-A β 42 less than 1uM FITC-A β 42, possibly due to the increased fibrils that may be forming at a higher concentration of FITC-A β 42 (**Fig. 4.3**). We further confirmed that the FITC-A β 42 is being taken up by the cell by confocal microscopy. Macrophages were cultured on coverslips and stained

with Wheat Germ Agglutinin (WGA), which marks the cell membrane, allowing us to visualize the internalization of the FITC-A β 42. We found that the FITC-A β 42 taken up by the macrophages were localized inside the cell membrane, suggesting that the FITC-A β 42 were not simply adhering to the outside of the cells, but were actually internalized (**Fig. 4.4**).



Figure 4.3 Monocyte-derived macrophages uptake FITC-Aβ42

Monocyte-derived macrophages were incubated for 3 hours with 0uM, 0.1uM, 0.5uM, 1uM and 5uM FITC-A β 42. Fluorescence of cells was quantified with flow cytometry. Data are represented as histograms of fluorescence, while fluorescence levels are shown on log scale.



Figure 4.4 FITC-A β 42 taken up by monocyte-derived macrophages are localized within cells

Monocyte-derived macrophages were incubated with 0.1uM FITC-A β 42 for 3 hours. Coverslips were subsequently stained with Wheat Germ Agglutinin (red) and counterstained with DAPI (blue). Data are collected from N = 1 independent experiment.

4.3.3 HDL has no effect on monocyte-derived macrophage uptake of FITC-Aβ42

A previous study showed that TREM2 facilitates A β phagocytosis in microglia²⁵⁴. We hypothesized that addition of TREM2 ligands would increase its phagocytic capacity, and chose to use HDL because it is a lipidated particle found in tissue. Since 0.1uM FITC-A β 42 was sufficient to shift the mean fluorescence of the monocyte-derived macrophages (**Fig. 4.3**), we used this concentration for subsequent experiments. We found that compared to macrophages in the DMSO condition, macrophages incubated with FITC-A β had a higher mean fluorescence (p < 0.05) as measured by flow cytometry, suggesting uptake of FITC-A β 42 (**Fig. 4.5**). However, HDL pre-treatment did not affect macrophage uptake of FITC-A β 42 (**Fig. 4.5**).



Figure 4.5 HDL pre-treatment of monocyte-derived macrophages has no effect on uptake of FITC-Aβ42

Monocyte-derived macrophages were pre-treated with HDL for 2 hours before incubation with 0.1uM FITC-A β 42 monomers for 3 hours. Log transformed data of mean fluorescence as measured by flow cytometry. p < 0.05 as analyzed by Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparisons test. Data are represented as mean ± SEM, collected from N = 3 independent healthy human donors in N = 4 independent trials. Sex of the donors are: black (M), red (M), blue (F) and purple (F).

4.3.4 Aβ-induced inflammation varies between donors

Since the Jiang et al. study also showed that TREM2 mediated A β -induced inflammation²⁵⁴, we also wanted to test whether HDL pre-treatment would decrease this inflammation in macrophages. We find that different donors respond to A β stimulation as well as HDL pre-treatment differently, in terms of their IL-1 β and TNF α expression (**Fig. 4.6**).



Figure 4.6 Both HDL treatment and A β 42 stimulation of monocyte-derived macrophages showed inconsistent effects amongst donors

Monocyte-derived macrophages were pre-treated with HDL for 2 hours before 1uM monomeric A β 42 stimulation. Macrophages from different healthy human donors do not consistently respond to A β 42 stimulation or HDL pre-treatment in their IL-1 β and TNF α cytokine expression as measured by qRT-PCR. Data are represented as mean ± SEM, collected from N = 5 independent healthy human donors. Sex of each donor are: red (M), orange (F), pink (F), green (M), and blue (M).

4.4 Discussion

In this study, we wanted to test the effects of lipoproteins on TREM2-mediated functions. A previous study showed that TREM2 is involved in A β -mediated phagocytosis and A β -induced inflammation in microglia²⁵⁴. Since studies find that HDL and apoA-I bind to TREM2^{262–264}, we hypothesized that they may be possible ligands for TREM2 and mediate TREM2 functions.

Here, we find that monocyte-derived macrophages are able to take up FITC-Aβ42 (**Fig.**

4.3, Fig. 4.4), suggesting that they may be able to clear A β in the system. However, we found that HDL pre-treatment of these macrophages does not affect its uptake of FITC-A β 42 (Fig. 4.5). Several factors could be contributing to this lack of effect. It is possible that despite evidence showing that HDL binds to TREM2, this binding does not have biological significance. Thus, in our experiments, we see no effect of HDL pre-treatment because there may not be any downstream signalling occurring. Another reason that HDL pre-treatment does not affect TREM2-mediated uptake of A β 42 could be that the TREM2 receptors may be fully occupied by its ligands already (such as apoE), and that addition of HDL would not affect TREM2-mediated functions. Future experiments to test this hypothesis would be increasing the dose of HDL (in a dose-response experiment) to see a possible effect, assuming the high concentrations of HDL can displace the occupying ligand on the TREM2 receptor. Moreover, these experiments only addressed whether A β 42 is taken up in the macrophages, and not whether degradation of A β 42 occurs, which is important in the context of AD. Further experiments can be conducted to test whether degradation occurs, which can be performed by testing the gradual loss of A β 42 protein, as well as probing the activity of degradation enzymes.

We also find that individual human donors vary in their response to HDL pre-treatment as well as their A β -induced inflammation (**Fig. 4.6**). Variability exists between individuals in terms of their monocytes, which may be affecting their characteristics when we differentiate the monocytes into macrophages. For example, individual differences are found in human monocyte activation, whereby monocytes from some individuals are more inflammatory than others^{323,324}. Interestingly, the inflammatory profile of human monocytes was found to be related to altered lipid levels, such that monocytes had an increased inflammatory state for individuals with an

increased cardiovascular risk³²⁴. More specifically, levels of HDL-C are negatively correlated with the production of IL-1 β ,³²⁴. Similarly, in our experiments, there were individual differences in how the monocyte-derived macrophages responded to A β 42 stimulation. Future experiments to test this idea could be to probe whether HDL-C levels in individuals were related to whether their macrophages had a higher inflammatory response to A β stimulation.

In our experiments, we used HDL because of its biological relevance; HDL is lipidated and can be found in tissues. Future experiments can be performed to probe whether other TREM2 ligands such as apoE can affect A β phagocytosis and A β -induced inflammation in these monocyte-derived macrophages. Indeed, studies have shown that apoE may also be involved in mediating inflammation in macrophages; macrophages deficient in apoE have increased inflammatory response compared to normal macrophages in mice^{325,326}. More recently, a study showed that in a mouse macrophage cell line, apoE inhibits LPS-stimulated activation of macrophage, by decreasing release of cytokines TNF α , IL-1 β and IL-6³²⁷. Addition of apoE may thus be able to ameliorate A β -induced inflammation in macrophages.

Lastly, it is possible that the results we see are due to the method by which we decided to differentiate our monocytes into macrophages. Both granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) are strong hematopoetic growth factors for differentiating monocytes to an uncommitted macrophage phenotype. There is debate in the literature of whether using GM-CSF or M-CSF would influence their ability to polarize human monocytes into different macrophage subtypes (M1 versus M2 phenotype). For example, many studies on macrophage polarization has been investigated in mice, wherein mouse GM-CSF pre-orients the macrophage into an M1 phenotype while M-CSF pre-orients the macrophage into an M2 phenotype^{328,329}. This is especially an important consideration because

the polarization of the macrophages affects its phagocytic capacity and inflammatory profile. Classically activated (M1) macrophages are characterized by their higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines while alternatively activated (M2) macrophages have more efficient phagocytic activity¹¹⁷. In our studies, we justified our use of M-CSF to differentiate our monocytes to macrophages in order to have a "non-activated" macrophage phenotype, especially because we stimulated the macrophages with A^β afterwards. If we used GM-CSF to differentiate our monocytes into macrophages, we may have an already activated macrophage and thus subsequent inflammatory stimuli may not further activate the macrophages. However, a recent study investigating human monocyte to macrophage differentiation find that both GM-CSF and M-CSF yielded similar functional phenotypes after M1 and M2 polarization, suggesting the similarity in these two growth factors in differentiating monocytes into uncommitted macrophages³³⁰. In follow-up experiments, we can validate whether our macrophages were more polarized (if at all) towards a more M1 or M2 phenotype by looking at specific markers and also testing their cytokine and chemokine release. It may also be possible that there are individual differences in how monocytes respond to these growth factors, which may affect their ability to differentiate into macrophages as well as their function as mature macrophages. In our experiments, we could have added an additional step of checking macrophage markers for every experiment in which we differentiate macrophages to ensure that the similarity of the macrophages between different donors.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

In this thesis, we aimed to test the beneficial effects of lipoproteins (HDL, apoE) on perivascular cells (pericytes, perivascular macrophages) in the brain. In Chapter 2, we tested whether pharmacologically increasing apoE in pericytes can decrease their migration, thereby protecting the BBB. We found that increasing apoE levels with GW3965 throughout the scratchwound assay was not associated with changes in pericyte migration. Interestingly, we also found that Axl inhibitor A1 slowed pericyte migration in an apoE-independent way. In Chapter 3, we tested whether HDL can attenuate the CypA-NFkB-MMP9 inflammatory pathway associated with apoE4 pericytes. Unfortunately and unexpectedly, we found no evidence that this pathway exists in primary human pericytes and thus could not test our hypothesis. Lastly, in Chapter 4, we tested whether HDL can affect TREM2-mediated functions such as A β phagocytosis and A β induced inflammation in macrophages. We found that HDL does not affect A β phagocytosis in macrophages. Moreover, we found that there were individual differences in how macrophages from different donors respond to A β . Taken together, we failed to show a beneficial effect of lipoproteins on perivascular cell function in the context of AD.

One of the hypotheses in this thesis is that increasing apoE levels would be beneficial in AD. Whether increasing apoE levels or decreasing apoE levels would be beneficial as a therapeutic approach for AD has been robustly debated for the last decade. An early study found that deletion of mouse *APOE* gene dramatically reduced the deposition of fibrillar A β in amyloid model mice¹⁷⁸. Moreover, high concentrations of apoE were found to form co-aggregates with $A\beta^{331}$. Isoform-specific effects were found, in which apoE4 promoted A β aggregation more than apoE3¹⁶⁴. ApoE was also found to increase the level of A β oligomers, with apoE4 > apoE3> apoE2³³². However, it is important to note that there are studies suggesting that apoE inhibits

rather than facilitates $A\beta$ aggregation^{167,333}, which is believed to be because apoE associates with the $A\beta$ nucleus and prevents the $A\beta$ seeding. AD mice expressing only one copy of the *APOE* gene had significantly less $A\beta$ accumulation, plaque deposition, and microgliosis compared to mice with two copies of the same apoE isoforms (both *APOE3* and *APOE4*)³³⁴. Moreover, apoEknockout mice clear $A\beta$ from the brain more efficiently than control mice¹⁸². ApoE thus plays an undeniable role in $A\beta$ accumulation and deposition, though recent studies demonstrate that this may depend on the stage of the disease; it was shown that reducing apoE expression in an AD mouse model prior to plaque deposition decreased $A\beta$ accumulation³³⁵. Moreover, expression of apoE4 during the seeding stage of amyloid development resulted in decreased $A\beta$ clearance and increased $A\beta$ aggregation³³⁶.

Conversely, many studies demonstrate the beneficial effects of increasing apoE. For example, A β degradation may be facilitated by apoE, as observed in astrocytes¹⁷⁶ and microglia¹⁷⁴. Moreover, stimulating the LXR pathway^{337,338} and the retinoid X receptor (RXR) pathway³³⁹ helps A β clearance and restores memory in AD mice. This effect may be due to both increasing apoE levels as well as the lipidation of apoE. Indeed, reduction of amyloid burden by LXR agonist GW3965 depends on the expression of ABCA1 in AD mice³⁴⁰. Increasing lipidated apoE may be a viable therapeutic option for AD. In Chapter 2, we find that an increase in apoE levels did not necessarily affect pericyte migration. It is possible that increasing apoE only in specific cell types yield beneficial results. Moreover, we did not confirm the upregulation of ABCA1 and lipidation of apoE particles by the apoE-modulating drugs in our study – which should be tested in future experiments.

How the different apoE isoforms come into play is unclear; for example, would simply increasing lipidation of apoE particle be beneficial – regardless of the isoform? Would increasing

the lipidation of apoE4 rescue its detrimental effects? Are the lipidated apoE particles beneficial or are the unlipidated apoE particles detrimental? These are questions that would have been interesting to answer with our experimental paradigm in Chapter 2 if we had more donors of each genotype. Importantly, addressing these questions can potentially aid in the development of therapeutics for AD patients of various apoE genotypes. A new study by the Holtzman group found that removing unlipidated, aggregated apoE with antibodies in AD mice expressing human apoE4 reduced A β accumulation³⁴¹. These anti-apoE antibodies may offer important therapeutics to AD patients expressing apoE4.

HDL has many protective effects in the vasculature. Aside from its classical function of collecting lipids from various cells in the body and transporting them to the liver for excretion (reverse cholesterol transport), HDL also demonstrates anti-inflammatory effects for endothelial cells^{210–212}. Recently, it was shown that the anti-inflammatory effects of HDL in the peripheral blood vessels also apply to the endothelial cells in the brain. In this study, HDL pre-treatment of brain endothelial cells suppress A β -induced PBMC adhesion²⁷⁹. HDL can also repair damaged endothelial cells, reduce lipid oxidation and inhibit thrombic activation²¹⁴.

Some clinical studies demonstrate the link between HDL levels and risk of dementia^{226,227}, suggesting that dysfunctional HDL may be contributing to AD, though many studies report no association^{228,229,234–236}. The protective role of HDL in AD has been highlighted in animal studies. For example, the genetic overexpression of human apoA-I and thereby increase of functional HDL prevented the development of cognitive deficits in a mouse model of AD³⁴² while apoA-I deficiency exacerbated cognitive deficits in AD mice³⁴³. However, it is important to note that physiological difference between mice and humans must be taken account when evaluating the translational value of these studies – especially with regards to lipid

metabolism. Importantly, mice lack cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP)³⁴⁴. This protein, which is expressed in humans, shuttles cholesteryl ester from HDL to apoB-containing lipoproteins such as LDL and VLDL³⁴⁵. For this reason, the majority of cholesterol is carried by HDL in mice³⁴⁶. This difference in lipid metabolism between humans and mice may explain why mice are resistant to atherosclerosis³⁴⁷. Because of the pitfalls of using animal models to study vascular diseases, and by extension AD, a disease in which there are important cardiovascular contributions, the use of human cells to study AD offer results that hold more translational value. Recently, it was shown that HDL and apoE facilitates Aβ clearance across a bioengineered vessel composed entirely of human cells¹⁸⁷, suggesting a beneficial role of HDL in AD pathology, lending further support to HDL-directed therapies in clinical trials for AD.

Studies on the effects of HDL on macrophages are few, and conflicting. One study found that HDL exerts anti-inflammatory effects by down-regulating expression of TLR-induced cytokines³⁴⁸, while another study found that HDL exerted pro-inflammatory effects by enhancing TLR-induced signaling and activating the PKC-NF-kB/STAT1-IRF1 inflammatory pathway and increased cytokine expression³⁴⁹. In macrophage-derived foam cells, HDL exerted anti-inflammatory effects³⁵⁰. The difference in HDL preparations (commercial HDL, reconstituted HDL, and native HDL from healthy donors) may be the reason for the different effects. In terms of the effect of HDL on macrophage phagocytosis, one study found that HDL acts as an opsonin to increase bacteria phagocytosis by a monocyte cell line³⁵¹ while another study found that apolipoproteins of HDL (apoHDL) but not HDL increased macrophage phagocytosis of zymosan particles³⁵². In these studies, the notion follows that HDL or apoHDL binds to the bacteria or zymosan and this facilitates uptake by the monocytes and macrophages. In Chapter 4, we found that HDL did not change macrophage uptake of Aβ42. Many studies report the interactions

between HDL and A β 42. Soluble A β 42 is shown to interact with HDL³⁵³, as well as HDL components apoA-I, apoA-II, apoE and apoJ³⁵⁴. The interaction between purified apoA-I and A β peptide has been shown to inhibit fibril formation³⁵⁵. Recently, it was shown that HDL delays A β fibrillization²⁷⁹, which may suggest a role for HDL in mediating the balance between different forms of A β . Thus, in our study, it is possible that A β is binding to HDL, but this binding is not facilitating A β uptake in the macrophages, suggesting that these macrophages do not prefer taking up HDL-bound A β compared to A β itself. Further experiments should be conducted to confirm the interaction of these two species in our experiments, similar to previous studies in which immunoprecipitation and biotinylated A β were used to detect an interaction.

Altogether, we have designed these experiments to explore the role of lipoproteins in AD – to test how apoE contributes to the mechanisms that underlie AD pathogenesis and test the idea that apoE and HDL are beneficial. With our use of human cells, we aimed to bridge the gap between work in animal models and human clinical studies. Ultimately, we wanted to narrow down the specific role of the vasculature in AD, and put forth the notion that apoE and HDL can be potential targets for therapeutics in AD.

Despite mounting pre-clinical evidence that enhancing lipoprotein function is a means for AD therapeutics, the clinical work in this avenue has been sparse and met with difficulties. Much work has been done on studying the therapeutic effects of LXR and RXR agonists. For example, LXR agonist T0901317 and GW3965 improves cognitive functions in mice^{177,340}. RXR agonist bexarotene showed amyloid clearance as well as reversal of cognitive deficits in AD mice³³⁹, though several labs have difficulties replicating the results^{356–359}. However, despite its tolerance in mice, these compounds present challenges for human use because of the negative side effects. LXR agonists induce the transcription of fatty acid synthase (FAS) and sterol regulatory
element-binding protein 1-c (SREBP-1) gene, leading to hypertriglyceremia and hepatic steatosis^{360,361} while RXR agonist bexarotene causes increased CETP activity and subsequently dyslipidemia³⁶², and hypothyroidism³⁶³. Development of non-LXR and RXR agonists that modulate apoE levels may offer therapeutic value without the detrimental side effects. Recently, several compounds have been identified to increase apoE secretion and ABCA1 levels in CNS cells, and do not directly activate the LXR pathway³⁶⁴, which have been used in our studies in Chapter 2. These compounds may offer benefits of increased apoE functionality without the negative side effects of LXR agonists. Further work in developing apoE-modulating compounds should be done in mice models, in which tolerance can be tested.

Other HDL-directed therapies include niacin, which was found to be effective in raising HDL-C levels³⁶⁵, but has no effect on reducing cardiovascular events³⁶⁶. Two CETP inhibitors, torcetrapib and dalcetrapib, were also shown to elevate HDL-C levels but also failed to reduce cardiovascular events^{367,368}. Recently, evacetrapib was evaluated to have no effect on the rates of cardiovascular events³⁶⁹. However, another CETP inhibitor anacetrapib showed more promise, as its use resulted in a lower incidence of coronary events³⁷⁰. Currently, the effects of CETP inhibitors on the brain are unknown, and further work needs to be done to evaluate its effect on modulating AD pathology. Some work has also been done on developing reconstituted or recombinant HDL that can be infused into the circulation to directly elevate HDL levels. An early study on infusing apoA-I Milano, a genetic variant of apoA-I that is associated with reduced cardiovascular disease, showed regression of atherosclerotic plaques³⁷¹. Purified human apoA-I that is reconstituted with soy phosphotidylcholine has also been tested in patients with acute coronary syndrome. This form of reconstituted HDL was found to improve plaque characterization but did not change atheroma volume, which is the proportion of total vessel wall

90

occupied by atherosclerotic plaque³⁷². Studies in AD mice showed that administration of oral apoA-I mimetic peptide improves cognitive function and reduces amyloid burden³⁷³. It was also recently demonstrated that reconstituted HDL decreases soluble brain A β in APP/PS1 mice³⁷⁴.

Moving forward, the role of lipoproteins in preserving cerebrovascular integrity should be further explored in the context of AD. Importantly, further work should be done on the beneficial effects of lipoproteins HDL and apoE on pericytes and perivascular macrophages, since these perivascular cells are important to the integrity and function of the cerebrovasculature. For example, it has been shown that A β 42 induced human pericyte death in culture³⁷⁵. A follow-up study by the same group found that A β -induced degeneration of human brain pericytes depends on the apoE genotype, in which cell death was highest in pericytes with apoE4/E4 genotype, and lowest in pericytes with apoE2/apoE3 genotype³⁷⁶. The addition of apoE was found to protect against the toxicity of A β in a dose-dependent way³⁷⁷. Future experiments can test whether administration of apoE-modulating drugs can rescue the toxic effects of A β on pericytes in culture. Moreover, since A β has been known as an inflammatory agent in various CNS cells^{279,378}, it would be worthwhile to test whether A β can induce an inflammatory response in pericytes, and whether HDL can attenuate this inflammation. Further testing can be done on effects of lipoproteins on other TREM2-mediated functions in macrophages. For example, apoA-I and apoE are found to bind to TREM2 in several in vitro studies^{248,262,264}. Further testing as to whether these lipoproteins play a role in mediating A β phagocytosis and A β -induced inflammation in macrophages can be done. Such work can improve upon our understanding of how lipoproteins can influence cerebrovascular health and ultimately pave way for new therapeutics for AD.

91

5.1 Limitations

One of the limitations of this study is the small sample size. For the pericyte work in Chapters 2 and 3, we had 3 donors of separate genotypes. In Chapter 4, healthy human volunteers are required for blood donation to obtain the monocytes, so donor availability was a limiting factor. This lack of donor availability made it difficult to do technical replicates, since a larger volume of blood donation would be needed. Moreover, the same donors could not donate blood too frequently. Another limitation that comes along with using human donors is both variability between each pericyte donor, as well as between each monocyte donor. This also introduces variability in the results obtained. There are many ways in which the variability of results can be reduced. For the pericyte experiments, for example, pericytes and monocytes were seeded at the same density and grown for the same number of days. Overall, more steps could have been taken to improve the rigor of the experiments and their analysis. Specifically, more work could have been done to decrease variability in the macrophage experiments. For example, checking the purity of the monocyte isolation could have been performed, such that the population of monocytes isolated from PBMCs. Moreover, one well of the plate could have been dedicated to checking the quality of the differentiation from monocytes to macrophages, by probing the appropriate markers for macrophages.

For the limited sample size of pericyte and monocyte donors, it is difficult to draw firm conclusions about the results, and generalize these conclusions to what is actually seen in the population. Moreover, for the macrophage experiments, it is also difficult to draw firm conclusions about results from individual donors, since there is also variability within an individual, depending on the different conditions when comparing experiments. In comparison, the pericyte work yields more consistency in results within a donor, and the data is more robust –

92

especially the pericyte migration experiments, in which an N = 7 replicates were performed, as determined by power calculations. Moreover, the use of the IncuCyte live imaging system reduced variability in results, as the scratch-wounds were performed by a mechanical pin device (as opposed to with a pipette tip) and the analysis of the migration is performed by their software – overall reducing human error.

The macrophage experiments, in contrast, had more variability which was more difficult to control, because of the variable nature of monocytes within an individual at different times and conditions, as well as the variability of monocytes between individuals. Moreover, the monocytes had to undergo differentiation over 7 days into macrophages, which also introduced variability in results. Thus, the experiments with monocyte-derived macrophages yielded the least robust results. For example, when the macrophages were stimulated with $A\beta$, we found that they responded differently depending on the donor. Moreover, HDL pre-treatment response also varied between donors.

Bibliography

- 1. Association, A. 2017 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's Dement.* **13**, 325–373 (2017).
- 2. Park, J. Mortality from Alzheimer's disease in Canada: A multiple-cause-of-death analysis, 2004 to 2011. *Heal. Reports* 27, 17–21 (2016).
- 3. Gauthier, S. *et al.* Mild cognitive impairment. *Lancet (London, England)* **367,** 1262–70 (2006).
- Mitchell, A. J. & Shiri-Feshki, M. Rate of progression of mild cognitive impairment to dementia - Meta-analysis of 41 robust inception cohort studies. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 119, 252–265 (2009).
- 5. Roberts, R. & Knopman, D. S. Classification and epidemiology of MCI. *Clin. Geriatr. Med.* **29**, 1–6 (2013).
- 6. Scahill, R. I., Schott, J. M., Stevens, J. M., Rossor, M. N. & Fox, N. C. Mapping the evolution of regional atrophy in Alzheimer's disease: Unbiased analysis of fluid-registered serial MRI. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **99**, 4703–4707 (2002).
- 7. Lehericy, S. *et al.* Amygdalohippocampal MR volume measurements in the early stages of Alzheimer disease. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* **15**, 929–937 (1994).
- 8. Chan, D. *et al.* Patterns of temporal lobe atrophy in semantic dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* **49**, 433–442 (2001).
- 9. Whitwell, J. L. *et al.* 3D maps from multiple MRI illustrate changing atrophy patterns as subjects progress from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer 's disease. *Brain* **130**, 1777–1786 (2007).
- 10. Rombouts, S. A. *et al.* Functional MR imaging in Alzheimer's disease during memory encoding. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol* **21**, 1869–1875 (2000).
- 11. Machulda, M. *et al.* Comparison of memory fMRI response among Normal, MCI, and Alzheimer's patients. *Neurology* **61**, 500–506 (2003).
- Sperling, R. A., Bates, J. F. & Chua, E. F. fMRI studies of associative encoding in young and elderly controls and mild Alzheimer's disease -- Sperling et al. 74 (1): 44 -- Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & amp; Psychiatry. J. Neurol. 44–50 (2003). at http://jnnp.bmj.com/content/74/1/44.abstract>
- 13. Grady, C. L. *et al.* Evidence from functional neuroimaging of a compensatory prefrontal network in Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurosci.* **23**, 986–93 (2003).
- Solé-Padullés, C. *et al.* Brain structure and function related to cognitive reserve variables in normal aging, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 30, 1114–1124 (2009).
- Farina, N., Rusted, J. & Tabet, N. The effect of exercise interventions on cognitive outcome in Alzheimer's disease: A systematic review. *Int. Psychogeriatrics* 26, 9–18 (2014).
- 16. Aguirre, E., Woods, R. T., Spector, A. & Orrell, M. Cognitive stimulation for dementia: A systematic review of the evidence of effectiveness from randomised controlled trials. *Ageing Res. Rev.* **12**, 253–262 (2013).
- 17. Haass, C., Kaether, C., Thinakaran, G. & Sisodia, S. Trafficking and proteolytic processing of APP. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* **2**, 1–25 (2012).
- 18. Goate, A. et al. Segregation of a Missense Mutation in the Amyloid Precursor Protein ...

Lett. to Nat. 349, 704–706 (1991).

- 19. Jonsson, T. *et al.* A mutation in APP protects against Alzheimer's disease and age-related cognitive decline. *Nature* **488**, 96 (2012).
- 20. Lambert, M. P. *et al.* Diffusible, nonfibrillar ligands derived from A 1-42 are potent central nervous system neurotoxins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **95**, 6448–6453 (1998).
- 21. Terry, R. *et al.* Physical basis of cognitive alterations in Alzheimer's disease: synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. *Ann. Neurol.* **30**, 572–580 (1991).
- 22. Erten-Lyons, D. *et al.* Factors associated with resistance to dementia despite high Alzheimer disease pathology. *Neurology* **72**, 354–360 (2009).
- 23. Gandy, S. *et al.* Days-to-criterion as an indicator of toxicity associated with human Alzheimer amyloid- β oligomers. *Ann Neurol* **68**, 220–230 (2011).
- 24. Lesné, S. *et al.* A specific amyloid-β protein assembly in the brain impairs memory. *Nature* **440**, 352–357 (2006).
- 25. McLean, C. A. *et al.* Soluble pool of AB as a determinant of severity of neurodegeration in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol* 860–866 (1999).
- 26. Citron, M. *et al.* Mutation of the beta-amyloid precursor protein in familial Alzheimer's disease increases beta-protein production. *Nature* **360**, 672–674 (1992).
- 27. Borchelt, D. R. *et al.* Familial Alzheimer's Disease–Linked Presenilin 1 Variants Elevate $A\beta 1-42/1-40$ Ratio In Vitro and In Vivo. *Neuron* **17**, 1005–1013 (1996).
- 28. Mawuenyega, K. G. *et al.* Decreased clearance of CNS amyloid-beta in alzheimer's disease. *Science* (80-.). **330**, 1–4 (2010).
- 29. Leissring, M. A. The ABCs of Ab-cleaving proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 29645–29649 (2008).
- Miners, J. S., Barua, N., Kehoe, P. G., Gill, S. & Love, S. Aβ-Degrading Enzymes: Potential for Treatment of Alzheimer Disease. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 70, 944–959 (2011).
- 31. Yoon, S. S. & Jo, S. A. Mechanisms of amyloid-β peptide clearance: Potential therapeutic targets for Alzheimer's disease. *Biomol. Ther.* **20**, 245–255 (2012).
- 32. Frautschy, S. a *et al.* Microglial response to amyloid plaques in APPsw transgenic mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* **152**, 307–17 (1998).
- 33. Wyss-Coray, T. *et al.* TGF-beta1 promotes microglial amyloid-beta clearance and reduces plaque burden in transgenic mice. *Nat. Med.* **7**, 612–8 (2001).
- 34. Shibata, M. *et al.* Clearance of Alzheimer's amyloid-β1-40 peptide from brain by LDL receptor-related protein-1 at the blood-brain barrier. *J. Clin. Invest.* **106**, 1489–1499 (2000).
- 35. DeMattos, R. B. Brain to Plasma Amyloid-beta Efflux: a Measure of Brain Amyloid Burden in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *Science (80-.).* **295,** 2264–2267 (2002).
- 36. Zlokovic, B. V. Clearing amyloid through the blood-brain barrier. *J. Neurochem.* **89**, 807–811 (2004).
- 37. Storck, S. E. *et al.* Endothelial LRP1 transports amyloid- β 1 42 across the blood-brain barrier. *J. Clin. Invest.* **126**, 1–14 (2015).
- 38. de la Torre, J. C. Vascular risk factor detection and control may prevent Alzheimer's disease. *Ageing Res. Rev.* **9**, 218–225 (2010).
- 39. Kalaria, R. N. Vascular basis for brain degeneration: Faltering controls and risk factors for

dementia. Nutr. Rev. 68, 1–22 (2010).

- 40. Duron, E. & Hanon, O. Vascular risk factors, cognitive decline, and dementia. *Vasc. Health Risk Manag.* **4**, 363–381 (2008).
- 41. Faraco, G. & Iadecola, C. Hypertension: a harbinger of stroke and dementia. *Hypertension* **62**, (2013).
- 42. Vagelatos, N. T. & Eslick, G. D. Type 2 diabetes as a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease: The confounders, interactions, and neuropathology associated with this relationship. *Epidemiol. Rev.* **35**, 152–160 (2013).
- 43. Jellinger, K. A. Prevalence and impact of cerebrovascular lesions in Alzheimer and lewy body diseases. *Neurodegener. Dis.* **7**, 112–115 (2010).
- 44. Shi, J., Perry, G., Smith, M. A. & Friedland, R. P. Vascular abnormalities: the insidious pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* **21**, 357–61 (2000).
- 45. Kudo, T., Imaizumi, K., Tanimukai, H. & Katayama, T. Are cerebrovascular factors involved in Alzheimer 's disease ? *Neurobiol. Aging* **21**, 215–224 (2000).
- 46. Baloyannis, S. J. & Baloyannis, I. S. The vascular factor in Alzheimer's disease: A study in Golgi technique and electron microscopy. *J. Neurol. Sci.* **322**, 117–121 (2012).
- 47. Zipser, B. D. *et al.* Microvascular injury and blood-brain barrier leakage in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* **28**, 977–986 (2007).
- 48. Ryu, J. K. & McLarnon, J. G. A leaky blood-brain barrier, fibrinogen infiltration and microglial reactivity in inflamed Alzheimer's disease brain. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* **13**, 2911–2925 (2009).
- 49. Sengillo, J. *et al.* Deficiency in Mural Vascular Cells coincides with Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption in Alzheimer's Disease. *Brain Pathol.* **23**, 303–310 (2014).
- 50. Halliday, M. R. *et al.* Accelerated pericyte degeneration and blood-brain barrier breakdown in apolipoprotein E4 carriers with Alzheimer's disease. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* **36**, 216–227 (2016).
- 51. Shams, S. *et al.* Cerebral microbleeds: Different prevalence, topography, and risk factors depending on dementia diagnosis-the Karolinska imaging dementia study. *Am. J. Neuroradiol.* **36**, 661–666 (2015).
- 52. Horwood, N. & Davies, D. C. Immunolabelling of hippocampal microvessel glucose transporter protein is reduced in Alzheimer's disease. *Virchows Arch.* **425**, 69–72 (1994).
- 53. Mosconi, L. *et al.* Hippocampal hypometabolism predicts cognitive decline from normal aging. *Neurobiol. Aging* **29**, 676–692 (2008).
- 54. Hanyu, H. *et al.* The progression of cognitive deterioration and regional cerebral blood flow patterns in Alzheimer's disease: A longitudinal SPECT study. *J. Neurol. Sci.* **290**, 96–101 (2010).
- 55. Jagust, W. J., Eberling, J. L., Reed, B. R., Mathis, C. a & Budinger, T. F. Clinical studies of cerebral blood flow in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **826**, 254–262 (1997).
- 56. Kim, S. M. *et al.* Regional cerebral perfusion in patients with Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment: effect of APOE Epsilon4 allele. *Neuroradiology* **55**, 25–34 (2013).
- 57. Bookheimer, S. Y. *et al.* Patterns of Brain Activation in People At Risk for Alzheimer's Disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **343**, 0–6 (2000).
- 58. Ruitenberg, A. *et al.* Cerebral hypoperfusion and clinical onset of dementia: The Rotterdam Study. *Ann. Neurol.* **57**, 789–794 (2005).

- Sheline, Y. I. *et al.* APOE4 Allele Disrupts Resting State fMRI Connectivity in the Absence of Amyloid Plaques or Decreased CSF Aβ42. *J Neurosci* **30**, 17035–17040 (2010).
- 60. Ellis, R. *et al.* Cerebral amyloid angiopathy in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease: the CERAD experience, Part XV. *Neurology* **46**, 1592–1596 (1996).
- 61. Attems, J., Quass, M., Jellinger, K. A. & Lintner, F. Topographical distribution of cerebral amyloid angiopathy and its effect on cognitive decline are influenced by Alzheimer disease pathology. *J. Neurol. Sci.* **257**, 49–55 (2007).
- 62. Yamada, M. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy: emerging concepts. J. stroke 17, 17–30 (2015).
- 63. Iadecola, C. The pathology of vascular dementia. *Neuron* **80**, 844–866 (2013).
- 64. Chui, H. C., Zheng, L., Reed, B. R., Vinters, H. V & Mack, W. J. Vascular risk factors and Alzheimer's disease : are these risk factors for plaques and tangles or for concomitant vascular pathology that increases the likelihood of dementia ? An evidence-based review. *Alzheimers. Res. Ther.* **4**, 1 (2012).
- 65. Mathias, J. L. & Burke, J. Cognitive functioning in Alzheimer's and vascular dementia: a meta-analysis. *Neuropsychology* **23**, 411–423 (2009).
- 66. Zlokovic, B. V. Neurovascular pathways to neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease and other disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **12**, 723–738 (2011).
- 67. Abbott, N. J., Patabendige, A. A. K., Dolman, D. E. M., Yusof, S. R. & Begley, D. J. Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **37**, 13–25 (2010).
- 68. Abbott, N. J., Rönnbäck, L. & Hansson, E. Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the bloodbrain barrier. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **7**, 41–53 (2006).
- 69. Vorbrodt, A. W. & Dobrogowska, D. H. Molecular anatomy of intercellular junctions in brain endothelial and epithelial barriers: Electron microscopist's view. *Brain Res. Rev.* 42, 221–242 (2003).
- 70. Ramanathan, A., Nelson, A. R., Sagare, A. P. & Zlokovic, B. V. Impaired vascularmediated clearance of brain amyloid beta in Alzheimer's disease: The role, regulation and restoration of LRP1. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* **7**, 1–12 (2015).
- 71. Deane, R. *et al.* LRP/amyloid β -peptide interaction mediates differential brain efflux of A β isoforms. *Neuron* **43**, 333–344 (2004).
- 72. Tarasoff-Conway *et al.* Clearance systems in the brain—implications for Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* **11**, 457–470 (2015).
- 73. Zlokovic, B. V, Deane, R., Sagare, A. P., Bell, R. D. & Winkler, E. A. Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1 : a serial clearance homeostatic mechanism controlling Alzheimer's amyloid β-peptide elimination from the brain. *J Neurochem* 115, 1077–1089 (2010).
- 74. Zhao, Z. *et al.* Central role for PICALM in amyloid-B blood-brain barrier transcytosis and clearance. *Nat Neurosci.* **18**, 978–987 (2016).
- 75. Sagare, A. *et al.* Clearance of amyloid-β by circulating lipoprotein receptors. *Nat Med* **13**, 1029–1031 (2007).
- Nelson, A., Sweeney, M., Sagare, A. & Zlokovic, B. Neurovascular Dysfunction and Neurodegeneration in Dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1862, 887–900 (2016).
- 77. Olazarán, J. *et al.* Pattern of and risk factors for brain microbleeds in neurodegenerative dementia. *Am. J. Alzheimers. Dis. Other Demen.* **29**, 263–269 (2014).

- 78. Yates, P. A. *et al.* Incidence of cerebral microbleeds in preclinical Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* **82**, 1266–1273 (2014).
- 79. Mhatre, M. *et al.* Thrombin, a mediator of neurotoxicity and memory impairment. *Neurobiol. Aging* **25**, 783–793 (2004).
- Paul, J., Strickland, S. & Melchor, J. P. Fibrin deposition accelerates neurovascular damage and neuroinflammation in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *J. Exp. Med.* 204, 1999–2008 (2007).
- 81. Chen, Z. L. & Strickland, S. Neuronal death in the hippocampus is promoted by plasmincatalyzed degradation of laminin. *Cell* **91**, 917–925 (1997).
- 82. Donahue, J. E. *et al.* RAGE, LRP-1, and amyloid-beta protein in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* **112**, 405–415 (2006).
- 83. Bell, R. D. *et al.* SRF and myocardin regulate LRP-mediated amyloid-β clearance in brain vascular cells. *Nat Cell Biol* **11**, 143–153 (2009).
- 84. Sagare, A. *et al.* Impaired lipoprotein receptor-mediated peripheral binding of plasma Aβ is an early biomarker for mild cognitive impairment preceding Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* **24**, 25–34 (2011).
- 85. Deane, R. *et al.* A multimodal RAGE-specific inhibitor reduces amyloid beta-mediated brain disorder in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. *J Clin Invest* **122**, 1377–1392 (2012).
- 86. Yan, S. *et al.* RAGE and amyloid-beta peptide neurotoxicity in Alzheimer's Disease. *Nature* **382**, 685–691 (1996).
- 87. Silverberg, G. D. *et al.* Amyloid Deposition and Influx Transporter Expression at the Blood-Brain Barrier Increase in Normal Aging. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* **69**, 98–108 (2009).
- 88. Bergers, G. & Song, S. The role of pericytes in blood-vessel formation and maintenance. *Neuro. Oncol.* **7**, 452–464 (2005).
- 89. Larson, D. M., Carson, M. P. & Haudenschild, C. C. Junctional transfer of small molecules in cultured bovine brain microvascular endothelial cells and pericytes. *Microvasc Res* **34**, 184–199 (1987).
- 90. Kovac, A., Erickson, M. A. & Banks, W. A. Brain microvascular pericytes are immunoactive in culture: Cytokine, chemokine, nitric oxide, and LRP-1 expression in response to lipopolysaccharide. *J. Neuroinflammation* **8**, 139 (2011).
- Matsumoto, J. *et al.* Tumor necrosis factor-α-stimulated brain pericytes possess a unique cytokine and chemokine release profile and enhance microglial activation. *Neurosci. Lett.* 578, 133–138 (2014).
- 92. Balabanov, R., Beaumont, T. & Dore-Duffy, P. Role of central nervous system microvascular pericytes in activation of antigen-primed splenic T-lymphocytes. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 55, 578–587 (1999).
- 93. Navarro, R., Compte, M., Álvarez-Vallina, L. & Sanz, L. Immune regulation by pericytes: Modulating innate and adaptive immunity. *Front. Immunol.* **7**, 1–10 (2016).
- 94. Guijarro-Muñoz, I., Compte, M., Álvarez-Cienfuegos, A., Álvarez-Vallina, L. & Sanz, L. Lipopolysaccharide activates toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-mediated NF-kB signaling pathway and proinflammatory response in human pericytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **289**, 2457–2468 (2014).
- 95. Jansson, D. et al. A role for human brain pericytes in neuroinflammation. J.

Neuroinflammation **11**, 1–20 (2014).

- 96. Shepro, D. & Morel, N. Pericyte physiology. *FASEB J.* 7, 1031–1038 (1993).
- 97. Daneman, R., Zhou, L., Kebede, A. & Barres, B. Pericytes are required for blood-brain barrier integrity during embryogenesis. *Nature* **468**, 562–566 (2010).
- 98. Bell, R. D. *et al.* Pericytes control key neurovascular functions and neuronal phenotype in the adult brain and during brain aging. *Neuron* **68**, 409–427 (2011).
- 99. Armulik, A. et al. Pericytes regulate the blood-brain barrier. Nature 468, 557–561 (2010).
- Wisniewski, H. M., Wegiel, J., Wang, K. C. & Lach, B. Ultrastructural studies of the cells forming amyloid in the cortical vessel wall in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 84, 117–127 (1992).
- 101. Vinters, H. V. *et al.* Microvasculature in brain biopsy specimens from patients with alzheimer's disease: An immunohistochemical and ultrastructural study. *Ultrastruct. Pathol.* **18**, 333–348 (1994).
- 102. Verbeek, M. M. *et al.* Amyloid-B-induced Degeneration of Human Brain Pericytes is Dependent on the APOE Genotype. *Alzheimers Reports* **2**, 31 (1999).
- 103. Sagare, A. P. *et al.* Pericyte loss influences Alzheimer-like neurodegeneration in mice. *Nat. Commun.* **4**, 1–14 (2013).
- 104. Tremblay, M. Ě., Lowery, R. L. & Majewska, A. K. Microglial interactions with synapses are modulated by visual experience. *PLoS Biol.* **8**, (2010).
- 105. Schafer, D. P. *et al.* Microglia Sculpt Postnatal Neural Circuits in an Activity and Complement-Dependent Manner. *Neuron* **74**, 691–705 (2012).
- 106. Hong, S. *et al.* Complement and Microglia Mediate Early Synapse Loss in Alzheimer Mouse Model. *Science* (80-.). **51**, 2075–2102 (2016).
- 107. Goldmann, T. *et al.* Origin, fate and dynamics of macrophages at CNS interfaces. *Nat Immunol.* **17**, 797–805 (2016).
- Faraco, G., Park, L., Anrather, J. & Iadecola, C. Brain perivascular macrophages: characterization and functional roles in health and disease. *J Mol Med* 95, 1143–1152 (2017).
- 109. Guillemin, G. J. & Brew, B. J. Microglia, macrophages, perivascular macrophages and pericytes: a review of function and identification. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* **75**, 388–397 (2004).
- 110. Hickey, W. & Kimura, H. Perivascular Microglial Cells of the CNS are Bone Marrow-Derived and Present Antigen in vivo. *Science (80-.).* **239,** 290–292 (1988).
- 111. Hickey, W. F., Vass, K. & Lassmann, H. Bone marrow-derived elements in the central nervous system: An immunohistochemical and ultrastructural survey of rat chimeras. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology* **51**, 246–256 (1992).
- 112. Bechmann, I. *et al.* Immune surveillance of mouse brain perivascular spaces by bloodborne macrophages. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* **14**, 1651–1658 (2001).
- 113. Kierdorf, K., Katzmarski, N., Haas, C. A. & Prinz, M. Bone Marrow Cell Recruitment to the Brain in the Absence of Irradiation or Parabiosis Bias. *PLoS One* **8**, 1–10 (2013).
- 114. Lampron, A., ElAli, A. & Rivest, S. Innate Immunity in the CNS: Redefining the relationship between the CNS and its Environment. *Neuron* **78**, 214–232 (2013).
- 115. Mendes-Jorge, L. *et al.* Scavenger function of resident autofluorescent perivascular macrophages and their contribution to the maintenance of the blood-retinal barrier. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **50**, 5997–6005 (2009).
- 116. Italiani, P. & Boraschi, D. From monocytes to M1/M2 macrophages: Phenotypical vs.

functional differentiation. Front. Immunol. 5, 1–22 (2014).

- 117. Sica, A. & Mantovani, A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 787–795 (2012).
- 118. He, H. *et al.* Perivascular macrophages limit permeability. *Arter. Thromb Vasc Biol* **36**, 2203–2212 (2016).
- 119. Mato, M. *et al.* Involvement of specific macrophage-lineage cells surrounding arterioles in barrier and scavenger function in brain cortex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **93,** 3269–74 (1996).
- Hawkes, C. a & McLaurin, J. Selective targeting of perivascular macrophages for clearance of beta-amyloid in cerebral amyloid angiopathy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106, 1261–1266 (2009).
- 121. Mildner, A. *et al.* Distinct and Non-Redundant Roles of Microglia and Myeloid Subsets in Mouse Models of Alzheimer's Disease. *J. Neurosci.* **31**, 11159–11171 (2011).
- 122. Mohamed, A. & Posse de Chaves, E. A β Internalization by Neurons and Glia. *Int. J. Alzheimers. Dis.* **2011**, 1–17 (2011).
- 123. Thanopoulou, K., Fragkouli, A., Stylianopoulou, F. & Georgopoulos, S. Scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) regulates perivascular macrophages and modifies amyloid pathology in an Alzheimer mouse model. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **107**, 20816–20821 (2010).
- 124. Tahara, K. *et al.* Role of toll-like receptor signalling in Aβ uptake and clearance. *Brain* **129**, 3006–3019 (2006).
- 125. Song, M. *et al.* TLR4 mutation reduces microglial activation, increases Aβ deposits and exacerbates cognitive deficits in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neuroinflammation* 8, 92 (2011).
- 126. Park, L. *et al.* Brain Perivascular Macrophages Initiate the Neurovascular Dysfunction of Alzheimer Aβ Peptides. *Circ. Res.* **121**, 258–269 (2017).
- 127. Kim, J., Basak, J. & Holtzman, D. The role of lipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron* **63**, 287–303 (2009).
- 128. Mahley, R. W. Apolipoprotein E: cholesterol transport protein with expanding role in cell biology. *Science (80-.).* **240,** 622–30 (1988).
- 129. Mahley, R. W. & Rall, S. C. APOLIPOPROTEIN E: Far More Than a Lipid Transport Protein. *Annu. Rev. Genomics Hum. Genet.* **1**, 507–537 (2000).
- 130. Pitas, R., Boyles, J., Lee, S., Hui, D. & Weisgraber, K. Lipoproteins and their receptors in the central nervous system. *J. Biol. Chem.* **57**, 48–53 (2009).
- 131. Fagan, A. M. *et al.* Unique lipoproteins secreted by primary astrocytes from wild type, apoE (-/-), and human apoE transgenic mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* **274**, 30001–30007 (1999).
- 132. Rall, S. C., Weisgraber, K. H. & Mahley, W. Human Apolipoprotein E: The complete amino acid sequence. *Biol. Chem.* **257**, 4171–4175 (1982).
- 133. Weisgraber, K. H., Rall, S. C. & Mahley, R. W. Human E apoprotein heterogeneity. Cysteine-arginine interchanges in the amino acid sequence of the apo-E isoforms. *J. Biol. Chem.* 256, 9077–9083 (1981).
- 134. Chetty, P. S., Mayne, L., Lund-Katz, S., Englander, S. W. & Phillips, M. C. Helical structure, stability, and dynamics in human apolipoprotein E3 and E4 by hydrogen exchange and mass spectrometry. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **114**, 968–973 (2017).
- 135. Chartier-Harlin, M. C. et al. Apolipoprotein E, epsilon 4 allele as a major risk factor for

sporadic early and late-onset forms of Alzheimer's disease: analysis of the 19q13.2 chromosomal region. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **3**, 569–574 (1994).

- Houlden, H. *et al.* ApoE Genotype Is a Risk Factor in Nonpresenilin Early-Onset Alzheimer 's Disease Families. *Am. J. Med. Genet. (Neuropsychiatric Genet.* 8`1, 117– 121 (1998).
- 137. Yoshizawa, T. *et al.* Dose-dependent association of apolipoprotein E allele epsilon 4 with late-onset, sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* **36**, 656–9 (1994).
- 138. Schmechel, D. E. *et al.* Increased amyloid beta-peptide deposition in cerebral cortex as a consequence of apolipoprotein E genotype in late-onset Alzheimer disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **90**, 9649–9653 (1993).
- 139. Olichney, J. M. *et al.* The apolipoprotein E epsilon 4 allele is associated with increased neuritic plaques and cerebral amyloid angiopathy in Alzheimer's disease and Lewy body variant. *Neurology* **47**, 190–6 (1996).
- 140. Barthel, H. *et al.* Cerebral amyloid-β PET with florbetaben (18F) in patients with Alzheimer's disease and healthy controls: A multicentre phase 2 diagnostic study. *Lancet Neurol.* 10, 424–435 (2011).
- 141. Schuff, N. *et al.* MRI of hippocampal volume loss in early Alzheimers disease in relation to ApoE genotype and biomarkers. *Brain* **132**, 1067–1077 (2009).
- 142. Arendt, T. *et al.* Plastic Neuronal Remodeling Is Impaired in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease Carrying Apolipoprotein J 4 Allele. *Brain* **17**, 516–529 (1997).
- 143. Corder, E. H. *et al.* Protective effect of apolipoprotein E type 2 allele for late onset Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Genet.* **7**, 180–184 (1994).
- 144. Wilson, R. S., Bienias, J. L., Berry-Kravis, E., Evans, D. A. & Bennett, D. A. The apolipoprotein E epsilon 2 allele and decline in episodic memory. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* **73**, 672–7 (2002).
- 145. Chiang, G. C. *et al.* Hippocampal atrophy rates and CSF biomarkers in elderly APOE2 normal subjects. *Neurology* **75**, 1976–1981 (2010).
- 146. Zhao, L. *et al.* Intracerebral adeno-associated virus gene delivery of apolipoprotein E2 markedly reduces brain amyloid pathology in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. *Neurobiol. Aging* 44, 159–172 (2016).
- 147. Namba, Y., Tomonaga, M., Kawasaki, H., Otomo, E. & Ikeda, K. Apolipoprotein E immunoreactivity in cerebral amyloid deposits and neurofibrillary tangles in Alzheimer's disease and kuru plaque amyloid in Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. *Brain Res.* **541**, 163–166 (1991).
- 148. LaDu, M. J. *et al.* Isoform-specific binding of apolipoprotein E to β-amyloid. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 23403–23406 (1994).
- 149. Wisniewski, T., Golabek, A., Matsubara, E., Ghiso, J. & Frangione, B. Apolipoprotein E: Binding to Soluble Alzheimer's β-Amyloid. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 192, 359–365 (1993).
- 150. Strittmatter, W. J. *et al.* Binding of human apolipoprotein E to synthetic amyloid beta peptide: Isoform-specific effects and implications for late-onset Alzheimer disease. *Med. Sci.* **90**, 8098–8102 (1993).
- 151. Rebeck, G. W., Reiter, J. S., Strickland, D. K. & Hyman, B. T. Apolipoprotein E in sporadic Alzheimer's disease: allelic variation and receptor interactions. *Neuron* **11**, 575–80 (1993).

- 152. Benjamin, R. *et al.* Effects of Apolipoprotein E Genotype on Cortical Neuropathology in Senile Dementia of the Lewy Body and Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurodegeneration* **4**, 443–448 (1995).
- 153. Heinonen, O. *et al.* Alzheimer pathology of patients carrying apolipoprotein E epsilon 4 allele. *Neurobiol. Aging* **16**, 505–513 (1995).
- 154. Landen, M., Thorsell, A., Wallin, A. & Blennow, K. The apolipoprotein E allele epsilon 4 does not correlate with the number of senile plaques or neurofibrillary tangles in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* **61**, 352–356 (1996).
- 155. Tiraboschi, P. *et al.* Impact of APOE genotype on neuropathologic and neurochemical markers of Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* **62**, 1977–1983 (2004).
- 156. Sunderland, T. *et al.* Cerebrospinal fluid β-amyloid1-42and tau in control subjects at risk for Alzheimer's disease: The effect of APOE ε4 allele. *Biol. Psychiatry* 56, 670–676 (2004).
- 157. Fagan, A. M. *et al.* Inverse relation between in vivo amyloid imaging load and cerebrospinal fluid Abeta;42in humans. *Ann. Neurol.* **59**, 512–519 (2006).
- 158. Reiman, E. M. *et al.* Fibrillar amyloid-beta burden in cognitively normal people at 3 levels of genetic risk for Alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **106**, 6820–5 (2009).
- 159. Sanan, D. A. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E associates with beta-amyloid peptide of Alzheimer's disease to form novel monofibrils. *J. Clin. Invest.* **94**, 860–869 (1994).
- 160. Aleshkov, S., Abraham, C. R. & Zannis, V. I. Interaction of nascent Apoe2, Apoe3, and Apoe4 isoforms expressed in mammalian cells with amyloid peptide beta (1-40). Relevance to Alzheimer's disease. *Biochemistry* **36**, 10571–10580 (1997).
- 161. Yang, D. S., Smith, J. D., Zhou, Z., Gandy, S. E. & Martins, R. N. Characterization of the binding of amyloid-beta peptide to cell culture-derived native apolipoprotein E2, E3, and E4 isoforms and to isoforms from human plasma. *J. Neurochem.* **68**, 721–725 (1997).
- 162. Tokuda, T. *et al.* Lipidation of apolipoprotein E influences its isoform-specific interaction with Alzheimer's amyloid β peptides. *Biochem. J.* **348**, 359–365 (2000).
- 163. Ma, J., Yee, A., Brewer, B., Das, S. & Potter, H. Amyloid-associated proteins a1-antichymotrypsin and apolipoprotein E promote assembly of Alzheimer's beta-protein into filaments. *Nature* **372**, 92–94 (1994).
- 164. Castano, E. M. *et al.* Fibrillogenesis In Alzheimers Disease Of Amyloid β Peptides and Apolipoprotein E. *Biochem. J.* **306**, 599–604 (1995).
- 165. Wisniewski, T., Castaño, E. M., Golabek, A., Vogel, T. & Frangione, B. Acceleration of Alzheimer's fibril formation by apolipoprotein E in vitro. *Am. J. Pathol.* 145, 1030–5 (1994).
- 166. Beffert, U. & Poirier, J. ApoE associated with lipid has a reduced capacity to inhibit β -amyloid fibril formation. *Neuroreport* **9**, 3321–3323 (1998).
- 167. Wood, S. J., Chan, W. & Wetzel, R. Seeding of aβ fibril formation is inhibited by all three isotypes of apolipoprotein E. *Biochemistry* **35**, 12623–12628 (1996).
- Ye, S. *et al.* Apolipoprotein (apo) E4 enhances amyloid beta peptide production in cultured neuronal cells: ApoE structure as a potential therapeutic target. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 102, 18700–18705 (2005).
- 169. He, X., Cooley, K., Chung, C. H. Y., Dashti, N. & Tang, J. Apolipoprotein Receptor 2 and X11α/β Mediate Apolipoprotein E-Induced Endocytosis of Amyloid-β Precursor Protein

and β-Secretase, Leading to Amyloid-β Production. J. Neurosci. 27, 4052–4060 (2007).

- 170. Biere, a L. *et al.* Co-expression of beta-amyloid precursor protein (betaAPP) and apolipoprotein E in cell culture: analysis of betaAPP processing. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **2**, 177–87 (1995).
- 171. Cedazo-Mínguez, A., Wiehager, B., Winblad, B., Hüttinger, M. & Cowburn, R. F. Effects of apolipoprotein E (apoE) isoforms, β-amyloid (Aβ) and apoE/Aβ complexes on Protein Kinase C-α (PKC-α) translocation and amyloid precursor protein (APP) processing in human SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells and fibroblasts. *Neurochem. Int.* **38**, 615–625 (2001).
- 172. Irizarry, M. C. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E modulates γ-secretase cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein. *J. Neurochem.* **90**, 1132–1143 (2004).
- 173. Beffert, U. *et al.* Beta-amyloid peptides increase the binding and internalization of apolipoprotein E to hippocampal neurons. *J. Neurochem.* **70**, 1458–1466 (1998).
- 174. Cole, G. M. & Ard, M. D. Influence of lipoproteins on microglial degradation of Alzheimer's amyloid beta- protein. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* **50**, 316–324 (2000).
- 175. Nielsen, H. M., Veerhuis, R., Holmqvist, B. & Janciauskiene, S. Binding and uptake of A β 1-42 by primary human astrocytes in vitro. *Glia* **57**, 978–988 (2009).
- 176. Koistinaho, M. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E promotes astrocyte colocalization and degradation of deposited amyloid-β peptides. *Nat. Med.* **10**, 719–726 (2004).
- 177. Jiang, Q. *et al.* ApoE Promotes the Proteolytic Degradation of Aβ. *Neuron* 58, 681–693 (2008).
- 178. Bales, K. R. *et al.* Lack of apolipoprotein E dramatically reduces amyloid β-peptide deposition. *Nat. Genet.* **17**, 263–264 (1997).
- Bales, K. K. R. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E is essential for amyloid deposition in the APP(V717F) transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 96, 15233–15238 (1999).
- 180. Holtzman, D. M. *et al.* Expression of human apolipoprotein E reduces amyloid-B deposition in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* **103**, 15–21 (1999).
- 181. Fagan, A. M. *et al.* Human and murine apoE markedly alters Aβ metabolism before and after plaque formation in a mouse model of Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 9, 305– 318 (2002).
- DeMattos, R. B. *et al.* ApoE and Clusterin Cooperatively Suppress Aβ Levels and Deposition: Evidence that ApoE Regulates Extracellular Aβ Metabolism In Vivo. *Neuron* 41, 193–202 (2004).
- 183. Bell, R. D. *et al.* Transport pathways for clearance of human Alzheimer's amyloid β-peptide and apolipoproteins E and J in the mouse central nervous system Robert. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 27, 909–918 (2007).
- 184. Ito, S., Ohtsuki, S., Kamiie, J., Nezu, Y. & Terasaki, T. Cerebral clearance of human amyloid-β peptide (1-40) across the blood-brain barrier is reduced by self-aggregation and formation of low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1 ligand complexes. J. *Neurochem.* 103, 2482–2490 (2007).
- 185. Deane, R. *et al.* apoE isoform-specific disruption of amyloidβ peptide clearance from mouse brain. *J. Clin. Invest.* **118**, 4002–4013 (2008).
- 186. Castellano, J. M. *et al.* Human apoE isoforms differentially regulate brain amyloid-β peptide clearance. *Sci Transl Med* **3**, (2011).

- 187. Robert, J. *et al.* Clearance of beta-amyloid is facilitated by apolipoprotein E and circulating highdensity lipoproteins in bioengineered human vessels. *Elife* **6**, 1–24 (2017).
- 188. Selkoe, D. Alzheimer's Disease is a Synaptic Failure. *Science (80-.).* **298,** 789–791 (2002).
- 189. Koffie, R. M., Hyman, B. T. & Spires-Jones, T. L. Alzheimer's disease: Synapses gone cold. *Mol. Neurodegener.* **6**, 63 (2011).
- 190. Buttini, M. *et al.* Modulation of Alzheimer-like synaptic and cholinergic deficits in transgenic mice by human apolipoprotein E depends on isoform, aging, and overexpression of amyloid beta peptides but not on plaque formation. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 10539–10548 (2002).
- 191. Chen, Y., Durakoglugil, M. S., Xian, X. & Herz, J. ApoE4 reduces glutamate receptor function and synaptic plasticity by selectively impairing ApoE receptor recycling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **107**, 12011–12016 (2010).
- 192. Wang, C. *et al.* Human apoE4-targeted replacement mice display synaptic deficits in the absence of neuropathology. *Neurobiol. Dis.* **18**, 390–398 (2005).
- 193. Dumanis, S. B. *et al.* ApoE4 Decreases Spine Density and Dendritic Complexity in Cortical Neurons in vivo. *J. Neurosci.* **29**, 15317–15322 (2009).
- 194. Bales, K. R., Du, Y., Holtzman, D., Cordell, B. & Paul, S. M. Neuroinflammation and Alzheimer's disease: critical roles for cytokine/Abeta-induced glial activation, NF-kappaB, and apolipoprotein E. *Neurobiol. Aging* **21**, 427-32–3 (2000).
- 195. LaDu, M. J. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E and apolipoprotein E receptors modulate Aβ-induced glial neuroinflammatory responses. *Neurochem. Int.* **39**, 427–434 (2001).
- 196. Lynch, J. R., Morgan, D., Mance, J., Matthew, W. D. & Laskowitz, D. T. Apolipoprotein E modulates glial activation and the endogenous central nervous system inflammatory response. *J. Neuroimmunol.* **114**, 107–113 (2001).
- 197. Keene, C. D., Cudaback, E., Li, X., Montine, K. S. & Montine, T. J. Apolipoprotein E isoforms and regulation of the innate immune response in brain of patients with Alzheimer's Disease. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **21**, 920–928 (2011).
- 198. Lynch, J. R. *et al.* APOE genotype and an ApoE-mimetic peptide modify the systemic and central nervous system inflammatory response. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 48529–48533 (2003).
- 199. Ringman, J. & Elashoff, D. Plasma signaling proteins in persons at genetic risk for Alzheimer disease: influence of APOE genotype. *Arch. Neurol.* **69**, 757–764 (2012).
- 200. Feingold, K. R. & Grunfeld, C. in *Endotext [Internet]*. (eds. De Groot, L., Chrousos, G. & Dungan, K.) 1–18 (2015). at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK305896/
- 201. Lewis, G. F. & Rader, D. J. New insights into the regulation of HDL metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport. *Circ. Res.* **96**, 1221–1232 (2005).
- 202. Wiesner, P., Leidl, K., Boettcher, A., Schmitz, G. & Liebisch, G. Lipid profiling of FPLCseparated lipoprotein fractions by electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *J. Lipid Res.* **50**, 574–585 (2009).
- 203. Vaisar, T. *et al.* Shotgun proteomics implicates protease inhibition and complement activation in the antiinflammatory properties of HDL. *J. Clin. Invest.* **117**, (2007).
- 204. Lüscher, T. F., Landmesser, U., Von Eckardstein, A. & Fogelman, A. M. High-density lipoprotein: Vascular protective effects, dysfunction, and potential as therapeutic target. *Circ. Res.* **114**, 171–182 (2014).
- 205. Hill, S. & McQueen, M. J. Reverse cholesterol transport--a review of the process and its

clinical implications. Clin. Biochem. 30, 517–525 (1997).

- 206. Yvan-charvet, L., Wang, N. & Tall, A. R. The role of HDL, ABCA1 and ABCG1 transporters in cholesterol efflux and immune responses. *Arter. Thromb Vasc Biol* **30**, 139–143 (2010).
- 207. Ji, Y. *et al.* Scavenger Receptor B1 Promotes High Density Lipoprotein-mediated Cholesterol Efflux. *Biochemistry* 20982–20985 (1997).
- 208. Ji, Y. *et al.* Hepatic scavenger receptor BI promotes rapid clearance of high density lipoprotein free cholesterol and its transport into bile. *J. Biol. Chem.* **274**, 33398–33402 (1999).
- 209. Zhou, H., Li, Z., Silver, D. & Jiang, X. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) expression enhances HDL cholesteryl ester liver delivery, which is independent of scavenger receptor BI, LDL receptor related protein and possibly LDL receptor. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1761, 1482–1488 (2006).
- Calabresi, L. *et al.* Inhibition of VCAM-1 Expression in Endothelial Cells by Reconstituted High Density Lipoproteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 238, 61–65 (1997).
- 211. Dimayuga, P. *et al.* Reconstituted HDL containing human apolipoprotein A-1 reduces VCAM-1 expression and neointima formation following periadventitial cuff-induced carotid injury in apoE null mice. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **264**, 465–8 (1999).
- 212. Cockerill, G. W., Rye, K.-A., Gamble, J. R., Vadas, M. A. & Barter, P. J. High-Density Lipoproteins Inhibit Cytokine-Induced Expression of Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecules. *Arter. Thromb Vasc Biol* 15, 1987–1994 (1995).
- 213. Riwanto, M. *et al.* Altered Activation of Endothelial Anti- and Proapoptotic Pathways by High Density Lipoprotein from Patients with Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation* **127**, 891–904 (2013).
- Riwanto, M. & Landmesser, U. High density lipoproteins and endothelial functions: mechanistic insights and alterations in cardiovascular disease. J. Lipid Res. 54, 3227–3243 (2013).
- 215. Miller, G. J. & Miller, N. E. Plasma-High-Density-Lipoprotein Concentration and Development of Ischæmic Heart-Disease. *Lancet* **305**, 16–19 (1975).
- 216. Gordon, T., Castelli, W. P., Hjortland, M. C., Kannel, W. B. & Dawber, T. R. High density lipoprotein as a protective factor against coronary heart disease. *Am. J. Med.* **62**, 707–714 (1977).
- 217. Gordon, D. J., Knoke, J., Probstfield, J. L., Superko, R. & Tyroler, H. A. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and coronary heart disease in hypercholesterolemic men: the Lipid Research Clinics Coronary Primary Prevention Trial. *Circulation* **74**, 1217–1225 (1986).
- 218. Rubin, E. M., Krauss, R. M., Spangler, E. A., Verstuyft, J. G. & Clift, S. M. Inhibition of early atherogenesis in transgenic mice by human apolipoprotein AI. *Nature* **353**, 265–267 (1991).
- 219. Badimon, J. J., Badimon, L. & Fuster, V. Regression of atherosclerotic lesions by high density lipoprotein plasma fraction in the cholesterol-fed rabbit. *J. Clin. Invest.* **85**, 1234–1241 (1990).
- 220. Voight, B. F. *et al.* Plasma HDL cholesterol and risk of myocardial infarction: A mendelian randomisation study. *Lancet* **380**, 572–580 (2012).
- 221. Holmes, M. V. et al. Mendelian randomization of blood lipids for coronary heart disease.

Eur. Heart J. 36, 539–550 (2015).

- 222. Swerdlow, D. I. *et al.* Selecting instruments for Mendelian randomization in the wake of genome-wide association studies. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* **45**, 1600–1616 (2016).
- 223. Weissglas-Volkov, D. & Pajukanta, P. Genetic causes of high and low serum HDLcholesterol. J. Lipid Res. 51, 2032–2057 (2010).
- 224. Sirtori, C. R. *et al.* Cardiovascular status of carriers of the apolipoprotein A-I Milano mutant: The limone sul garda study. *Circulation* **103**, 1949–1954 (2001).
- Zanoni, P., Khetarpal, S. A., Larach, D. R. & Rader, D. J. Rare variant in scavenger receptor BI raises HDL cholesterol and increases risk of coronary heart disease. *Science* (80-.). 351, 1166–1171 (2016).
- 226. Reitz, C. *et al.* Association of Higher Levels of High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol in Elderly Individuals and Lower Risk of Late-Onset Alzheimer Disease. *Arch Neurol* **67**, 1491–1497 (2010).
- 227. Merched, A., Xia, Y., Visvikis, S., Serot, J. M. & Siest, G. Decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and serum apolipoprotein AI concentrations are highly correlated with the severity of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* **21**, 27–30 (2000).
- 228. Mielke, M. M. *et al.* Serum ceramides increase the risk of Alzheimer disease: The Women's Health and Aging Study II. *Neurology* **79**, 633–641 (2012).
- 229. Gatz, M., Reynolds, C. A., Finkel, D., Pedersen, N. L. & Walters, E. Dementia in Swedish twins: Predicting incident cases. *Behav. Genet.* **40**, 768–775 (2010).
- 230. Ancelin, M.-L. *et al.* Sex differences in the associations between lipid levels and incident dementia. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* **34**, 519–28 (2013).
- 231. Warren, M. W., Hynan, L. S. & Weiner, M. F. Lipids and adipokines as risk factors for Alzheimer's disease. *J. Alzheimers. Dis.* **29**, 151–7 (2012).
- 232. Czapski, G. a, Maruszak, A., Styczyńska, M. & Żekanowski, C. polymorphism and the risk of Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neurobiol Exp* **72**, 397–411 (2012).
- 233. Dias, I. *et al.* Plasma levels of HDL and carotenoids are lower in dementia patients with vascular comorbidities. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* **40**, 388–408 (2014).
- 234. Gupta, V. B. *et al.* Plasma apolipoprotein e and Alzheimer disease risk: The AIBL study of aging. *Neurology* **76**, 1091–1098 (2011).
- 235. Ghebranious, N. *et al.* A pilot study of gene/gene and gene/environment interactions in Alzheimer disease. *Clin. Med. Res.* **9**, 17–25 (2011).
- 236. Ahmed, R. M. *et al.* Systemic metabolism in frontotemporal dementia. *Neurology* **83**, 1812–1818 (2014).
- 237. Koch, M. & Jensen, M. HDL-cholesterol and apolipoproteins in relation to dementia Manja. *Curr. Opin. Lipid* **21**, 76–87 (2016).
- 238. Snyder, H. M. *et al.* Vascular Contributions to Cognitive Impairment and Dementia Including Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimer's Dement.* **11**, 710–717 (2015).
- 239. Ishikawa, T. *et al.* High-density lipoprotein cholesterol efflux capacity as a relevant predictor of atherosclerotic coronary disease. *Atherosclerosis* **242**, 318–322 (2015).
- 240. Rohatgi, A. High-Density Lipoprotein Function Measurement in Human Studies: Focus on Cholesterol Efflux Capacity. *Prog Cardiovasc Dic* **14**, 871–882 (2015).
- 241. Monette, J. S. *et al.* Patients With Coronary Endothelial Dysfunction Have Impaired Cholesterol Efflux Capacity and Reduced HDL Particle Concentration. *Circ. Res.* **119**, 83–90 (2016).

- 242. Daws, M. R. *et al.* Pattern Recognition by TREM-2: Binding of Anionic Ligands. *J. Immunol.* **171**, 594–599 (2003).
- 243. Cannon, J. P., O'Driscoll, M. & Litman, G. W. Specific lipid recognition is a general feature of CD300 and TREM molecules. *Immunogenetics* **64**, 39–47 (2012).
- 244. Colonna, M. & Wang, Y. TREM2 variants: New keys to decipher Alzheimer disease pathogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **17**, 201–207 (2016).
- 245. Peng, Q. *et al.* TREM2- and DAP12-Dependent Activation of PI3K Requires DAP10 and Is Inhibited by SHIP1. *Sci Signal* **3**, ra38 (2010).
- 246. Wang, Y. *et al.* TREM2 lipid sensing sustains microglia response in an Alzheimer's disease model. *Cell* **160**, 1061–1071 (2015).
- 247. Otero, K. *et al.* TREM2 and β-catenin regulate bone homeostasis by controlling the rate of osteoclastogenesis. *J. Immunol.* **188**, 2612–2621 (2012).
- Takahashi, K., Rochford, C. D. P. & Neumann, H. Clearance of apoptotic neurons without inflammation by microglial triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2. *J. Exp. Med.* 201, 647–657 (2005).
- 249. Bouchon, A., Hernández-Munain, C., Cella, M. & Colonna, M. A DAP12-mediated pathway regulates expression of CC chemokine receptor 7 and maturation of human dendritic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **194**, 1111–22 (2001).
- 250. Guerreiro, R. et al. TREM2 variants in AD. 368, 117-127 (2013).
- 251. Jonsson, T. *et al.* Variant of TREM2 Associated with the Risk of Alzheimer's Disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **368**, 107–116 (2013).
- 252. N'Diaye, E. N. *et al.* TREM-2 (triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2) is a phagocytic receptor for bacteria. *J. Cell Biol.* **184,** 215–223 (2009).
- 253. Melchior, B. *et al.* Dual Induction of TREM2 and Tolerance-Related Transcript, Tmem176b, in Amyloid Transgenic Mice: Implications for Vaccine-Based Therapies for Alzheimer's Disease. *ASN Neuro* **2**, AN20100010 (2010).
- 254. Jiang, T. *et al.* Upregulation of TREM2 ameliorates neuropathology and rescues spatial cognitive impairment in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **39**, 2949–2962 (2014).
- 255. Turnbull, I. R. *et al.* Cutting Edge: TREM-2 Attenuates Macrophage Activation. *J. Immunol.* **177**, 3520–3524 (2006).
- Hamerman, J. A. *et al.* Cutting Edge: Inhibition of TLR and FcR Responses in Macrophages by Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells (TREM)-2 and DAP12. *J. Immunol.* 177, 2051–2055 (2006).
- 257. Jay, T. R. *et al.* TREM2 deficiency eliminates TREM2+ inflammatory macrophages and ameliorates pathology in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. *J. Exp. Med.* **212**, 287–295 (2015).
- 258. Ulrich, J. D. *et al.* Altered microglial response to Aβ plaques in APPPS1-21 mice heterozygous for TREM2. *Mol. Neurodegener.* **9**, 1–9 (2014).
- 259. Jay, T. R. *et al.* Disease Progression-Dependent Effects of TREM2 Deficiency in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *J. Neurosci.* **37**, 637–647 (2017).
- 260. Hickman, S. & El Khoury, J. TREM2 and the neuroimmunology of Alzheimer's disease Suzanne. *Biochem Pharmacol* **88**, 495–498 (2014).
- 261. Bailey, C. C., Devaux, L. B. & Farzan, M. The triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 binds apolipoprotein E. *J. Biol. Chem.* **290**, 26033–26042 (2015).

- 262. Atagi, Y. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E Is a Ligand for Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells 2 (TREM2). *J. Biol. Chem.* **290**, 26043–26050 (2015).
- 263. Song, W. *et al.* Alzheimer's disease-associated TREM2 variants exhibit either decreased or increased ligand-dependent activation. *Alzheimer's Dement.* **13**, 381–387 (2017).
- 264. Yeh, F. L., Wang, Y., Tom, I., Gonzalez, L. C. & Sheng, M. TREM2 Binds to Apolipoproteins, Including APOE and CLU/APOJ, and Thereby Facilitates Uptake of Amyloid-Beta by Microglia. *Neuron* **91**, 328–40 (2016).
- 265. Krasemann, S. *et al.* The TREM2-APOE Pathway Drives the Transcriptional Phenotype of Dysfunctional Microglia in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Immunity* **47**, 566–581.e9 (2017).
- 266. Bell, R. D. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E controls cerebrovascular integrity via cyclophilin A. *Nature* **485**, 512–6 (2012).
- 267. Nakazato, R. *et al.* Disruption of Bmal1 impairs blood-brain barrier integrity via pericyte dysfunction. *J. Neurosci.* **37**, 3639–16 (2017).
- 268. Casey, C. S. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E inhibits cerebrovascular pericyte mobility through a RhoA protein-mediated pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* **290**, 14208–14217 (2015).
- 269. Skaper, S. D., Debetto, P. & Giusti, P. The P2X7 purinergic receptor: from physiology to neurological disorders. *FASEB J.* **24**, 337–345 (2010).
- 270. Keystone, E. C., Wang, M. M., Layton, M., Hollis, S. & McInnes, I. B. Clinical evaluation of the efficacy of the P2X7 purinergic receptor antagonist AZD9056 on the signs and symptoms of rheumatoid arthritis in patients with active disease despite treatment with methotrexate or sulphasalazine. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **71**, 1630–1635 (2012).
- 271. Eser, A. *et al.* Safety and Efficacy of an Oral Inhibitor of the Purinergic Receptor P2X7 in Adult Patients with Moderately to Severely Active Crohn's Disease. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 21, 1 (2015).
- 272. Grommes, C., Ave, E., Lee, C. Y. D., Wilkinson, B. L. & Landreth, G. E. Regulation of Microglial Phagocytosis and Inflammatory Gene Expression by Gas6 Acting on the Axl/Mer Family of Tyrosine Kinases. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 3, 130–140 (2013).
- 273. Lemke, G. Biology of the TAM receptors. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **5**, 1–17 (2013).
- 274. Yin, Z. *et al.* Immune hyperreactivity of Aβ plaque-associated microglia in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* **55**, 115–122 (2017).
- 275. Kiddle, S. J. *et al.* Plasma Based Markers of [11C] PiB-PET Brain Amyloid Burden. *PLoS One* **7**, (2012).
- 276. Mattsson, N. *et al.* CSF protein biomarkers predicting longitudinal reduction of CSF βamyloid42 in cognitively healthy elders. *Transl. Psychiatry* **3**, (2013).
- 277. Santos, C. Y. *et al.* Pathophysiologic relationship between Alzheimer's disease, cerebrovascular disease, and cardiovascular risk: A review and synthesis. *Alzheimer's Dement. Diagnosis, Assess. Dis. Monit.* **7**, 69–87 (2017).
- 278. Tariq, S. & Barber, P. A. Dementia risk and prevention by targeting modifiable vascular risk factors. *J. Neurochem.* 1–17 (2017). doi:10.1111/jnc.14132
- 279. Robert, J. *et al.* High-density lipoproteins suppress A β -induced PBMC adhesion to human endothelial cells in bioengineered vessels and in monoculture. *Mol. Neurodegener.* **12**, 1–19 (2017).
- 280. Jonkman, J. E. N. et al. An introduction to the wound healing assay using livecell

microscopy An introduction to the wound healing assay using livecell microscopy. *Cell Adh. Migr.* **8**, 440–451 (2014).

- 281. Mazzone, T., Gump, H., Diller, P. & Getz, G. S. Macrophage free cholesterol content regulates apolipoprotein E synthesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **262**, 11657–11662 (1987).
- 282. Zuckerman, S. H., Evans, G. F. & O'Neal, L. Cytokine regulation of macrophage apo E secretion: opposing effects of GM-CSF and TGF-β. *Atherosclerosis* **96**, 203–214 (1992).
- 283. Kockx, M. *et al.* Apolipoprotein A-I-stimulated apolipoprotein E secretion from human macrophages is independent of cholesterol efflux. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 25966–25977 (2004).
- 284. Gay, C. M., Balaji, K. & Byers, L. A. Giving AXL the axe: Targeting AXL in human malignancy. *Br. J. Cancer* **116**, 415–423 (2017).
- 285. Mudduluru, G., Vajkoczy, P. & Allgayer, H. Myeloid Zinc Finger 1 Induces Migration, Invasion, and In vivo Metastasis through Axl Gene Expression in Solid Cancer. *Mol. Cancer Res.* **8**, 159–169 (2010).
- 286. Uribe, D. J. *et al.* The receptor tyrosine kinase AXL promotes migration and invasion in colorectal cancer. *PLoS One* **12**, 1–16 (2017).
- 287. Koorstra, J. M. *et al.* The Axl receptor tyrosine kinase confers an adverse prognostic influence in pancreatic cancer and represents a new therapeutic target. *Cancer Biol Ther* **8**, 618–626 (2009).
- 288. Hui, D. Y. & Basford, J. E. Distinct signaling mechanisms for apoE inhibition of cell migration and proliferation. *Neurobiol. Aging* **26**, 317–323 (2005).
- 289. Cudaback, E., Li, X., Montine, K. S., Montine, T. J. & Keene, C. D. Apolipoprotein E isoform-dependent microglia migration. *FASEB J.* **25**, 2082–2091 (2011).
- 290. Su, W. P. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E expression promotes lung adenocarcinoma proliferation and migration and as a potential survival marker in lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* **71**, 28–33 (2011).
- 291. Fujimori, T. *et al.* The Axl receptor tyrosine kinase is a discriminator of macrophage function in the inflamed lung. *Mucosal Immunol.* **8**, 1021–1030 (2015).
- 292. Chung, W.-S. *et al.* Novel allele-dependent role for APOE in controlling the rate of synapse pruning by astrocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **113**, 10186–10191 (2016).
- 293. Dore-Duffy, P. *et al.* Pericyte migration from the vascular wall in response to traumatic brain injury. *Microvasc. Res.* **60**, 55–69 (2000).
- 294. Zehendner, C. M. *et al.* Traumatic brain injury results in rapid pericyte loss followed by reactive pericytosis in the cerebral cortex. *Sci. Rep.* **5**, 1–9 (2015).
- 295. Pfister, F. *et al.* A Novel Mechanism of Pericyte Loss in Experimental Diabetic Retinopathy. *Vascular* **57**, 2495–2502 (2008).
- 296. Nehls, V., Denzer, K. & Drenckhahn, D. Pericyte involvement in capillary sprouting during angiogenesis in situ. *Cell Tissue Res.* **270**, 469–474 (1992).
- 297. Thomas, H. M., Cowin, A. J. & Mills, S. J. The importance of pericytes in healing: Wounds and other pathologies. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **18**, (2017).
- 298. Goos, J. D. C. *et al.* Patients with alzheimer disease with multiple microbleeds: Relation with cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers and cognition. *Stroke* **40**, 3455–3460 (2009).
- 299. Alata, W., Ye, Y., St-Amour, I., Vandal, M. & Calon, F. Human apolipoprotein Ε ε4 expression impairs cerebral vascularization and blood–brain barrier function in mice. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* **35**, 86–94 (2015).

- 300. Halliday, M. *et al.* Relationship Between Cyclophilin A Levels and Matrix Metalloproteinase 9 Activity in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Cognitively Normal Apolipoprotein E4 Carriers and Blood-Brain Barrier Breakdown. *JAMA Neurol.* 70, 1198–1200 (2013).
- 301. Shih, Y., Tsai, K., Lee, C., Shiesh, S. & Chen, W. Apolipoprotein C-III is an Amyloid-β-Binding Protein and an Early Marker for Alzheimer's Disease. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 41, 855–865 (2014).
- 302. Besler, C. *et al.* Mechanisms underlying adverse effects os HDL on eNOS-activating pathways in patients with coronary artery disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* **121**, 2693–2708 (2011).
- 303. Sorrentino, S. A. *et al.* Endothelial-Vasoprotective Effects of High-Density Lipoprotein Are Impaired in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus but Are Improved After Extended-Release Niacin Therapy. *Circulation* **121**, 110–122 (2009).
- 304. Akomolafe, A., Beiser, A., Meigs, J. B., Au, R. & Green, R. C. Diabetes mellitus and risk of developing Alzheimer disease. *Arch Neurol* **63**, 1551–1555 (2006).
- 305. Kukull, W. A. *et al.* Dementia and Alzheimer Disease Incidence. *Arch. Neurol.* **59**, 1737 (2002).
- 306. Ng, J. B., Turek, M. & Hakim, A. M. Heart disease as a risk factor for dementia. *Clin. Epidemiol.* **5**, 135–145 (2013).
- 307. Takata, F. *et al.* Brain pericytes among cells constituting the blood-brain barrier are highly sensitive to tumor necrosis factor- α , releasing matrix metalloproteinase-9 and migrating in vitro. *J. Neuroinflammation* **8**, 106 (2011).
- 308. Pober, J. S. & Tellides, G. Participation of blood vessel cells in human adaptive immune responses. *Trends Immunol.* **33**, 49–57 (2012).
- 309. Seok, J. *et al.* Genomic responses in mouse models poorly mimic human inflammatory diseases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **110**, 3507–3512 (2013).
- 310. Takao, K. & Miyakawa, T. Genomic responses in mouse models greatly mimic human inflammatory diseases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **112**, 1167–1172 (2015).
- Swallow, C. J., Murray, M. P. & Guillem, J. G. Metastatic colorectal cancer cells induce matrix metalloproteinase release by human monocytes. *Clin Exp Metastasis* 14, 3–11 (1996).
- 312. Borchers, a H. *et al.* Fibroblast-directed expression and localization of 92-kDa type IV collagenase along the tumor-stroma interface in an in vitro three-dimensional model of human squamous cell carcinoma. *Mol. Carcinog.* **19**, 258–66 (1997).
- 313. Aoudjit, F., Estève, P. O., Desrosiers, M., Potworowski, E. F. & St-Pierre, Y. Gelatinase B (MMP-9) production and expression by stromal cells in the normal and adult thymus and experimental thymic lymphoma. *Int. J. Cancer* **71**, 71–78 (1997).
- 314. Himelstein, B. P., Lee, E. J., Sato, H., Seiki, M. & Muschel, R. J. Tumor cell contact mediated transcriptional activation of the fibroblast matrix metalloproteinase-9 gene: Involvement of multiple transcription factors including Ets and an alternating purine-pyrimidine repeat. *Clin. Exp. Metastasis* **16**, 169–177 (1998).
- 315. Kleinman, H. K., Luckenbill-Edds, L., Cannon, F. W. & Sephel, G. C. Use of extracellular matrix components for cell culture. *Anal. Biochem.* **166**, 1–13 (1987).
- 316. Rozario, T. & Desimone, D. W. The Extracellular Matrix In Development and Morphogenesis: A Dynamic View. *Dev Biol* **341**, 126–140 (2010).
- 317. Anderson, L. R., Owens, T. W. & Naylor, M. J. Structural and mechanical functions of

integrins. Biophys. Rev. 6, 203-213 (2014).

- 318. Hughes, C. S., Postovit, L. M. & Lajoie, G. A. Matrigel: a complex protein mixture required for optimal growth of cell culture. *Proteomics* **10**, 1886–1890 (2010).
- 319. Arnaoutova, I., George, J., Kleinman, H. K. & Benton, G. The endothelial cell tube formation assay on basement membrane turns 20: State of the science and the art. *Angiogenesis* **12**, 267–274 (2009).
- 320. Roderfeld, M. *et al.* Latent MMP-9 is bound to TIMP-1 before secretion. *Biol. Chem.* **388**, 1227–1234 (2007).
- 321. Hsieh, C. *et al.* A role for TREM2 ligands in the phagocytosis of apoptotic neuronal cells by microglia. *J Neurochem* **109**, 1144–1156 (2009).
- 322. Shima, M. *et al.* Macrophage-colony-stimulating factor regulates expression of the integrins alpha 4 beta 1 and alpha 5 beta 1 by murine bone marrow macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **92**, 5179–83 (1995).
- Orekhov, A. N., Nikiforov, N. G., Elizova, N. V., Ivanova, E. A. & Makeev, V. J. Phenomenon of individual difference in human monocyte activation. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 99, 151–154 (2015).
- 324. Patel, V. K., Williams, H., Li, S. C. H., Fletcher, J. P. & Medbury, H. J. Monocyte inflammatory profile is specific for individuals and associated with altered blood lipid levels. *Atherosclerosis* **263**, 15–23 (2017).
- 325. Ali, K., Middleton, M., Puré, E. & Rader, D. J. Apolipoprotein E suppresses the type I inflammatory response in vivo. *Circ. Res.* **97**, 922–927 (2005).
- 326. Tsoi, L. M., Wong, K. Y., Liu, Y. M. & Ho, Y. Y. Apoprotein E isoform-dependent expression and secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF-α and IL-6 in macrophages. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 460, 33–40 (2007).
- 327. Zhu, Y., Kodvawala, A. & Hui, D. Y. Apolipoprotein E Inhibits Toll-like Receptor (TLR)-3 and TLR-4 Mediated Macrophage Activation through Distinct Mechanisms. *Biochem J.* **428**, 47–54 (2011).
- 328. Fleetwood, A. J., Lawrence, T., Hamilton, J. A. & Cook, A. D. Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor (CSF) and Macrophage CSF-Dependent Macrophage Phenotypes Display Differences in Cytokine Profiles and Transcription Factor Activities: Implications for CSF Blockade in Inflammation. *J. Immunol.* **178**, 5245–5252 (2007).
- 329. Fleetwood, A. J., Dinh, H., Cook, A. D., Hertzog, P. J. & Hamilton, J. A. GM-CSF- and M-CSF-dependent macrophage phenotypes display differential dependence on Type I interferon signaling. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 86, 411–421 (2009).
- 330. Tarique, A. A. *et al.* Phenotypic,functional,and plasticity features of classical and alternatively activated human macrophages. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **53**, 676–688 (2015).
- 331. Chan, W., Fornwald, J., Brawner, M. & Wetzel, R. Native complex formation between apolipoprotein E isoforms and the Alzheimer's disease peptide Aβ. *Biochemistry* 35, 7123–7130 (1996).
- Hashimoto, T. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E, especially apolipoprotein E4, increases the oligomerization of amyloid β peptide Public Access. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 15181–15192 (2012).
- 333. Naiki, H., Gejyo, F. & Nakakuki, K. Concentration-dependent inhibitory effects of apolipoprotein E on Alzheimer's β-amyloid fibril formation in vitro. *Biochemistry* **36**,

6243–6250 (1997).

- 334. Kim, J. *et al.* Haploinsufficiency of Human APOE Reduces Amyloid Deposition in a Mouse Model of Amyloid- Amyloidosis. *J. Neurosci.* **31**, 18007–18012 (2011).
- 335. Huynh, T. P. V. *et al.* Age-Dependent Effects of apoE Reduction Using Antisense Oligonucleotides in a Model of β-amyloidosis. *Neuron* **96**, 1013–1023.e4 (2017).
- 336. Liu, C. C. *et al.* ApoE4 Accelerates Early Seeding of Amyloid Pathology. *Neuron* **96**, 1024–1032.e3 (2017).
- 337. Riddell, D. R. *et al.* The LXR agonist TO901317 selectively lowers hippocampal Aβ42 and improves memory in the Tg2576 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 34, 621–628 (2007).
- 338. Vanmierlo, T. *et al.* Liver X receptor activation restores memory in aged AD mice without reducing amyloid. *Neurobiol. Aging* **32**, 1262–1272 (2011).
- 339. Cramer, P. E. *et al.* ApoE-Directed Therapeutics Rapidly Clear β-Amyloid and Reverse Deficits in AD Mouse Models. *Science* (80-.). **335**, 1503–1506 (2012).
- 340. Donkin, J. J. *et al.* ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 mediates the beneficial effects of the liver X receptor agonist GW3965 on object recognition memory and amyloid burden in amyloid precursor protein/presenilin 1 mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 34144–34154 (2010).
- 341. Liao, F. *et al.* Targeting of nonlipidated, aggregated apoE with antibodies inhibits amyloid accumulation. *J. Clin. Invest.* (2018). doi:10.1172/JCI96429
- 342. Lewis, T. L. *et al.* Overexpression of human apolipoprotein A-I preserves cognitive function and attenuates neuroinflammation and cerebral amyloid angiopathy in a mouse model of alzheimer disease. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 36958–36968 (2010).
- 343. Lefterov, I. *et al.* Apolipoprotein A-I deficiency increases cerebral amyloid angiopathy and cognitive deficits in APP/PS1??E9 mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* **285**, 36945–36957 (2010).
- 344. Hogarth, C. A., Roy, A. & Ebert, D. L. Genomic evidence for the absence of a functional cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene in mice and rats. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B* **135**, 219–229 (2003).
- 345. Guyard-Dangremont, V., Desrumaux, C., Gambert, P., Lallemant, C. & Lagrost, L. Phospholipid and cholesteryl ester transfer activities in plasma from 14 vertebrate species. Relation to atherogenesis susceptibility. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. - B Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 120, 517–525 (1998).
- Camus, M., Chapman, M. J., Forgez, P. & Laplaud, P. M. Distribution and characterization of the serum lipoproteins and apoproteins in the mouse, Mus musculus. J. *Lipid Res.* 24, 1210–1228 (1983).
- 347. Getz, G. S. & Reardon, C. a. Animal Models of atherosclerosis. *Arter. Thromb Vasc Biol* **32**, 1104–1115 (2012).
- 348. Nardo, D. De *et al.* High density lipoprotein mediates anti-inflammatory transcriptional reprogramming of macrophages via the transcriptional repressor ATF3. *Nat. Immunol.* **15**, 152–160 (2014).
- 349. van der Vorst, E. P. C. *et al.* High-Density Lipoproteins Exert Pro-inflammatory Effects on Macrophages via Passive Cholesterol Depletion and PKC-NF-κB/STAT1-IRF1 Signaling. *Cell Metab.* 25, 197–207 (2017).
- 350. Suzuki, M. *et al.* HDL suppresses the type I interferon response, a family of potent antiviral immunoregulators, in macrophages challenged with lipopolysaccharide. *Circulation* **122**, 1919–1927 (2011).

- 351. Liu, L. *et al.* High-density lipoprotein acts as an opsonin to enhance phagocytosis of group A streptococcus by U937 cells. *Microbiol. Immunol.* **59**, 419–425 (2015).
- 352. Carvalho, M. D. T. *et al.* Zymosan phagocytosis by mouse peritoneal macrophages is increased by apoHDL-and not by intact HDL-covered particles. *Brazilian J. Med. Biol. Res.* **33**, 313–316 (2000).
- 353. Koudinov, A., Matsubara, E., Frangione, B. & Ghiso, J. The Soluble Form of Alzheimers Amyloid-Beta Protein Is Complexed To High Density Lipoprotein 3 and Very High Density Lipoprotein in Normal Human Plasma. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **205**, 1164–1171 (1994).
- 354. Koudinov, A. R., Berezov, T. T., Kumar, A. & Koudinova, N. V. Alzheimer's amyloid beta interaction with normal human plasma high density lipoprotein: association with apolipoprotein and lipids. *Clin. Chim. Acta.* **270**, 75–84 (1998).
- 355. Koldamova, R. P., Lefterov, I. M., Lefterova, M. I. & Lazo, J. S. Apolipoprotein A-I directly interacts with amyloid precursor protein and inhibits Aβ aggregation and toxicity. *Biochemistry* 40, 3553–3560 (2001).
- 356. Fitz, N., Cornican, A., Lefterov, I. & Koldamova, R. Comment on: ApoE-directed therapeutics rapidly clear β- amyloid and reverse deficits in AD mouse models Nicholas. *Science (80-.).* **340,** 924–92c (2013).
- 357. Price, A. *et al.* Comment on 'ApoE-Directed Therapeutics Rapidly Clear b-Amyloid and Reverse Deficits in AD Mouse Models'. *Science (80-.).* **342,** 924 (2013).
- 358. Tesseur, I. *et al.* Comment on 'ApoE-Directed Therapeutics Rapidly Clear b-Amyloid and Reverse Deficits in AD Mouse Models'. *Science (80-.).* **340,** 924,e (2013).
- 359. Veeraraghavalu, K. *et al.* Comment on 'ApoE-Directed Therapeutics Rapidly Clear b-Amyloid and Reverse Deficits in AD Mouse Models'. *Science* (80-.). **340**, 924,f (2013).
- 360. Repa, J. J. *et al.* Regulation of mouse sterol regulatory by oxysterol receptors, LXRα and LXRβ. *Genes Dev.* **14**, 2819–2830 (2000).
- 361. Grefhorst, A. *et al.* Stimulation of lipogenesis by pharmacological activation of the liver X receptor leads to production of large, triglyceride-rich very low density lipoprotein particles. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**, 34182–34190 (2002).
- 362. De Weij Vries-Van Der Weij, J. *et al.* Bexarotene induces dyslipidemia by increased very low-density lipoprotein production and cholesteryl ester transfer protein-mediated reduction of high- density lipoprotein. *Endocrinology* **150**, 2368–2375 (2009).
- 363. Torino, F. *et al.* Thyroid Dysfunction as an Unintended Side Effect of Anticancer Drugs. *Thyroid* **23**, 1345–1366 (2013).
- 364. Fan, J. *et al.* Small molecule inducers of ABCA1 and apoE that act through indirect activation of the LXR pathway Jianjia. *J. Lipid Res.* 1–39 (2018).
- 365. Carlson, L. A. Nicotinic acid: The broad-spectrum lipid drug. A 50th anniversary review. *J. Intern. Med.* **258**, 94–114 (2005).
- 366. Haynes, R. *et al.* HPS2-THRIVE randomized placebo-controlled trial in 25 673 high-risk patients of ER niacin/laropiprant: Trial design, pre-specified muscle and liver outcomes, and reasons for stopping study treatment. *Eur. Heart J.* **34**, 1279–1291 (2013).
- 367. Barter, P. *et al.* Effects of Torcetrapib in Patients at High Risk for Coronary Events. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **357**, 2109–2122 (2007).
- 368. Schwartz, G. G. *et al.* Effects of Dalcetrapib in Patients with a Recent Acute Coronary Syndrome. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **367**, 2089–2099 (2012).

- 369. Lincoff, A. M. *et al.* Evacetrapib and Cardiovascular Outcomes in High-Risk Vascular Disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **376**, 1933–1942 (2017).
- 370. Chen, F. *et al.* Effects of Anacetrapib in Patients with Atherosclerotic Vascular Disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* NEJMoa1706444 (2017). doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1706444
- Nissen, S. *et al.* Effect of Recombinant ApoA-I Milano on Coronary Atherosclerosis in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *JAMA* 290, 2292–300 (2003).
- 372. Tardif, J.-C. *et al.* Effects of Reconstituted High-Density Lipoprotein Infusions on Coronary Atherosclerosis: A Randomized Controlled Trial</SUBTITLE>. *JAMA* 297, 1675 (2007).
- Handattu, S. P. *et al.* Oral apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptide improves cognitive function and reduces amyloid burden in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 34, 525–534 (2009).
- 374. Robert, J. *et al.* Reconstituted high-density lipoproteins acutely reduce soluble brain Aβ levels in symptomatic APP/PS1 mice. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1862, 1027–1036 (2016).
- Verbeek, M. M., De Waal, R. M. W., Schipper, J. J. & Van Nostrand, W. E. Rapid Degeneration of Cultured Human Brain Pericytes by Amyloid β Protein. *J. Neurochem.* 68, 1135–1141 (1997).
- 376. Verbeek, M. M. *et al.* Aβ -Induced Degeneration of Human Brain Pericytes is Dependent on the APOE Genotype. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **903**, 187–199 (2000).
- 377. Wilhelmus, M. *et al.* Apolipoprotein E Genotype Regulates Amyloid- Cytotoxicity. *J. Neurosci.* **25**, 3621–3627 (2005).
- 378. Murgas, P., Godoy, B. & Von Bernhardi, R. Aβ potentiates inflammatory activation of glial cells induced by scavenger receptor ligands and inflammatory mediators in culture. *Neurotox. Res.* 22, 69–78 (2012).